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THE HISTORY OF THE MACLEODS.
[BY THE EDITOR.]

ToO write the hietory of one of our leading Highland clans is a
more arduous task than most readers of the Celtic Magazine are
likely %o realise, but the reception accorded to the histories of the
Mackenzies, of the Macdonalds, and of the Camerons, written and
published by us during the last six years, and the valuable aid
extended to us by members of these families, and by those
possessing information concerning the clans whose histories have
already appeared, have emboldened us to begin a history of the
ancient family of Macleod, in the full expectation and confidence
that similar aid will be extended to us in our present task. We
would, however, call attention to the fact that in a few instances,
parties interested have not supplied us, until it was too late,
with genealogical and other interesting family information which
it was impossible to obtain from other sources, and it may be
well to warn those interested in the history and genealogies of the
Clan Macleod and its connexions against similar oversight, so that
they may not, when the work is completed, have to complain,
as some Mackenzies, Macdonalds, and Camerons have done,
that their names or families have been overlooked and left out of
the genealogical portion of the histories of their respective clans.

Having said so much, to obviate disappointment later on, and
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respectfully asking the aid of everyone who is able to give any
information—historical or genealogical—which will help us to
produce a work worthy of this ancient clan, we proceed to discuss
the various views as to the origin of the family and name.

It is not intended to give here a consecutive, complete history,
but, first, as in the case of the other families already named, such
an account as may prove interesting to the general reader, and at
the same time enable us to procure additional information from
the various sources, which, as on previous occasions, are sure to
be opened up, or placed within our reach as we proceed.

ORIGIN OF THE CLAN.

The generally received theory in the case of the Macleods, as
in that of most of the other Highland clans, is that they are of
foreign origin—descended from the early Norwegian kings of the
Isle of Man. This descent, said to have based on the Chronicle
of Man, was universally acknowledged, until Skene, in his
Highlanders of Scotland, declared against it, stating that,
though few origins have been more strenuously supported than
the alleged Norwegian origin of the Macleods, there is “not the
vestige of authority” for it. The Chronicle of Man, which has
been so repeatedly quoted by various genealogists in support of
the assertion that the Macleods are descended from the Nor-
wegian Kings of Man, is absolutely silent on the point, and no
evidence whatever is available from that source, though quoted so
often as an authority on the subject. Skene says that “it isa
singular circumstance that that record is nevertheless destitute of
the slightest hint of any such origin, or even of any passage which
could be assumed as a ground for such an idea.” And he further
says, that the tradition of Norwegian descent does not “appear to
be very old, for in a manuscript genealogy of the Macleods,
written in the latter part of the sixteenth century, there is not a
trace of such a descent,” but, on the contrary, he maintains, they
are deduced from one common ancestor with the Campbells, and
“were certainly a part of the ancient inhabitants of the earldom
of Garmoran.”* Leod, the eponymus of the Clan, we are told,

* Highlanders of Scotland, Vo, 1L., p. 273.
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cannot be placed earlier than the middle of the thirteenth century. *
Having so far given the opinion of the learned and high authority,
Dr. Skene, we shall now state at length the Norwegian origin,
claimed by the family themselves, and universally acknowledged
by all the genealogists, up to within the last half century. It is
as follows :—

A certain Godfred Crovan, son of Harold the Black, of the Royal
Family of Denmark, was appointed King of Man and the Western
Isles of Scotland, by Harold, the Imperious, and, accompanied
by a fleet and an army, he came and took possession of his king-
dom in 1066, the superiority still remaining with the reigning
Norwegian Kings. This Godfred, who reigned for sixteen years,
died in the Island of Islay, leaving three sons, the eldest of whom,
Lagman, in 1103, succeeded his father. The second son, Harold,
raised a rebellion against Lagman, by whom he was defeated and
taken prisoner, his eyes put out, and otherwise treated in the most
barbarous manner. Lagman, for this cruel conduct towards his
brother, was seized with remorse. He then renounced his Kingdom,
and went on a pilgrimage to Jerusalem, where he died, having only
ruled for seven years. His brother, Harold, also died without issue,
when the Island Kingdom fell to Godfred’s third son, Olave or
Olaus, then a minor, The government of the Kingdom, during this
minority, was entrusted to Donald Mac-Tade, an Irish nobleman
sent over to the people by Murchad O’Brien, King of Ireland, at
their request, who behaved in such a tyrannical fashion, by op-
pressing his subjects, that after two years he was expelled, when
he fled to Ireland; and Olaus, having by this time come of age,
took charge of the government himself. He married Elfrica,
daughter of the Lord of Galloway, at the time one of the most
powerful nobles in Scotland. By his wife, Olave or Olaus, the
Red, had one son, Godfred the Black, his heir. He also had three
natural sons. Of several daughters, one, Ragnhildis, about 1140,
became the wife of Somerled, Thane of Argyle and of the Isles,
and progenitrix of all the Macdonalds, Macdougalls, and several
other historical families in the Western Highlands and Isles.
According to the Chronicle of Man, this marriage was the cause
of the fall of the Norwegian Kingdom of the Isles, and was the

* Celtic Scotland, Vol, 1IL, p. 340,
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foundation of the title of Kings and Lords of the Isles, afterwards
assumed, and long maintained, by Somerled’s descendants,
Olave the Red is said to have been a good Prince, and to have
entered into friendly leagues with the Kings of Scotland and
Ireland. After reigning in comparative peace for about forty
years, he was, in 1154, assassinated by his nephews, the sons of
his illegitimate brother Harold, who claimed half his Kingdom of
the Isles. His son, Godfred the Black, was at the time in
Norway, but, hearing of his father’s death, he hastened to the
Isles, where he was received by the people with great rejoicings
as their lawful King. Having executed the murderers of his
father, he proceeded to Ireland to share in the wars then going
on in that Kingdom. Returning to the Isle of Man, he became
so tyrannical that the nobles rebelled against his rule, and by the
instrumentality of one of his nobles (Thorfinn), Dougall, the son
of Somerled of the Isles, and Godfred’s nephew, was proclaimed
King of the Isles. After a fierce engagement between Godfred
and Somerled, the Southern Isles (south of Ardnamurchan
and Kintyre) were ceded to the latter; Godfred retaining
the Isle of Man and the Northern Isles for himself. * Two
years later Godfred was virtually driven out of Man, when he
went to Norway and never returned. He died about 1187,
leaving an only lawful son (Olave the Black), then only ten years
old. The nobles of Man appointed his natural brother,
Reginald, a very brave man, as their governor, during Olave’s
minority, but he soon usurped the crown for himself, and kept
possession of it for thirty-eight years, giving his brother,

OLAVE THE BLACK, the legitimate heir, the Island of Lewis for
his maintenance. He, however, afterwards succeeded, by the aid
of Paul, Sheriff of Skye, in repossessing himself of the Norwegian
Kingdom of Man and the Isles, about 1226. He died about 1237,
having been thrice married ; first, to a daughter of one of the
leading families of Kintyre, by whom he had three sons—Harold,
Reginald, and Magnus, all of whom successively reigned as Kings
of Man. But Magnus of Norway, and Superior of the Isles,
having surrendered the Island Kingdom to Alexander II. of

* For a full account of these proceedings see Mackenzie’s History of the
Macdonalds and Lords of the Isles, pp. 17-34.
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Scotland, and Magnus of Man having died at the Castle of Ross,
in 1266, without issue, the Island Kingdom came to an end.
Olave the Red had no issue by his second marriage ; but having
married, thirdly, Christina, daughter of Farquhar, Earl of Ross,
he had, by her, three sons—

1. LEOD, OR LoyD, PROGENITOR OF THE MACLEODS.

2. Guin, from whom the Clan Gunn of Sutherland and

Caithness, and

3. Leandruis, of whom Clan Leandruis, or Gillanders.

When Olave the Red, last King of Man, died, his eldest son,

LEoD, who was the fifth of the Royal line of the Norwegian
Kings of Man, in direct descent, was under age. He was brought
up and fostered in the house of Paul, son of Boke, Sheriff of
Skye, otherwise designated as “ Paul Balkason, Lord of Skye,” a
man ‘““of the greatest power and authority of any in those parts,
who had been a constant friend of his father’s in all his dangers and
distresses,” and by whose assistance his father, as already stated,
recovered his kingdom. Leod “flourished in the reign of King
Alexander III., and got from said Paul the lands of the Herries,
&c.; and from his grandfather, the Earl of Ross, a part of the
Barony of Glenelg, and he and his posterity have ever since been
promiscuously designed by the title of Herries [Harris], Glenelg,
Dunvegan, and of that Ilk.”* Leod married a daughter of
MacRaild Armuinn, a Danish knight, who had his seat where
Dunvegan now stands, and with her he received the lands of
Dunvegan, Minginish, Bracadale, Duirinish, Lyndale, and part of
Troternish, in the Isle of Skye. There are some families of the
name of MacRaild still living on the Macleod estates, and we
know one or two others elsewhere who came originally from that
district.

Mairi Nighean Alastair Ruaidh, the famous Macleod poetess,
refers to the traditional Norwegian and Royal origin of the race
in her famous “ Croman,” where she says, on the recovery of
young Macleod from a serious illness :—

* Douglas’s Baronage, p. 375. ““ Among the documents found in the King’s
Treasury, at Edinburgh, in 1282, there was one entitled, ¢ Charter of Glenhelk,’
which belonged to the Isle of Man, In 1292 the lands of Glenelg appear to have
been included in the Sherifidom of Skye, erected by King John Balliol. ”~—Origines
Larockiales Scotie,
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¢ Sliochd Ollaghair nan lann,
Thogadh sroilltean ri crann,
Nuair a thoisich iad ann,
Cha bu lionsgaradh gann,
Fir a b’ thirinneach bann,
Priseil an dream.
Rioghal gun chall corach,”*

In the Lord of the Isles, Sir Walter Scott refers to the same
origin, where some of the characteristics of “Stout Dunvegan’s
knight” and his Norse descent are thus referred to :—

““Torquil’s rude thought and stubborn will
Smack of the wild Norwegian still.”

By MacRaild’s daughter, the heiress of Dunvegan, Leod had
issue—

1. Tormod, ancestor of the Macleods of Harris and Glenelg,
now represented by the Macleods of Dunvegan, and known among
the Highlanders to this day as “ Siol Thormoid.”

2. Torquil, progenitor of the Macleods of Lewis, Waternish,
in Skye, Assynt, and Gairloch, on the Mainland, and of Raasay.
The Macleods of Lewis are still spoken of in Gaelic as “ Sio/
Thorcuil” and the cadet family of Raasay as “ Clann Mhic Gille
Challuim,” to indicate their descent from Malcolm Garve, son of
Malcolm, eighth Baron of the Lewis.

Each of the sons, Tormod and Torquil, was a Mac Leod, or
son of Leod, whence the name of the family.

Before proceeding with the History in connection with either
of the two leading families of this great House, it may be well to
dispose, so far as we can, of their respective claims to be head of
the Clan, for the seniority and the Chiefship have been at various
times disputed and claimed by the descendants of the two brothers,
TorMOD and TORQUIL respectively, and it may be con-
sidered doubtful, and difficult to prove, which of them was the
eldest son of LEOD ; though it is now almost universally admitted
that Tormod was the elder of the two, and that, therefore, his
male representative, the present Macleod of Dunvegan, is right-
fully designated Macleod of Macleod, and Chief of the Clan.

It has always been claimed by the Macleods of Harris, Glenelg,
and Dunvegan—(1), that Tormod got the greater portion of his
father's estates; (2), that, in several Royal Charters, and other

*Mackenzie’s Beauties of Gaelic Poctry.
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authentic documents, where the heads of the families are men-
tioned, the representatives of Tormod, usually styled Mac-
leods of Harris, are always named and inserted before the
representatives of the Macleods of Lewis; and (3), that, though
the representatives of Tormod have changed their armorial
bearings, there is sufficient proof that they formerly carried the
paternal arms of the family.

On the other hand, the representatives of the family of Lewis
have maintained—(1), that the descendants of Torquil, their pro-
genitor, succeeded his father in the Island of Lewis, which, they
say, was the paternal estate of the Clan; (2), that the represent-
atives of Torquil always carrjed in their armorial bearings the
arms of the Kings of Man and the Isles, their paternal ancestors ;
and (3), that it has been the unvaried tradition of the Lewis Mac-
leods, that Torquil was the eldest son, and that this is confirmed
by Sir David Lindsay of the Mount, Lord Lyon, King at Arms,
and by Buchanan’s History of the Origin of the Clans, published
in 1723.

Referring to these counter claims for precedency, Skene says
that “from the earliest period in which the Macleods are men-
tioned in history, they have been divided into the great families
of Macleod of Glenelg, or Harris, and Macleod of Lewis, and
these families have for a long time disputed as to which of them
the rights of Chief belong. As occurs in the somewhat parallel
case of the Macneils, this dispute appears to have arisen from the
possessions of the Macleods having necessarily been so little
connected together, and from both families being nearly of equal
power and consequence; but, from the few data which have
remained to guide us on this point, there scems every reason to
think that Macleod of Glenelg, or Harris, was of old the proper
Chief of the Clan. Macleod of Harris,” he continues, “was
originally invariably designated ‘de Glenelg,’ and Glenelg was
certainly the first and chief possession of the Clan. In various
charters of the fifteenth century, to which the head of both
families happen to be witnesses, Macleod de Glenelg always
appears before that of Lewis, and, finally, the possessions of the
Lewis family formed no part of the original possessions of the
Clan, for the Charter of the family of Lewis is one by King David
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II. to Torquil Macleod, of the barony of Assynt. And itis certain,”
Mr. Skene sums up, “that Torquil obtained this barony by mar-
riage with Margaret Macnicol, the heiress of the lands, and in that
Charter he is not designated ‘de Lewis,’ #or kas ke any designa-
tion whatever. These facts,” he declares, ““seem conclusive, that
the claim of Macleod of Harris to be Chief of the Clan is well
founded, and that the marriage of a younger son to the heiress of
Assynt and Lewis, gave rise to the family of Lewis, who were the
oldest cadets of the Clan, and who soon came to rival the family
of the Chief in power and extent of territory.” The first charter
of any lands to the family was granted by David I1., to Malcolm,
son of Tormod Macleod, son of Leod, about 1343, and the obliga-
tion contained in it is to the effect that Macleod is to keep
a twenty-six-oared galley at all times for the use of the King.*
Referring to lands acquired by the family in the Isle of Skye,
now the only estates in their possession, Skene also says that they
acquired these lands by marriage with the daughter of MacRaild,
one of the Norwegian nobles of the Isles, and he maintains that
it is from this connection, and from the succession which was
secured by it, that first probably arose the tradition of the
Macleods being originally descended from the Norwegian Kings
of the Isles; and he holds, as already stated, that they were
originally of pure native descent, and belonging to the ancient
inhabitants of the Celtic Earldom of Garmoran. The original
possessions of the Macleods of Harris and Glenelg were always
held of the Crown, while those of the family of Lewis were held
as vassals of the Earl of Ross and Lords of the Isles. At first the
Harris family held that island under the MacRuaries of Garmoran ;
and, later on, when the North Isles passed into the house of
Islay, they held Harris, as their neighbours and namesakes did
Lewis, from the Lords of the Isles; and they also held their lands
in Skye, comprising at that time fully two-thirds of the Island, as
vassals of the Lordship of the Isles. The armorial bearings of
the two families were quite different from an early period—that of
Harris being a Castle, and that of Lewis a burning Mountain,

(To be continued.)

* ¢ About the year 1343, King David IL granted to Malcolm, the son of
Turmode Maclode, two-thirds of the tenement of Glenelg, namely, eight darachs and

5}\; f}zg:lx;z‘lasx;gts’az 'for the service of a ship of 26 oars when required.”—Origines
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ST. KILDA.
L

Here rise no groves, and here no gardens blow,

Here even the hardy heath scarce dares to grow;

But rocks on rocks, in mist and storm array’d,

Stretch far to sea their giant colonnade,

With many a cavern seam’d, the dreary haunt

Of the dun seal and swarthy cormorant,

While round their rifted brows, with frequent cry,

As of lament, the gulls and gannets fly,

And from their sable base, with sullen sound,

In sheets of whitening foam the waves rebound. —ScorT.
IT is only a few weeks since-two sad messages from St. Kilda
were cast ashore upon the coasts of the Long Island. Both told
a melancholy tale of disaster and distress, and both were launched
upon the bosom of the mighty Atlantic in “little ships,” rudely
fashioned out of a piece of wood, and rigged with a tiny mast and
sail. Bravely did the little vessels bear the tale committed to
their charge, withstanding the great Atlantic billows, and sailing
merrily on to the land, where there were sympathetic and kindly
hearts to listen to the simple St. Kilda folk’s sad story. The first
one which arrived was picked up on Thursday, 24th September
last, by a rural letter-carrier on the beach at Aird Uig, a town-
ship on the West Coast of the Lewis, near Gallan Head. The
message itself was contained in a bottle, which was inserted in a
small piece of wood roughly shaped into the form of a boat.
The wood was branded “St. Kilda,” and the words “open this”
were cut on a small board covering the bottle. The message
was written on what appeared to have been the leaf of a school
exercise-book, and another slip of paper enclosed bore the
address—“Mr. Kenneth Campbell, teacher, Uig, Lewis, by
Stornoway.” The message ran as follows :—

¢St Kilda Sep the 8th 1885,
€My Dear Sir—I am now going to write you a letter and sending her in one of
the little ships in which we were sailing on the shore as you know to let you know
all the knews, the men were building a house just a little house for the cows a great
storm came on and all the corn and barley were swept away by the storm and
one of the boats was swept away by the sea the men of St Kilda is nearly dead
with the hunger. They send two boats from St Kilda to go to Haries not the
fishing boats but little piece of wood like the little one which I send. I sent my

best loves unto you,—I am yours truly ‘“ ALEXANDER FERGUSON.”
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At the Valuation Appeal Court, held at Portree on 2oth
September, the following petition, signed by a number of the
inhabitants of St. Kilda, and addressed to Mr. Balderston, the
County Assessor, was read :—

¢ St. Kilda, Sept. 15th, 1885,

“Honoured Sir,—We, the undersigned, beg leave to intimate to you that we
consider it unfair to be paying for grazing for sheep which we do not possess. When
our present proprietor, Macleod of Macleod, bought this island from the late Sir
John Macleod, London, the number of sheep which each of the sixteen crofters then
possessed was entered on the rental book of our present proprietor, and the price of
grazing for each sheep then was ninepence a-head. But we have now much below
the number of sheep we had then, and we are still paying for the full number.
This we do not consider fair. It was the rule, under our former proprietor, that
each of us would pay ninepence a-head for the grazing of sheep, and this we wish to
be restored to us, as each of us then would only pay according to the number ot
sheep possessed by him. We are most willing to pay for whatever number of sheep
each of us may possess.

¢“'The second point which we wish to bring under your notice is the rock. It has
been told us that the late Duke of Athole had got us full liberty from Government to
catch the fulmars which were resting on the rocks without our paying rent. For this
each of us was then paying £2 sterling. The factor, too, on his arrival here the
following summer, told us that we had now full liberty to catch the fulmars free of
rent. The fulmars rest on or about the island throughout the year, but it is during
three months that we reap much benefit by them—that is, from the latter end of May
till the 28th of August. Observe, instead of relieving us of this £2 sterling, which
was paid for each of us for the rocks, the £2 was laid on the crofts and on the sheep
grazings of the Island of Borera.

‘¢ Some of us are now paying one shilling and sixpence for the grazing of sheep,
instead of ninepence. This we have done for many years, although some of us have
lost most of our sheep by falling over the rocks, and by wet and stormy seasons.

¢‘ We feel aggrieved to have to pay for birds which live on the sea, and which we
catch in steep and high rocks at great danger to our lives, and which would not be
attempted by any other people but ourselves. We hope you will do everything you

possibly can to do us justice, as we are far off from the courts of justice in this
solitary island.”

There being no one present from St. Kilda, the appeal was
dismissed.

The following letter from the proprietor of St. Kilda appeared
in an Inverness paper on 1oth October :—

¢ 5th October, 1885,
*¢Sir,—The appearance in your paper of the 3oth ultimo of two communications
from St. Kilda compels me to ask you to kindly insert another letter. The first of
these communications, picked up on the shores of the Lewis, appears to have been
written by a boy. T think it possible that some of the corn, and perhaps a boat,
may have been swept away by the storm, but that the people of the Island are suffer-
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ing from hunger is impossible, as they do not rely on their own produce, but always
have a supply of meal sufficient to last till May or June next.

‘‘As respects the petition addressed by the tenants of St. Kilda to the County
Assessor, it is difficult to understand their complaint, and I am unable to explain
what they mean about the Duke of Athole and the Government. The simple facts
are that they pay a rent of £2 each for their arable ground, and so much a-head for
the grazing of their cattle and sheep. Of this arrangement they have never com-
plained till now, because they always had a full stock, but it appears they lost a
number of sheep last spring. This accounts for their present petition, and as I
always treat exceptionally these lonely people, surrounded as they are by the melan-
choly main, I shall certainly comply with the wish they have expressed, As to the
birds and rocks, they have never been asked by me to pay a penny for either.—I am,
yours, &c., ‘¢ MACLEOD OF MACLEOD.”

On Monday, 28th September, an old man walking along the
beach at Tarnsay, Harris, found a little boat made of a thick
plank about a yard in length, on which were the words, cut deep
into the wood, “St. Kilda. Please open—Hugh Macallum.” On
opening a small hatch, two bottles were found, in each of which
was a letter. There was a sail set on the little vessel, and a heavy
piece of iron nailed to the bottom, so that it could not be upset.
One of the letters ran as follows :—

¢St Kilda Manse, 16th Sept., 1885.

““Rev. and Dear Sir,—1I beg leave to intimate to you that I am directed by the
people on the island to tell you that their corn, barley, and potatoes are destroyed by
a great storm that passed over the island on Saturday and Sabbath last. . You will
be kind enough to apply to Government in order to send a supply of corn seed,
barley, and potatoes. This year’s crop is quite useless. They never before saw
such a storm at this time of the year. They have lost one of their boats, but happily
there was no loss of life. They have some meal on the island, which the proprietor
sent them in the beginning of this month. The crops were not ripe when the storm
passed over the island. We send you this enclosed in a little boat made of a piece

of a plank. I sincerely hope you are well.—I am, rev. dear sir, yours very truly.
‘JounN MACKAY.

¢“The Rev. Alexander Maccoll, Free Church Manse, Lochalsh.”
It is pitiful to think that, within sight of part of the Long Island,
we have a lonely sea-girt isle, whose only means of communica-
tion with the Mainland, during the greater part of the year, is by
means of these tiny vessels, launched upon the bosom of the
great ocean to find their way, guided only by Providence, to the
unknown world of telegraphs, railways, and cities. Whilst public
attention has of late been thus drawn so painfully towards the
island by these messages cast upon the shores of Lewis and
Harris, we think that some information regarding St. Kilda and
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its primitive inhabitants, collected from different sources, will
prove interesting to the reader.

The ancient name of the island was Hirt, or Hirta, which
Martin, in his Description of the Western Isles, 1695, derives from
the Irish Zer, meaning West, St. Kilda being the most westerly of
all the Scottish isles. The Rev. Kenneth Macaulay, however, in
a little book, entitled, 4 Voyage to, and History of, St. Ktlda, pub-
lished in 1765, suggests a different origin for the name. “We
know with certainty,” he says, “that Norwegians and Danes
infested each side of this kingdom for a course of ages. Some of
these rovers, if driven forward by north-east winds, after having
lost their course, or after having left Shetland behind them, would
have naturally spied out St. Kilda sooner than any other place in
the Deucaledonian Ocean, as the rock and hills there are higher
than anywhere else, and, upon making so agreeable a discovery,
would have very probably cried out Hert, Hert, or Land, Land ;
nor is it an extravagant conceit to suppose that this small land
might, for that very reason, have retained the name ever after.”
Buchanan calls the island Hirta, while Cambden calls it Hyrtha.
The first mention made of it in any document, now extant, is said
to be in a charter granted by John, Lord of the Isles, to his son,
Reginald, and confirmed by King Robert the Second, after the
middle of the fourteenth century. In that charter the island is
called Hyrt.

When Martin visited the island, about the last decade of the
seventeenth century, he found some 200 inhabitants in St. Kilda,
but in 1765 the number had dwindled down to eighty-eight,
chiefly owing to the smallpox, which carried away nearly the
whole population of the island in one visitation. The terrible
disease was first contracted in the Island of Harris by a St. Kilda
man, who died there. Unfortunately a fellow-islander came the
following year and took the dead man’s clothes back to St. Kilda,
thus communicating the infection. Had it not been for a lucky
accident, the whole population would have been exterminated; as
it was, of twenty-one families, only four grown-up persons, and
twenty-six young orphans, were left alive. Shortly before the
disease commenced to ravage the island, three men and eight
boys went to one of the adjacent isles to catch solan geese for the
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benefit of the whole community. Their boat went back to
St. Kilda as usual, but, owing to the disease having broken out in
the interval, no one was able to man it for the purpose of bring-
ing the bird-catchers home again at the proper time, and they
were compelled to subsist upon the island for about nine months,
until rescued by the factor’s boat. By the time they returned
. home, the disease had done its devastating work in St. Kilda, and
died out again. The population now is only seventy-seven.
Martin gives a most amusing account of a visit which one of
the islanders paid to Glasgow, and which we produce verdatin: :—
“He was astonished at the length of the voyage, and of the
great kingdoms, as he thought them, that is isles, by which they
sailed; the largest in his way did not exceed twenty-four miles in
length, but he considered how much they exceeded his own little
native country. Upon his arrival at Glasgow, he was like one
that had dropped from the clouds into a new world, whose
language, habits, &c., were in all respects new to him; he never
imagined that such big houses of stone were made with hands;
and for the pavements of the streets, he thought it must needs be
altogether natural, for he could not believe that men would be at
the pains to beat stones into the ground to walk upon. He stood
dumb at the door of his lodging, with the greatest admiration;
and when he saw a coach and two horses, he thought it to be a
little house they were drawing at their tail, with men in it; but he
condemned the coachman for a fool to sit so uneasy, for he
thought it safer to sit on the horse’s back. The mechanism of the
coach-wheel, and its running about, was the greatest of all his
wonders. When he went through the streets, he desired to have
one to lead him by the hand. Thomas Ross, a merchant, and
others, that took the diversion to carry him through the town,
asked his opinion of the High Church? He answered that it was
a large rock, yet there were some in St. Kilda much higher, but
that these were the best caves he ever saw; for that was the idea
which he conceived of the pillars and arches upon which the
church stands. When they carried him into the church, he was
yet more surprised, and held up his hands with admiration, won-
dering how it was possible for men to build such a prodigious
fabric, which he supposed to be the largest in the universe. He
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could not imagine what the pews were designed for, and he
fancied the people that wore masks (not knowing whether they
were men or women) had been guilty of some ill things for which
they dared not show their faces. He was amazed at women wear-
ing patches, and fancied them to have been blisters. Pendants
seemed to him the most ridiculous of all things; he condemned
periwigs mightily, and much more the powder used in them; in
fine, he condemned all things as superfluous he saw not in his
own country. He looked with amazement on everything that
was new to him. When he heard the church-bells ring, he was
under a mighty consternation, as if the fabric of the world had been
in great disorder. He did not think there had been so many people
in the world as in the City of Glasgow; and it was a great mystery
to him to think what they could all design by living so many in
one place. He wondered how they could all be furnished with
provisions; and when he saw big loaves, he could not tell whether
they were bread, stone, or wood. He was amazed to think how
‘they could be provided with ale, for he never saw any there that
drank water., He wondered how they made them fine clothes,
and to see stockings made without being first cut, and afterwards
sewn, was no small wonder to him. He thought it foolish in
women to wear thin silks, as being a very improper habit for such
as pretended to any sort of employment. When he saw the
women’s feet, he judged them to be of another shape than those
of the men, because of the different shape of their shoes. He did
not approve of the heels of shoes worn by men or women; and
when he observed horses with shoes on their feet, and fastened
with iron nails, he could not forbear laughing, and thought it the
most ridiculous thing that ever fell under his observation. He
longed to see his native country again, and passionately wished it
were blessed with ale, brandy, tobacco, and iron, as Glasgow
was.”

The name St. Kilda, which is comparatively modern, is
exceedingly difficult to account for. Martin says that it is taken
from one Kilder, who lived there, but that is all the information
he gives. Mr. Macaulay, in his book already referred to, suggests
a number of different origins for the name, There was a female
saint, named Kilda, who was a prominent figure in the early
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Saxon Church, but it is exceedingly improbable that her name
ever travelled to this remote portion of the British Isles. There
was also an old British writer, called Gildas, but, as he was a
devout hater of the Scots, it is not likely that he was ever con-
nected with the island in any way. Mr. Macaulay inclines to the
belief that the word Kilda is a corruption of Culdee, the name
given to the early Christian missionaries in Scotland. There is a
well in the island called Tobar-Kilda, and he takes this to mean
the Culdee’s Well, probably so called from some member of that
order, who took up his residence there. Some one hearing the
name would conclude that the well bore the name of a saint, and
would have called the island St. Kilda after him, in preference to
the older Hirt or Hirta.

The island of old belonged to Macleod of Harris, and was
given over by him to a steward, generally a cadet of the Macleod
family. This steward usually appointed a deputy, who was a
native of the place, and resided in the island. This deputy had
free lands, and an omer of barley from each family; he had also
the honour of being the first and last in their boat, as they went
and came to the smaller isles and rocks. The steward himself
visited the island once every summer to collect the rents, which
were paid in kind, the principal articles given being down, wool,
butter, cheese, cows, horses, fowls, oil, and barley—silver or gold
being then unknown in the island. Some years before Martin’s
visit, the steward attempted one year to exact a sheep from every
family in the place, the number being twenty-seven, but this they
refused to submit to. The steward then sent his brother, and a
number of other men, to take the sheep by force, but the islanders
met the invading party, and, armed with daggers and fishing-rods,
attacked them with such effect that they were forced to return
without attaining their object, and the attempt was not again
renewed.

Just as we were about to conclude this paper, we learnt that
the steamer “Hebridean” had been sent out to St. Kilda from
Glasgow on Thursday, 15th October, with a quantity of supplies
for the relief of the unfortunate islanders. The supplies consisted
of oats, oatmeal, potatoes, tea, sugar, and other necessaries, and
were presented by Sir William Collins, Principal Rainy, and
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other gentlemen in the South, to whom all honour is due for their
prompt and disinterested action. The vessel arrived in the Bay
of St. Kilda on the evening of Sunday, 18th October, and early
on the following morning the cargo was brought ashore and dis-
tributed among the poor islanders, who evinced the greatest
gratitude towards their kind benefactors.

A striking instance of the simplicity of the inhabitants came
under the notice of those who accompanied the “Hebridean” on
her voyage. The night before the vessel’'s arrival in St. Kilda,
one of the married women in the island heard, or imagined she
heard, the report of a gun being fired, and, communicating this
piece of intelligence to her husband, the two of them talked the
matter over with some neighbours. Their deliberations resulted in
a unanimous verdict that a fleet of men-of-war had arrived off the
coast, in order to put the islanders to the sword, as the only
means of cutting short their troublesome practice of sending
pestering messages for help! No time was to be lost in escaping
from the invaders, and the whole of the little band took to the
hills, and spent the night in hiding. With the return of day, they
came back to the village, but their fears were not set at rest, for
several of the women admitted that, when the “Hebridean”
awoke the echoes with her steam-whistle, they felt sure that the
hostile fleet had come at last, and great drops of sweat fell from
their foreheads. Probably Sheriff Ivory’s recent military and
police flare-up in Skye was fresh in the minds of the innocent St.
Kildeans. The appearance of Captain MacCallum, however, who
was well known to them all, soon restored their courage and
gladdened their hearts.

H.M.S. “Jackal” left Rothesay Bay on Tuesday, 20th October,
for St. Kilda, having on board Mr. Malcolm MacNeil, Commis-
sioner for the Board of Supervision, Edinburgh, who is to enquire
into the condition of the inhabitants, and the causes of the present
distress in the island. We sincerely hope the visit may be pro-
ductive of lasting good to the islanders.

Next month we shall give some more information regarding

this far-off isle—truly, in the words of the Poet Laureate—
¢ The loneliest in a lonely sea.”
H.R.M.

(7o be continued.)
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AN OLD CHURCH PROCESS.
[BY KENNETH MACDONALD, ESQ. F.S.A. SCOT.]

IN Mr. Fraser-Mackintosh’s ¢ Antiquarian Notes,” a pretty story is
told of Mr. Murdoch Mackenzie, one of the ministers of Inver-
ness, who died in 1774, after a ministry in Inverness of nearly
thirty-three years. At the time of his death, Mr. Mackenzie was
minister of the First Charge, and his beadle was Ludovic, or Lody
Ross, whose name still survives in local tradition. “ When,” says
Mr. Fraser-Mackintosh, “Mr. Murdoch, who lived in Castle
Street, lay a-dying, there was great lamentation, and none be-
wailed more than Lody, who was constantly in attendance. His
evening bell-ringing could not be neglected, however. After dis-
charging this duty, and emerging from the tower, what meets his
astonished gaze? Nothing else than all the windows of the Kirk
one blaze of light, while sacred music of the sweetest description
rose in volume to the sky. But for a moment, however; and,
rushing back to the clergyman’s house, Lody found that the soul
of his pastor had a few minutes since taken its heavenly flight,
resting, as Lody firmly believed, for a moment, with its attendant
angels in the arena of its close, searching, and pious ministrations.”
Mr. Fraser-Mackintosh thinks the incident more in consonance
with the old Catholic building, than with the bald, and far from
sightly, modern church. It is certainly difficult to imagine the
present singularly plain High Church of Inverness illuminated
with angelic light, and filled, even for a moment, with angelic
music, but we must either accept the present Church as the
locus of the incident, or reject it altogether, for the old Church
was replaced by the present one two or three years before Mr.
Mackenzie’s death.

Mr. Murdoch Mackenzie, we learn from the Fasti Ecclesie
Scoticane, was translated from Dingwall to Inverness Third
Charge in 1741 or 1742. He was translated to the Second
Charge in 1751, and to the First Charge in 1763. In 1745 he
married a daughter of John Hossack, who was Provost of Inver-

2 :
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ness at the time of the Battle of Culloden in 1746. Mr. Macken-
zie died, as has been said, in 1774, in the 74th year of his age,; and
the 42nd of his ministry. It is said of him that “when engaged
in prayer the tears were often seen falling from his cheeks, and
he is said in preaching never to have uttered a word of which he
did not feel the force and truth in his own heart.”

When Mr. Mackenzie was translated to Inverness Third
Charge, the minister of the First Charge was Mr. Alexander
Macbean, who had been translated from the Third to the First
Charge in 1727. Of him the Fasti says—“In his day he was the
John Knox of the North, and one who greatly exerted himself to
suppress the spirit of rebellion in and about Inverness during
1745 and 1746.” He died in November, 1762, and was succeeded
in the First Charge by Mr. Mackenzie.

While Mr. Mackenzie was incumbent of the Third Charge,
the incumbent of the Second Charge was Mr. Alexander Fraser,
who had been translated from Urquhart and Logie-Wester to
Inverness in 1727. He died on 6th May, 1750, in the 76th year
of his age, and the 48th year of his ministry, “eminent both for
piety and talent.”

These clergymen were, during their ministry, engaged in liti-
gation, either with the whole heritors of their parish, or with the
Magistrates of the town in which they ministered. Messrs. Mac-
bean and Mackenzie were so engaged for several years, Mr.
Fraser for a shorter period. Some papers connected with the
processes, at the instance of the ministers, are in my possession,
and as they are interesting in themselves, and contain information
of value to the student of local history, I propose to give some
account of them.

A short time before Mr. Alexander Fraser’s death, an action was
raised by himself and Mr. Macbean against the Magistrates of
Inverness, for payment of the difference between the stipend
actually drawn by them, and a stipend of 1600 merks, for the
years 1737 and 1738, “and in all time thereafter during the sub-
sistence of” an Act of Parliament obtained by the town in 1737.
The only documents in any way connected with the process,
which I have seen, are a “State of the Process—The Ministers
of Inverness v. the Magistrates of Inverness,” written by Mr. John
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Fraser, the town’s Edinburgh solicitor, in 17353, and a letter from
Mr. Fraser to Provost Hossack, sending him the “State.” These
documents, however, contain all the information we want as to
the subject matter of the action, and they carry us so far down in
the matter of date, that, with the assistance of a hint contained in
one of the papers in a subsequent process, we can make a pretty
safe guess at the result.

In the year 1719 the town of Inverness obtained right,
by Act of Parliament, to raise a duty of two pennies Scots
upon every pint of ale brewed or sold within the town and
privilege of Inverness for 19 years. The money so raised
was to be applied in paying the debts of the town, enlarging
the existing Church, or building a new one, making provi-
sion for a minister or ministers, and in repairing and deepening
the harbour. On 12th October, 1720, the Magistrates, who evi-
dently thought the town would realise a large sum from the ale
tax, and that they could consequently afford tobe liberal to the
ministers, enacted that after Martinmas, 1720, and during the con-
tinuance of the Act, the stipend of each of the ministers should
be augmented to 1600 merks yearly. This stipend was paid to
each of the then three incumbents, and to Mr. Alexander Fraser, the
successor to one of them, for about 16 years. As the period for
which the ale tax had been granted drew to a close, the Magis-
trates found that the town was more deeply in debt than ever,
chiefly, they stated, on account of their expenditure in connection
with “well-intended undertakings” pointed out by the Act—the
Harbour principally. They, therefore, applied for, and, after an
opposition which increased the debt of the town between %200
and £300 sterling, obtained a new Act, continuing the tax for 21
years. The Magistrates had by this time found out how much
or how little could be done with a tax on ale, and in their new
Act there was nothing about building a Church or providing for
ministers; their sole ambition now was to pay the debt they had
already incurred, and this was all the Act made provision for.
The Magistrates, however, anticipated the omission of the ministers
from the new Act by ceasing to pay the 1600 merks two years
before the old Act expired. The ministers do not appear to have
taken any action for ten or twelve years, but they then raised an
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action, not only for the shortcoming in their stipends for the two
years of the old Act, but also for the whole period of the second
Act. To the claim for the augmented stipend during the con-
tinuance of the second Act of Parliament, the defence of the
Magistrates was that the augmented stipend was payable under
a contract which expired with the first Act, and that, even had
they the will, they had not the power to pay it out of the sums
collected under the second Act. What their defence to the first
part of the claim was does not appear, but that they stated some
defence, more or less shaky, to it, appears from the gingerly way
in which Mr. John Fraser refers to it in his letter to Provost
Hossack transmitting the “State of the Process.” ‘“The main
point,” he says, “is short and neat, and cannot admit of any
alteration, and it is my opinion the Lord Ordinary will, upon its
being laid before him, give the question for the town; and as to
the two articles claimed by the pursuers, as their shortcoming of
1600 merks of stipends for the years 1737 and 1738, they do not
amount to much money, but even against these #ere are, to be
sure, just and obvious defences,” and there he leaves it. ~ Notwith-
standing the “just and obvious defences,” the Lord Ordinary had
already decided that part of the case against the town. Mr.
Fraser’s letter is dated 1st June, 1753, and his “State of the Pro-
cess” says that, on zoth December, 1750, Lord Elchies, Ordinary
in the cause, after advising long minutes of debates, found the
Magistrates liable for the additional stipends libelled during the
continuance of the first grant, but sustained their defences to the
additional stipends after the expiry of the first grant, and during the
continuance of the second, and decerned accordingly. Against
this interlocutor, a representation was given in by the ministers,
and on 6th February, 1751, the Lord Ordinary ordained the
Magistrates to produce an authenticated copy or extract of the
Act of 15th May, 1739, made by the overseers named in the last
grant, and likewise an accompt of the annual produce of the duty
since that time. On 6th June, 1751, the Act and account were
produced, but from that time until the “State of the Process” was
written, nothing further was done towards bringing the action to
an end.

Before the beginning of the year 1755, however, the action
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did come to an end, and the Magistrates were apparently success-
ful in the main part of the case. An action was then raised in the
Teind Court by Mr. Alexander Macbean and Mr. Murdoch Mac-
kenzie, ministers at Inverness, against the Heritors, for an
augmentation of stipend. At the outset the Magistrates did not
oppose this action. As they afterwards said, “they and every
individual of the town being perfectly sensible of the pursuers,
their not being provided in a stipend near adequate to the weight
and importance of the Charge, or what the Teinds of the parish
could admit of, did therefore consider it an improper thing in
them to state themselves as defenders, or to give any opposition
to the pursuers in an action so .much founded on justice.” But,
according to themselves, they had a rude awakening. The
passage just quoted is from a petition presented for them to the
Teind Court on 24th February, 1755, and the tone of mild re-
proach of the immediately succeeding sentence is somewhat
amusing. ‘At the same time,” they say, “they did not expect
that the pursuers (the ministers) would have taken decreet against
the town for sums not concluded for, or in payment of which they
knew the town could not by law be subjected, neither did they
expect that the other Heritors, by a misrepresentation of facts,
would have endeavoured to load the town with the payment of
sums to which they must have known themselves to be duly
liable, but in both the petitioners have been mistaken.” The
cause of this reproachful remonstrance was that, in the interlocutor
modifying the stipends, the town was not only ordained to pay
200 merks of stipend out of the Common Good, but to pay each
of the ministers ‘100 merks yearly in lieu of a manse, and to
furnish the elements to the Communion, according to use and
twont, out of the town’s Common Good.” The Magistrates say
that the interlocutor, so far as concerns the 200 merks of stipend,
should be “made somewhat more explicit,” and they go on to
explain that in 1665 the then incumbents of the parish obtained
a decreet of modification and locality, according to which there is
payable out of the lands held in feu by the Provost, Bailies, and
Council of Inverness of the Kirk thereof, 100 merks of old
locality paid out of the Common Good of the Burgh, and another
100 merks money out of the Common Good, which was accepted
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by the pursuers of the decreet for themselves and their successors
serving the Cure, being in lieu of what was promised by the
Magistrates’ predecessors to the ministers serving the Cure,
according to an Act of Council, dated 11th February, 1650,
which bears the 100 merks to be then, “and in all time there-
after, in full satisfaction of all that can be challenged or claimed
by the ministers or their successors from the said Magistrates,
Council, Guildry, or community of the said Burgh, by virtue of
the said Act, or any other manner of way.” This was certainly
explicit enough, and the Magistrates were perfectly right not to
allow a bargain of this kind, judicially sanctioned ninety years
before, to be lost sight of. . With regard to the money decerned
for in lieu of manses, and the expense of Communion elements,
the Magistrates contended that they were only liable to the ex-
tent of their proportion as Heritors of the parish. There were,
they said, two manses belonging to the ministers of the parish,
but on their becoming ““insufficient and unhabitable,” the Heritors
came to the resolution of paying to each of the ministers 200
merks yearly, in name of house rent, until a proper opportunity
should occur of repairing or rebuilding the manses. “Most of
the Heritors having failed in paying their proportions, the heavy
end of the performance of this agreement fell upon the Peti-
tioners, and their predecessors in office, who could not see their
ministers altogether unprovided with houses, and therefore have
been in use of paying to each minister 100 merks per annum on
that account, and this they did the more readily, as they always
understood their ministers to be insufficiently provided in a
stipend.” They go on to state that for the same reason, in obtain-
ing the Act of Parliament imposing a duty in favour of the town
of two pennies on the pint of ale, and expecting that this tax
would produce a considerable sum, they, in the year 1720,
augmented the ministers’ stipend to 1600 merks annually, but
that the tax, having produced much less than they expected, and
the town having in consequence contracted a debt of 41000
sterling, a sum they have very small prospect of getting soon
paid off, they, on obtaining in 1737 a new Act of Parliament con-
tinuing the tax for a term of years, were obliged to “withdraw
their bounty from the ministers.” As to the town being in use
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to furnish the Communion elements, it is, they say, “altogether
a mistake, and ’tis believed neither the pursuers nor Heritors will
now aver it.”

The petition goes on to state that the town’s interest in the
parish, in point of estate, is £444 7s. 6d. (Scots) of yearly rent,
whereof £224 18s. 10d. is land rent, and the remainder feu. Of
the land rent, £183 12s. is said to be paid for a “piece of carse
ground taken off the sea by building a very high dyke at a great
expense, upon which the sea rises sometimes to about twelve feet
in height, endangers the breaking down thereof, and thereby
losing not only the expense they have been put to, but their rent
in all time coming.” The lands referred to are those now known
as Seabank, recovered from the sea by the embankment at the
Longman. The petition does not state when the dyke was built,
nor do the Council Records, but it appears that rent was for the
first time paid for the reclaimed lands in 1746. It was contended
for the Magistrates that these lands could not be subjected in
payment of stipend, on account of the manner in which they had
been reclaimed from the sea, and because a constant and certain
rent could not be said to arise from them, seeing they were liable
to be again invaded by the tide; an argument which was ulti-
mately sustained by the Court, but to which the landward Heritors
retorted that “this would be a fine plea for some of the provinces
of Holland, where the whole country has in former times been
gained off the sea, from the overflowing of which it is only
defended by their dykes.”

The ministers and the landward Heritors were apparently
as dissatisfied with the stipend modified by the Court as the
Magistrates were. “It seems the interlocutor pleased none of
the parties,” says the town’s agent, Mr. William Forbes, in a letter
to Provost Hossack, dated 27th February, 1755, and petitions
against it were presented for Messrs. Macbean and Mackenzie,
the ministers; and for “John Forbes of Culloden, William Duff
of Muirton, Alexander Baillie of Dunzean, George Ross of Kin-
mylies, Esquire, solicitor, at London; Evan Baillie of Aberiachan;
and the other Heritors of the parish of Inverness.” The petition
of the Heritors states that the interlocutor of which they com-
plained modified a stipend which they think “over profuse” for
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this “corner of the country,” and they submit a calculation show-
ing that the existing stipend, with the value of the two glebes,
which were let for £19 8s. 10d.,, and £16 13s. 4d. (sterling)
respectively, yielded the ministers £194 7s. 113d. between them.
To this, they say, their Lordships had “been pleased to add” no
less than £22 4s. 54d., making the share of each minister £108,
which ‘“appears to be a very high stipend.” Too high, the
Heritors think, for they say (1) the Charge is neither extensive
nor laborious, there being three ministers in the town of Inver-
ness, all upon an equal footing; (2) being situated within a Royal
Borough, they are not exposed to the incidental expense of enter-
taining strangers; (3) the third minister, who has but £65 of
stipend, lives as decently and contentedly upon his stipend as be-
cometh any gentleman of that profession, and was never heard to
complain of his provision being too small ; and (4) vivres of all kinds
are cheap in Inverness, beef selling throughout the year at 14d.
per pound, and other fleshes proportionally cheap.

(7o be continued.)

TO WILLIAM MACPHERSON, ESQ., OF INVERNESS,

On receiving from him a copy of 7%e Z%istle, a choice collection of Scottish Song,
by Colin Brown, Ewing Lecturer, Anderson’s College, Glasgow. Instrumental
accompaniments and harmonies by James Merrylees.

My faithful friend, thy manly heart
Is ever, like thy voice, in tune ;

I thank thee for thy welcome gift—
A gift that is to me a boon.

Of Scotia’s songs, a casquet rare,
Charmed verses, and sweet melodies ;

‘Where master pen and skilful note,
Give fame to Brown, to Merrylees.

Thy gift shall be to me a spring

From which sweet draughts I oft shall draw ;
And as I drink I’Il think of thee

‘When, clansman, thou art far awa’,

My faithful friend, thy manly heart
. Is ever, like thy voice, in tune ;
I thank thee for thy welcome gift—
A gift that is to me a boon.

i DuNcAN MAeGREGOR CRERAR.
New York, August 27, 1885.
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THE "HEROIC TALES OF THE CELTS.

BY
ALEX. MACBAIN, M.A., F.S.A, SCOT.

THE materials of Irish Mythology have well been divided by M.
D’Arbois de Jubainville into three leading parts; there is, first,
the mythological cycle which deals with the gods and the ethnology
of the country, and which we have treated already (Vol. ix. 124).
There are, secondly, the Cuchulain cycle, and, thirdly, the Ossianic
cycle, both dealing with the heroes of the race. Between the god-
cycle and the hero-cycles there is a long break, which is filled up
in the histories with meagre details, but full genealogies, of inter-
mediate kings, with now and then an oasis of mythical incident,
like Cimbaeth’s conquest of the war-goddess, Macha Red-mane,
and Labraid Loingseach’s hunted youth and punishment of the
usurping uncle. A wounderful list it is! Are these kings and
chiefs but shadows conjured from the fertile imagination of bards
and monks? Most of them undoubtedly are mere genealogical
stop-gaps, though a few names and events may have lived on in
legend and myth. For, what are the facts in regard to the literary
documents of Irish history? None go back in MS. earlier than
the year 1100, and the language in which the oldest MS. is written
is just the language of the time at which it was written. It is use-
less to postulate for the composition of the literary matter a date
of six centuries or more previously ; the writings may be as old as
that and older, but their final recension in the 1r1th century is
couched in the language of that time, and great caution must be
exercised in sifting out what is and what is not old. At the best,
the result remains unsatisfactory, and unsafe to theorise upon.
Yet, it must be said that Irish history from after the time of St.
Patrick may be trusted, for it can be often tested by contemporary
and other documents. When we remember the mythical history
of St. Patrick himself, and that he is divisible into three different
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personages, dating from 400 to soo—for St. Patrick dies at the
age of 122 in the 14th year of King Lughaidh '—we are entitled
to place little confidence in Irish history antecedent to him. In
fact, Irish history begins with the introduction of Christianity.
Previous to that, it is mythical and legendary. There are three
distinctive periods, however ; first, there is the mythological epoch
commencing with Partolan and ending with the expulsion of the
Tuatha-De-Danann and the instalment of the Milesian race.
Then, secondly, comes the Milesian race of kings, filling up the
void of fifteen hundred years till the Christian era or shortly before
it, when the Cuchulain cycle of events begins. Again, thirdly, the
period from the beginning of the Christian era to the time of St.
Patrick is one which may be trusted possibly in its leading features.
The wvraisimilitude of Irish history has imposed on the best scholars,
and even Professor Windisch is inclined to euhemerise the Cuch-
ulain and Fenian cycles, and to believe the stories of the reigns of
Conchobar and Cormac.  But, really, the feats performed by
Cuchulain are in the highest degree mythical ; his life is a fairy
tale that fits not into history, and, indeed, his name has no place
in the “ Annals of the Four Masters!” Nor is Finn and his Fenian
militia (!) band much better treated ; he is, indeed, mentioned in
an obscure way as having fallen in A.D. 283, while the fatal field
of Gabhra is represented as an ordinary event in Irish history un-
connected with the collapse of a mighty and miraculous host.
The fact is, the Irish annalists found it difficult to fit the fairy
heroes into their histories, justas is the case with the British Arthur.
There is no place for him in the kingly list, and he is accordingly,
like Finn, a “dux belli.” Yet the fairy tales and romances regard
these heroes as kings and princes, but the histories cannot recog-
nise them ; they do not fit in well, for, in reality, they belong to
no particular time, but are the incarnation of the national deities
in national heroes. These heroes cannot, therefore, be tied down
to history ; the most popular incidents in their lives are of a wholly
unhistorical character—enchantments, fairy scenes and chases,
gigantic heroes that over-stride firths and valleys—such are the
characteristics of nearly all the tales. The historical part is poor
and non-popular. The only historical incident recognised, and
that, too, doubtfully, by the popular imagination, is the battle of
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Gabhra, where the Feni were overthrown; and that battle, if
historical at all, was fought, not by the Finn and Oscar of popular
tradition, but by some of the numerous chiefs and kinglets bearing
the names of the mythic heroes.

The Cuchulain cycle is set down as occurring at the begmnmg
of the Christian era, while the Fenian cycle is placed three hundred
years later. ~ In any case, the two cycles are quite distinct in their
characteristics. In the Cuchulain cycle, the hero alone performs
all the wonders; for instance, Cuchulain and his charioteer alone
keep the host of Meave at bay for a long period, until the princes
of Ulster recover their powers. Now in the Fenian cycle, the
heroes are banded together, and are captains of armies. Cuchulain
rides on a chariot ; the Fingalians know of none such—they are a
band of foot soldiers. The two cycles have thus distinctive features,
and they may be compared to the hero-cycles of Classical Mythology.
These divide into two ; there are the demigod heroes like Hercules,
Theseus, and Perseus, who perform their feats alone ; and, again,
there are the more mortal heroes of the Trojan type, like Achilles,
who heads a band of men and performs marvels; but, on the
whole, the Feni rather belong to the Argonautic conception,
which is somewhat earlier and is a thorough fairy tale, falling be-
tween the Hercules type and the purely Trojan type. The
Arthurian cycle is Trojan in its characteristics.

Of Cuchulain’s birth, ““strange tales are told.” Nominally the
son of Sualtam, he in reality was the son of the god Luga—the
sun-god, whose far-darting and flashing qualities he displays con-
tinually, for his power lies greatly in the use of the sling, and in
fighting from the car. As a young man, he, like all fairy and
mythic heroes, is lowly brought up, and serves Culann, the smith,
if we can trust so evidently “eponymic” a myth, and hence he-
was called Cu-Chulain, “Culaun’s Hound.” But his name more
likely contains the common prefex ¢« or con, signifying superiority,
and not dog. Queen Meave makes a raid on Ulster to get the
famous bull, Donn Chualgne, and the Ulster people, all save
Cuchulain, are placed under a spell, whereby they cannot move
to fight. Cuchulain alone withstands the host of Meave, dealing
death with his sling, and fighting the champions “at the ford.”
But he fails, apparently, through demoniac influences, and Meave
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gets the bull; but, as she returns home, the Ulster men awake and
pursue. A battle is fought, Cuchulain again appears, and carries
all before him. Such is the rationalistic history of the “Cowspoil
of Cualgne ;” but evidently the spoil is connected with the cattle
of the sun-god, and is quite mythical, as Professor Windisch
reluctantly remarked, only to controvert it inconsistently. The
other incidents of his life are his mythical education; his feats;
the slaying of his son, Conlaoch, by mistake—the story of Soohrab
and Rustem of Persia; and his tragic death through witcheraft
spells.

Finn is also a fairy hero; his birth is anteceded by his father’s
violent death and his mother’s flight ; he is brought up in obscurity ;
does wonderful youthful exploits ; tastes of the salmon of know-
ledge, and so, by bruising his thumb, which was burnt in the pro-
cess of broiling the fish, in his mouth, can always discover the
truth ; acquires his father’s position, and is great. Innumerable
are the tales of the Feni. The real Fenian tales are composed of
fairy battles, scenes, and spells; but they have got tinged with
real events, such as, in Scotland, the descents of the Norsemen ;
and, consequently, Finn’s fairy opponent sometimes partakes of a
Norse name and character. Finn is evidently the incarnation of
the chief deity of the Gaels—the Jupiter spoken of by Caesar and
the Dagda of Irish myth. His qualities are king-like and majestic,
not sun-like, as those of Cuchulain. He is surrounded by a band
of heroes that make a terrestrial Olympus, composed of counter-
parts to the chief deities. There is the fiery Oscar (ud-scaz, utter-
cutter ?) a sort of war god; Ossian, the poet and warrior, corre-
sponding to Hercules Ogmius; Diarmat, of the shining face, a
reflection of the sun-god ; Caelte, the wind-swift runner; and so
on.

Arthur and his knights correspond generally to Finn and his
heroic band ; Arthur’s position in history and in popular tradition
agrees with Finn’s, and many incidents are the same in their lives
—their birth and education in obscurity, like all heroes of fairy
lore ; their recognition and advancement to the throne ; their kingly
qualities and majestic wisdom ; their domestic life, the infidelity
of their wives; and so on. The heroes of each nation show also
similarities, nor are even the names without a resemblance. Tal-
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jesin, the bard, son of the mystic Gwion, may philologically corre-
spond to Ossian, son of Finn, as Professor Rhys allows. The
incidents of the Arthurian cycle sometimes correspond to the
Cuchulain cycle of Ireland, as well as to the Fenian. Thus
Peredur’s ideal of a bride—raven-black hair and blood-red and
snow-white cheeks—corresponds to the story of Deirdre and the
sons of Uisneach.

A word or two may be said as to the local habitation of the
heroic incidents. The Irish tales localise the events in Ireland,
and point to places whose names are derived from the incidents
of the tales. For example, the incidents of the killing of Diarmat
by the boar are located in Sligo ; but in Scotland the same story
is fixed in no less than two places—Argyllshire and Sutherland-
shire ; Ben-Gulbain in Argyllshire, and Ben-Loyal in Sutherland
have clear topographical traces of the story. And, again, the
Arthurian incidents are confidently located by different theorists
in Brittany, Wales, and Scotland. Mr. Stuart-Glennie has written
a volume to prove that Scotland was the scene of Arthur’s victories,
and Mr. Skene supports him. No doubt the claims are all genuine ;
the story, in fact, is settled wherever a colony of the Welsh and
the Gaels settled in a new country. The stories are racial and
general, and can be tied down to neither time nor place. Every
branch and colony can claim them as their own.
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THE CONFLICTS OF THE CLANS.
( Continued.)

THE BURNING OF THE DORNOCH CATHEDRAL.
JonN, EARI, OF SUTHERLAND, together, with his lady, being
poisoned, the year 1567, his son Alexander (being young) suc-
ceeded unto him, whose ward and marriage George Earl of
Caithness had right to, and withal gets the custody of Earl
Alexander during the time of his ward; whereat Alexander’s
most tender friends (and chiefly the Murrays of Sutherland) being
grieved, they lay a plot among themselves to convey Earl Alex-
ander from the Earl of Caithness ; which they effect, and deliver
him to the Earl of Huntly, with whom he staid until his ward was
expired, the year 1573, during which time the Earl of Caithness
kept possession of the land; whereupon divers troubles did
ensue. The Earl of Caithness removed the Murrays of Suther-
land from their possessions; which, nevertheless, they endeavoured
to keep. Hutcheon Murray, with divers of his friends, do possess
themselves with the town of Dornoch and the adjacent lands,
being formerly possessed by them. The Earl of Caithness sent
his son John, Master of Caithness, with a number of men to
remove the Murrays from Dornoch. Y Mackay did also
accompany the Master of Caithness in this journey. Being come
to Dornoch, they besiege the Murrays there ; who, for the space
of some days, issued forth and skirmished with the enemy. In
end, the Master of Caithness burnt the town and the cathedral
church, which the inhabitants could not longer defend. Yet,
after the town was lost, they kept the Castle, the enemy still
assaulting them, but in vain, without any success, for the space of
a month. Then, by the mediation of some indifferent friends,
they surrendered the Castle, and gave three pledges that, within
two months, they should depart from Sutherland ; which they
did, and retired themselves to the Earl of Huntly, with whom
they staid until the expiring of the Earl Alexander’s ward ; at
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which time they recovered their ancient possessions. Notwith-
standing that the Murrays had retired themselves, as they had
promised, yet they were no sooner departed, but the pledges were
beheaded.

During the time that the Sutherland men staid with the Earl
of Huntly, they served him in his wars against the Forbeses, and
chiefly at Crabstaine, where they did good service against the
foot supply that was sent by the Regent to assist the Forbeses.
This burning of Dornoch and of the Cathedral Church happened
in the year of God 1570. The next year following (which was
1571), George, Earl of Caithness, became jealous of some plots
which his eldest son John, Master of Caithness, and Y Mackay of
Strathnaver had contrived against him, and thereupon appre-
hended his son John, whom he imprisoned closely at Girnigo,
where he died, after seven years’ captivity. Y Mackay, perceiving
that John, Master of Caithness, was imprisoned by his father, he
retired home into Strathnaver, and died within six months there-
after, the same year of God 1571.

THE CONFLICTS OF ALLT-GAMHNA AND LECKMELM.

The year of God, 1585, George, Earl of Caithness, married the
Earl of Huntly’s sister ; at which time, by Huntly’s mediation,
the Earls of Sutherland and Caithness were reconciled. It was
then concluded among them that the Clan Gunn should be pursued
and invaded by the Earls of Sutherland and Caithness, because
they were judged to be the chief authors of the troubles which
were then like to ensue ; and to this effect it was resolved that
two companies of men should be sent by the Earls of Sutherland
and Caithness against such of the Clan Gunn as dwelt in Caithness,
thereby to compass them, that no place of retreat might be left
unto them, which was done. The Earl of Sutherland’s company
was conducted by John Gordon of Backies and James MacRorie ;
the Earl of Caithness’s company was conducted by his cousin,
Henry Sinclair—a resolute gentleman. It happened that Henry
Sinclair and his company rencountered first with the Clan Gunn,
who were now assembled together at a hill called Bingrime, and
with them was William Mackay (brother to Hugh Mackay of
Strathnaver, and nephew to this Henry Sinclair, that led the
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Caithness men) who was accompanied with some Strathnaver men.
Now were the Clan Gunn advertised of this preparation made
against them ; and no sooner were they in sight of one another
but they prepared both for the fight, which was begun without
fear or delay on either side. The Clan Gunn, although inferior
in number, yet they had the advantage of the hill, by reason of
which the Caithness men came short with their first flight of
arrows ; by the contrary, the Clan Gunn spared their shot until
they came hard by the enemy, which then they bestowed among
them with great advantage. Then ensued a sharp conflict, at a
place called Allt-gamhna, where Henry Sinclair was slain with 120
of his company, and the rest chased and put to flight, who had all
been destroyed had not the darkness of the night favoured their
flight.  Which, coming to the ears of John Gordon, James Mac-
Rorie and Neil Maclan-MacWilliam, who had the conduct of the
Earl of Sutherland’s men, they pursued the Clan Gunn, and
followed them to Lochbroom, in the height of Ross, whither they
had fled; and then, meeting with them, they invade them at a
place called Leckmelm. After a sharp skirmish, the Clan Gunn
were overthrown, and chased, 32 of them slain, and their Captain,
George, wounded and taken prisoner, whom they carry along with
them unto Dunrobin, and there they deliver him unto Alexander,
Earl of Sutherland. This happened in the year of God, 1586.

TROUBLES IN THE WESTERN ISLES IN THE YEAR 1586.

This commotion in the Western Isles of Scotland did arise,
at this time, betwixt the Clan-Donald and the Clan-Lean, upon
this occasion. Donald Gorme Macdonald of Sleat, travelling
from the Isle of Skye, to visit his cousin, Angus Macdonald of
Kintyre, landed with his company on an island called Jura or
Duray, which partly appertaineth to Maclean, partly to Angus
Macdonald ; and by chance he landed in that part of the island
which appertaineth to Maclean, being driven thither by contrary
winds ; where, they were no sooner on shore, but two outlaws,
Macdonald Herrach and Hutcheon Macgillespick (who were
lately fallen out with Donald Gorme) arrived also with a company
of men ; and understanding that Donald Gorme was there, they
secretly took away, by night, a number of cattle out of that part




The Conflicts of the Clans. 33

of the island which appertaineth to Maclean ; and so they retire
again to the sea; thereby thinking to raise a tumult against
Donald Gorme, by making the Clan-Lean to believe that this was
done by Donald Gorme’s men, who, lying at a place called Inver-
knock-bhric, were suddenly invaded unawares, under silence of
the night (neither suspecting nor expecting any such matter) by
Sir Lauchlan Maclean and his kin, the Clan-Lean, who had
assembled their whole forces against him. Maclean and his
people killed, that night, above 60 of the Clan-Donald ; Donald
Gorme himself; with the residue, escaped, by going to keep in a
ship that lay in the harbour. Angus Macdonald of Kintyre
hearing of this lamentable accident fallen out betwixt his brother-
in-law, Maclean (whose sister- he had married), and his cousin,
Donald Gorme, he taketh journey into Skye to visit Donald
Gorme, and to see by what means he could work a reconciliation
betwixt him and Maclean for the slaughter of Donald Gorme’s
men at Inverknock-bhric. After Angus had remained a while in
Skye with his cousin, he taketh journey homeward into Kintyre ;
and in his return he landed in the Isle of Mull, and went to
Duart (Maclean’s chief dwelling-place in Mull) against the
opinion of his two brothers, Coll and Ronald, and of his cousin,
Ronald Macdonald, who all persuaded Angus to the contrary ;
desiring him to send for Maclean, and so, to declare unto him
how he had sped with his cousin, Donald Gorme, and how far he
was inclined to a reconciliation ; but Angus trusted so much in
his brother-in-law, Sir Lauchlan Maclean, that he would not
hearken unto their counsel ; whereupon his two brothers left him,
but his cousin, Ronald Macdonald, accompanied him to Duart,
where Angus at first was welcomed with great show of kindness ;
but he, with all his company, were taken prisoners by Sir
Lauchlan Maclean, the next day after their arrival, Ronald
Macdonald escaping, and that very hardly. Angus was then
detained in captivity, until he did renounce his right and
title to the Rhinns of Islay, which properly appertaineth to
the Clan-Donald, and had been by them given in posses-
sion for their personal service. Angus was forced to yield,
or there to end his days; and for performance of what was
desired, Angus gave his eldest son, James, and his brother,
3
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Ronald, as pledges, to remain at Duart, until Maclean should
get the title of the Rhinns of Islay made over to him ; and so, the
pledges being delivered, Angus got his liberty.

Angus Macdonald, receiving the wrong at Maclean’s hand,
besides that which his cousin Donald Gorme had received at
Inverknock-bhric, he went about, by all means, to revenge the
same ; and the better to bring this purposed revenge to pass, he
used a policy by a kind of invitation, which was thus: Maclean
having got the two pledges into his possession, he taketh journey
into Islay, to get the performance of what was promised unto
him, leaving Ronald, one of the pledges, fettered in a prison at
his house of Duart, in Mull, and carrying his nephew James (the
son of Angus) and the other pledge along with him in his voyage.
Being arrived in the Isle of Islay, he encamped at Ellan-loch-
gorm, a ruinous fort lying upon the Rhinns of Islay. Thereupon
Angus Macdonald took occasion to invite Maclean to come to
Mullintrae, or Muludrhea (a dwelllng place which Angus had well
furnished in the Isle of Islay), seeing he was better provided of all
kind of provision there than Maclean could be ; earnestly intreat-
ing him to lie at his house, where he should be as welcome as he
could make him ; that they should make merry so long as his
provision could last, and when that was done, he would go with
him.  For this custom the Islanders have, that when one is
invited to another’s house, they never depart so long as any
provision doth last ; and when that is done they go to the next,
and so from one to one, until they make a round from neighbour
to neighbour, still carrying the master of the former family with
them to the next house. Moreover, all the Islanders are of nature
very suspicious, full of deceit and evil intention against their
neighbours, by whatsoever way they may get them destroyed ;
besides this, they are so cruel in taking revenge that neither have
they regard to person, time, age, nor cause, as you may partly see
in this particular. Sir Lachlan Maclean’s answer to Angus Mac-
donald’s messenger was that he durst not go to him, for mistrust.
Angus then replied that he needed not to mistrust, seeing he had
his son and his brothers pledges already, whom his friends might
keep in their custody until his return ; and that, for his own part,
he did intend nothing against him, but to continue in all
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brotherly love and affection towards him. Maclean, hearing this,
seemed to be void of all suspicion, and so resolves to go to
Angus's house ; he carried with him James Macdonald, the pledge
(his own nephew, and the son of Angus), whom he kept always
in his custody, thereby to save himself from danger, if any injury
should be offered unto him. He came to Mullintrea, accom-
panied with 86 of his kinsfolk and servants, in the month of July,
1586, where, at the first arrival, they were made welcome with all
courtesy, and sumptuously banquetted all that day; but Angus,
in the meantime, had premonished all his friends and well-wishers
within Islay to be at his house the same night at nine o’clock; for
he had concluded with himself to kill them all the very first night
of their arrival, and still concealed his purpose, until he found the
time commodious, and the place proper. So Maclean, being
lodged with all his men in a long house that was somewhat
distant from other houses, took to be with him his nephew James,
the pledge before mentioned, with whom he never parted ; but
within an hour thereafter, when Angus had assembled his men,
to the number of 3 or 400, he placed them all in order about the
house where Maclean then lay. Angus himself came and called
upon Maclean at the door, offering him his reposing drink, which
was forgotten to be given him before he went to bed. Maclean
answered that he desired none for that time, Although, said
Angus, it be so, yet it is my will that thou arise and come forth
to receive it. Then began Maclean to suspect, and so did arise,
with his nephew James betwixt his shoulders, thinking, that if
present killing was intended against him, he would save himself
as long as he could by the boy. The boy, seeing his father with
a bare sword, and a number of his men in like manner about him,
cried, with a loud voice, for mercy to his uncle, which was granted,
and Maclean immediately removed to a secret chamber till the
next morning. Then called Angus to the remnant within, so
many as would have their own lives to be saved, that they should
come forth (Macdonald Herrach, and another, whom he named,
only excepted); obedience was made by all the rest, and these two
only fearing the danger, refused to come forth ; which Angus
perceiving, he commanded incontinent to put fire to the house ;
which was done, so that the two men were pitifully burnt to
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death. This Macdonald was the author of these troubles; the
other was a very near kinsman to Maclean, and of the eldest of
his sirname, renowned both for counsel and manhood.

After that, the report of Maclean’s taking came to the Isle of
Mull, Allan Maclean, and some others of the Macleans, caused a
rumour to be spread in Islay, that Ronald (the brother of Angus
Macdonald, and the other pledge which he had given to Maclean)
was slain at Duart, in Mull, by Maclean’s friends; which false re-
port was raised by Allan Maclean, that thereby Angus Macdonald
might be moved to kill his prisoner, Sir Lauchlan Maclean, and
so Allan himself might succeed to Sir Lauchlan; and, indeed, it
wrought this effect, that how soon the report came to Angus’s
ears that his brother Ronald was slain, he revenged himself fully
upon the prisoners; for Maclean’s followers were by couples be-
headed the days following, by Coll, the brother of Angus. The
report of this fact at Mullintrae was carried to the Earl of Argyll,
who immediately assembled his friends to get Maclean out of
Angus’s power; but, perceiving that they were not able to do it,
either by force or fair means, they thought necessary to complain
to the King. His Majesty directed charges to Angus, by a
herald of arms, commanding him to restore Maclean into the
hands of the Earl of Argyll; but the messenger was interrupted,
and the haven port stopped, where he should have taken shipping
towards Islay, and so he returned home; yet with exceeding travel
made by Captain James Stewart, Chancellor of Scotland, and
many straight conditions granted by Maclean to Angus, Maclean
was at last exchanged for Ronald, the brother of Angus, and the
pledge before mentioned; and for performance of such conditions
as Maclean did promise to Angus, at his delivery, he gave his
own son, and the son of Macleod of Harris, with divers other
pledges to Angus Macdonald, who thereupon went into Ireland
upon some occasion of business, which Maclean understanding, he
invaded the Isle of Islay, and burnt a great part of the same, regard-
ing neither the safety of the pledges, nor his faith given before
the friends at his delivery. Angus Macdonald, returning out of
Ireland, did not stir the pledges, who were innocent of what was
done unto his lands in his absence; yet, with a great preparation
of men and shipping, he went into the islands and Tiree apper-

I ——
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taining to Maclean, invading these places with great hostility;
where, what by fire, what by sword, and what by water, he
destroyed all the men that he could overtake (none excepted),
and all sorts of beasts that served for domestic use and pleasure
of man; and, finally, came to the very Ben Mor, in Mull, and
there killed and chased the Clan-Lean at his pleasure, and so
fully revenged himself of his former injuries. ~Whilst Angus
Macdonald was thus raging in Mull and Tiree, Sir Lauch-
lan Maclean went into Kintyre, spoiled, wasted, and burnt
a great part of that country ; and thus, for a while, they did
continually vex one another with slaughters and outrages, to
the destruction, well near, of all their country and people. In
this meantime, Sir Lachlan Maclean did entice and train John
Maclan, of Ardnamurchan (one of the Clan-Donald), to come
unto him unto the Isle of Mull, promising him that he would give
him his mother in marriage, unto whom the said John Maclan
had been a suitor. John being come unto Mull, in hope of this
marriage, Maclean yielded to his desire, thinking thereby to draw
John Maclan unto his party against Angus Macdonald. The
marriage was celebrated at Torloisk, in Mull ; but the very same
night John Maclan’s chamber was forced, himself taken from his
bed out of Maclean’s mother’s arms, and eighteen of his men
slain, because he refused to assist Maclean against Angus Mac-
donald. These were (and are to this day) called, in a proverb,
Maclean’s nuptials. John Maclan was detained a whole year in
captivity by Maclean ; and, at last, was released, in exchange of
Maclean’s son and the rest of the pledges which Angus Macdonald
had in his hands. These two islanders, Angus Macdonald and
Maclean, were afterwards written for by the King, and trained
unto Edinburgh, the year of God, 1591, with promise safely to
pass and repass unhurt or molested in their bodies or goods, and
were committed both to ward within the Castle of Edinburgh,
where they remained not long when they were remitted free, to
pass home again, for a pecunial fine, and a remission granted to
either of them. Their eldest sons were left as pledges for their
sbedience in time coming.

(To be continued.)
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THE STATE OF THE HIGHLANDS A HUNDRED
YEARS AGO.

L

WE have rccently been perusing a most interesting book,
published in 1787, being “A Tour through the Highlands of
Scotland, and the Hebride Isles, in 1786,” by John Knox, and
containing many facts of no little interest at the present day. He
not only gives many of his own experiences, but makes interest-
ing quotations from others who had preceded him over the same
ground. Pythias, our author informs us, had made a voyage to
Thule, the remotest island belonging to Britain, which he de-
scribes as being “at the distance of six days’ sailing from it, in
the skirts of the Frozen Ocean.” It was a place, according to
him, which was neither earth, sea, nor air, but something like a
composition of all of them, something resembling, to use his own
expression, “the lungs of the sea,” The same author describes
the climate of the Hebrides, at that early period, pretty much in
the same language in which it might be accurately described in
the last quarter of the nineteenth century, but he informs us that
‘“the natives are obliged to carry their corn under shelter, to beat
the grain out, lest it should be spoiled by the want of sunshine,
and violence of the rains.”

In a description of Iona, Mr. Knox tells us that it had been
famous for its library, containing the archives and histories of the
kingdom, with many other manuscripts which were then dispersed
and lost. Aneas Sylvius, who afterwards became Pope Pius II.,
intended, during a visit to Scotland, to have gone to Iona to
search for the lost books of Livy, but was prevented by the death
of the King. A small parcel of books from this library was
brought to Aberdeen in 1524, and great pains were taken to un-
fold them, but in consequence of their great age, and the tender-
ness of the parchment, scarcely any portion of them could be
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read. The best authorities, however, from what they were able
to make out, thought that the work was rather a fragment of
Sallust than of Livy.

The register and records of the island were all destroyed at
the Reformation. Iona was the burial-place “of forty-eight kings
of Scotland, eight of Norway, four of Ireland, besides the chief-
tains of the Highland and Hebridean Clans, some of whose
effigies still remain on the spot; many have been destroyed, and
others have been purloined for other church-yards in the High-
lands.” The writer says that he had seen several of these effigies,
as well as some of the stone’ crosses that had been taken away
from the island. One of the crosses, he informs us, stood in the
centre of the town of Campbeltown, “a beautiful pillar, orna-
mented with foliage.” The effigies had been carried mostly to
Argyleshire, where they were laid over the graves of the principal
inhabitants. Several were at that time to be seen at Kilmartin,
where the people could actually give the names of the persons on
whose graves they were originally placed in Iona.

Writing of the Highlanders of his own time, Mr. Knox says
that they are “the lineal, unmixed descendants of these heroes,
poets, and bards, who, through a long succession of ages, have
preserved the Celtic language in its ancient purity; who still
retain, in a considerable degree, the simple manners and customs
of their ancestors; and who are less tinctured with the vices of
modern times than those that bestow upon them the epithet
of barbarous.” Mr. Knox, in 1764, made his first tour to the
Highlands, and he states that the extreme poverty, idleness, and
distress of the people made an impression on his mind which
engaged his thoughts, much of his time, and afterwards cost him
several thousand pounds in various efforts to ameliorate the state
of the people. His great object was to start what has since
become so well known as the British Fisheries’ Society.

He afterwards visited the Highlands no less than sixteen
times in twenty-three years, and at first he made it a point to
enquire into the most effectual means of employing the inhabi-
tants, “and of preventing emigration, which at that time prevailed
greatly ;” and he says that there was in the country then a
population of 300,0co people and upwards, “many of whom had
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nothing more than a bare existence, and even that upon the most
precarious tenure.” He made an attempt to enlist the aid of
the Highland Society of London, which had been established
several years before this, in his work in the Highlands, in which
he was afterwards to some extent successful. His description of
the Highland Society at the time is worth reproducing. “It
was,” he says, ““partly a convivial club, who met to enjoy them-
selves according to the customs of their country, to hear the
bagpipe, drink whisky out of the clam-shell, etc.; and, partly, an
institution for the encouragement of collections and publications
in their native tongue and of their native music, and similar
objects.” :

On the 29th of June, 1768, he started from London on a
remarkable tour, which he completed, mostly on foot, in the
space of six months from the time he left. The tour was from
Oban to Cape Wrath, from thence along the shore of the Pentland
Firth to Duncansbay Head, in Caithness, then along the East
Coast of that County, Sutherland, and Ross-shire, to the Town
of Inverness, continuing along the coast of the Moray Firth to
Kinnaird Head, Peterhead, Aberdeen, and Edinburgh, the whole
distance exceeding over 3000 miles. In the course of this tour
he also visited some of the Western Isles. Of this tour he wrote
a journal, the first portion of which, dealing with the part of the
country from Oban to Cape Wrath, including the Western Isles,
was published shortly after his return to Edinburgh. From it we
shall give a few interesting extracts in these papers. Meantime,
we shall cull a few from some other documents which are
published in the book.

In his appeal to the proprietors of lands along the Highland
coasts, after stating several things which they ought to do, he
says :—*“ By thus blending private benefit with the general good,
the names of such proprietors, who shall, with a liberal hand,
come forward, and at an early period, will be engraved upon
every Highland rock, and be recorded with applause to the end of
time. But something further remains on the part of the gentle-
men of the Highlands towards the success of the various branches
which constitute this great design. The servitude required by
proprietors, tacksmen, and some factors, amounts, according to
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ancient usage, to forty-two days every year, and these the most
favourable for ploughing, sowing, digging peats, leading them
home, cutting down and leading home the grain. While the
poor men and their families are thus employed upon the business
of their superiors, and for which they receive neither money nor
provisions, their own affairs are neglected, and their little crops
rot upon the ground ; yet the rent must be paid, or they must
turn out to make room for others.”

After describing the nature of the tenure, which was generally
from year to year ; the custom of paying a large grassum on the
renewal of a lease, when such was granted, and the difficulties
of raising this money, he proceeds to point out that none of those
things were so unfavourable to the population as the then “ newly
devised custom of ejecting fifty or a hundred families at a time, to
make room for a stock- of sheep, which can be managed by one
family, and, in some places, by a servant or herd only. This
practice, with the religious commotions of the last century, nearly
depopulated the South of Scotland, from whence, it is said, 7000
families transported themselves to the North of Ireland, America,
and other parts.” He then proceeds to show what was actually
being done then in the Highlands.—

In the month of June, 1786, 550 persons embarked in one
ship for America, and of these, 500 were from one estate. He
says that the parting scene between the emigrants and those they
left behind them was “too moving for human nature to behold.”
He and others estimated that, since 1763, no less than 50,000
people had left the Highlands, and of these, about 30,000 went to
America. He points out the difficulty of improving the circum-
stances of the people. The landlords might abolish servitude,
and many other customs which he condemned; they might
extend the length of their leases, and otherwise encourage the
industrious; ‘“but they must be more than human to resist
invariably the tempting offers that are constantly made by sheep
farmers. . . . . One man will occupy the land that starved
fifty or more families; he gives a double or treble rent, and is
punctual to the day of payment; consequently numbers of
ejected poor people are continually on the wing for America.”

Mr. Knox, while pointing out the great difficulties there were
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in building good houses in the Highlands at the time of his visit,
informs us that, within a few years, the ordinary wages of masons
and house carpenters had been six shillings per week, but, such
was the improvement in the building trade in the principal towns
of Scotland, that the wages, in 1786, jumped up and ranged from
about nine to twelve shillings a week, and he considers it quite
remarkable that, even at such wages, there was a scarcity of
workmen. He further says that ““this great augmentation is
partly owing to the great rise in the price of provisions within

these last thirty years, of which I shall give an instance from
Glasgow and other trading towns in that part of the kingdom :—

4 Thirty Years Ago (1756.)  In the Spring of 1786.

D. S. D.
¢¢ Beef, Veal, Mutton, per Ib. ... 4 o II
s9Butter * ... o P o I1
¢ Salmon ... S o 8
‘¢ Eggs, per doz. ... e I8 o; 17
¢ Meal, per peck ... s 7/ T 81

The following reference to the origin of the now beautiful and
enterprising town of Oban will prove interesting to many. Mr.
Knox says, “One of the proprietors of the coast of Oban, in
Argyleshire, has brought together on that spot about twenty-six
families, who built their own houses upon a very moderate plan,
and through whose exertions great things were expected ; but the
people still remain in much the same situation as formerly, with
the additional circumstance against them of having exhausted their
little property, or a considerable part of it, in mere dwellings
only.”

Some very remarkable restrictions were at that time placed
upon the West Highland fishermen. Such as, for instance, busses
or large boats, coming from other places to purchase herring,
were prohibited from buying the fish from the natives. These
busses received bounties from Government, and, to secure it, it
was enacted that they should continue fishing for a period of not
less than three months from the date of their departure from their
own ports, unless they should have sooner completed their load of
fish, all of which must be caught by their own men. “In the
meantime,” our author continues, “the poor natives, thus deprived
of their natural right (of selling their fish), and without redress,
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remained, as they still do, a miserable, helpless burden upon the
proprietors whose lands they occupied. A petty fishery for the
support of their own families, or their neighbourhood, in fresh
herrings, were the only benefits which they could derive from the
riches that came periodically upon their shores”; and he then
informs us of a great measure of relief, which, by a Statute
passed in 1785, permitted these strange and subsidised fishermen
to purchase herring from the Highlanders, provided that, at the
expiration of three months, they had not themselves fished their
full cargo. One can scarcely believe that such foolish laws were
in force in this country within the last hundred years.

At this time two traders in white and red herrings had settled
at Lochbroom, and they purchased all the fish that the native
boats could take, in its fresh state, at five shillings or upwards per
cran. This figure our author considered an extraordinary one,
for he says, “ Let traders be encouraged to settle on all the fishing
stations of the coast, and the same /7g/ prices will be given ;
but care should be taken to keep the boat people independent of
the traders, otherwise it may happen that the latter will lay
exorbitant prices upon the articles which the natives stand in
need of, and cannot purchase elsewhere.” It is curious to find
that, at this period, in the whole district from Belfast Loch to
Cape Wrath ; from thence to Duncansbay Head in Caithness ;
and from there to Cromarty, in the Moray Frith ; there were no
towns, dockyards, or even a carpenter to be found to execute any
repairs upon the boats or their gear. A coast of nearly 500 miles,
we are told, could not, upon any sudden emergency, furnish a
single sail, a cable, or an anchor.

Mr. Knox strongly urges that roads and bridges should be
constructed in the Highlands, whereat, he says, the Highlanders
would be glad to work as labourers a# seven or eighipence per day.
He then refers at considerable length to the salt duties which
were exacted at the time, and from which an annual sum of
£900,000 was raised. In 1776 the gross revenue was £895,489,
and of this £649,275 went in the way of drawbacks, discounts,
charges of management, etc., leaving a nett sum of only £246,214.
as the amount which went to the Exchequer. The result of this
tax was the entire crippling, if not prohibition, of the herring and



44 The Celtic Magazine.

other fishings in the Highlands, and, “having no towns or stores
where this article can be retailed out at a moderate price, these
poor people are forced to live through the winter and spring upon
half-putrefied fish that have been dried without salt, the bad
effects of which are severely felt by thousands in that miserable
country. From the want of this article they cannot even supply
themselves in the proper season with butter and cheese, and are
therefore obliged very frequently to bring up more young cattle,
by means of the milk in summer, than they can support in the
winter.” The duty on coal at the same period was 5s. 4d. per
chaldron, and the Customs regulations were such as to make it
almost impossible to get any to the Highlands on any condition.
And only the miserable sum of £1100 was realised from this coal
tax, though its exaction almost entirely stopped any paying
enterprise on the part of the people.

It appears that the landlords of that time appropriated to
themselves everything they could, as they are charged with
doing before, since, and now. Referring to the religious frenzy
of the people, after the death of James V., our author says that,
in less than thirty years, all the national exertions in literature, =
civilisation, arts, agriculture, and commerce, vanished. The noble
edifices, which it had taken five centuries to erect, were razed to
the ground or laid in ruins within the space of a few years; and,
then, we are told, ““the nobility and great landholders encouraged
these desolating scenes, or remained passive, while the outrageous
humours of the preachers and people were venting themselves.
They had an eye to the Church revenues, which they seized, and
confirmed to their families in a Parliament of which they were
themselves the members. The preachers, instead of sharing in
the Church livings, as they had expected, were not even allowed
to taste of the crumbs which these livings afforded. They now
railed against the nobility and gentry, who, nevertheless, kept
possesion of the revenues, which their descendants enjoy to the
present day.” After impoverishing the Church and the clergy,
who, we are told, were without stipends or salaries, in this way,
this Parliament of landlords, who had appropriated the whole
lands and revenues of the Church to themselves, “did, in the
munificence of their hearts, from a zeal for the Protestant religion,
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and in pity to the clergy, enact that every Established minister of
a parish should receive from their respective parishioners, as a
maintenance for their families, and to enable them to perform the
duties of their ministry with comfort and ease, a sum equal to ffze
pounds sterling annually!” From the rise of the price of grain or
meal, these livings several years after rose in Scotland to an
average of about £80 per annum for about nine hundred clergy-
men, the whole annual revenue of the Scottish Established clergy,
when our author wrote, being only about £72,000. In the High-
lands, however, the stipends did not exceed £50 on an average,
and of such livings the number was very few.

In another paper or two we shall accompany our author in his
tour through the Highlands of Argyle, Inverness, Ross, and
Sutherland shires, including the Western Isles, A.M.

(7o be continued.)

DEATH OF “THE HIGHLAND MAGAZINE.”—Nine months ago, a
monthly periodical, under this title, was started by Mr. Duncan Cameron, Oban.
In the October (the eighth) number, an intimation is given that the magazine is no
more. We were to have been swallowed up by the Highland Magazine. That was
not our opinion, and we were not in the slightest degree concerned on the point.
This, we regret to say, is the ninth Celtic publication which came and went since we
made our first appearance ten years ago, but we are still to the fore, and in a
better position than we have ever before attained to. ~We had not noticed the
Highland Magazine in these pages hitherto, simply because it was never sent tous
for that purpose. Some of the reviewers praised it without stint. Most
of them were, to our great amusement, completely sat upon. The serial tale,
entitled ¢ The Empty Coffin,” was almost universally criticised in the most favour-
able terms, as an excellently-written original tale. We knew better, but while the
periodical had any chance of life we felt unwilling, even in the interest of literary
honesty, to point out the fraud which was being perpetrated on the public by the
editor of the /fighland Magazine and his reviewers, We have a copy of the
original work in our possession, published in three volumes, and entitled ‘“ A Legend
of Argyle ; or, *Tis a Hundred Years Since,” printed for G. & W. Whittaker, Ave-
Marie Lane, London, in 1821. The title was changed in the ighland Magazine to
““ The Empty Coffin,” and the first three or four chapters transposed, and otherwise
transmogrified, so as to put the reader and reviewers off the scent; otherwise,
the tale was reprinted, with all its errors, mis-spellings of Gaelic, and other
characteristics. Some of the cleverest and best informed of the reviewers who
belanded this o7iginal and insipid old tale as a_splendid modern production, carped
at us, while they praised this fraud, for reproducing valuable historical and anti-
quarian information, which was quite inaccessible to the ordinary reader, the source
of which we always duly acknowledged !
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INVERNESS GAELIC SOCIETY’S TRANSACTIONS.

FEW societies have done more, or more useful work, in the field
of Gaelic and Celtic literature than the Gaelic Society of Inver-
ness. We have before us the eleventh volume of its Transactions,
which has quite recently been published. To say that it is the
Society’s largest volume were not in itself much, but to say
that it is out of sight the best and most valuable volume yet issued
by the Society is saying a great deal. A glance even at its con-
tents page will suffice to whet the appetite of any Highlander or
other student having a desire or aptitude for Celtic or Gaelic
study. A perusal of the articles themselves will satisfy any reader
that the importance of the volume has not been over-estimated in
our opening commendation. It is not our intention to enter into
a detailed criticism of the various articles which the volume
embraces; it must suffice if little more is done than the mere
naming of the most valuable of them, and we recommend the reader
not only to read the Transactions for himself, but to become a
member of the Society, and thus place himself in contact with
such wholesome and patriotic influences as emanate from it. In
point of intrinsic value, we must award the palm to the contribu-
tions from the pen of Mr, Macbain, Rector of Raining’s School,
Inverness, whose papers on a subject somewhat cognate with
those treated of in the volume before us, have, during the past
year or two, enriched the pages of this magazine. Mr. Macbain’s
first paper is on so-called “Druid Circles.” The article is
replete with interest, and is the result of most conscientious
investigation alike of the available literature on the subject, a
comparison of the remains with those met with in other
countries, and a minute inspection of many of the circles
so numerous in this country itself. To enhance the value of the
paper, it is very effectively illustrated with sketches of
antiquarian remains, kindly prepared by Mr. P. H. Smart, drawing



[nverness Gaelic Society's Transactions. 47

master, Inverness. This is a feature which greatly increases the
other attractions of the volume. Mr. Macbain’s conclusion
regarding the circles in question is that whatever their origin and
purpose they are not “Druidic.” “ One thing ” he says, “is to be
noted : popular tradition knows nothing of the Druids in connec-
tion with these circles. The nearest approach to the Druidic
theory is where in one case the popular myth regards the stones
as men transformed by the magic of the Druids. In fact, there
is no rational tradition in regard to them. T7ey belong to a period
to which the oldest tradition or listory of the present race cannot
reach.” Proceeding next to discuss the question what these
remains really were, Mr. Macbain comes, at the close, to be of the
following opinion :—“ Our positive results are that the stone circles
were built by prehistoric races—in this country probably by the
Picts—that theyare connected with burial, though built independent
of mounds and other forms of tomb ; that they are also connected
with ancestor worship, and that the whole difficulty resolves itself
into the question of why they are of circular form, and why the
stones are set at intervals.”

This paper is followed immediately by another from the same
hand on the “Ancient Celts,” and in point of historical and
philological importance it is sure to hold a high place in the
estimation of Celtic scholars.

It is not often that after-dinner oratory is considered worthy
of permanent preservation, but the proceedings of the thirteenth
annual dinner, and specially the speech of the Chairman, Lochiel,
will be read with warmest interest in connection with the social
revolution which has occasioned them. The speech was
delivered on the evening before the Landlord Conference,
Confession, and Capitulation at Inverness, and may be
said to have been a foreshadowing of what was done
at that Conference. Then follows another paper on the
“Book of Deer,” by Mr. Macbain. We cannot speak in terms too
high of the philological merits of thisarticle. The vocabulary alone
which accompanies it is simply invaluable, and evinces an im-
mense amount of diligent study and careful observation. Other
papers of great interest are that on “ MacMhaighstir Alasdair,” by
Mr. William Mackay; “The Gaelic Names of Birds,” by Mr.
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Charles Fergusson; “ Ministers of Tongue, 1726-63,” by Mr. Hew
Morrison; and one of special importance and linguistic interest,
by Professor Mackinnon, on the “Fernaig Manuscript.” Besides
these, there are minor contributions on such subjects as Celtic
Topography, The Social Condition of the Highlands, Sir Robert
Munro, Old Contracts of Friendship, Old Gaelic Songs, The
Educational Power of Gaelic Poetry, Celtic Poetry, Mackintosh’s
Cairn in Glen Tilt, The Characteristic and Social History of the
Gael, and Letters of Simon Lord Lovat, 1739-43. The merit and
interest of these papers are guaranteed by the fact that they are
from the pen of men who are not only genuine Gaels, but who
have, by speeial study in the various departments of Celtic
history, lore, and antiquarian research, made themselves masters
of the subject.

Doubtless, Inverness is regarded as the Capital of the High-
lands, and is naturally a centre of Celtic influence, and within
easy reach of ample materials of Celtic study, but we se¢ no good
reason why other places of even much less pretension might not
have their Gaelic Societies doing similar work to that so admir-
ably done by the Gaelic Society of Inverness.

We again strongly commend this volume, and trust we may
accept it as only the first fruits of a great harvest of Highland
literature ; for even yet there is a vast field to reap, and the winter
is fast approaching, but, alas! we fear “the labourers are few.”
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THE HISTORY OF THE MACLEODS.
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( Continued.)

II. TorMOD MACLEOD, eldest son and male representative of
Leod, son of Olave the Black, King of Man, as we have seen, suc-
ceeded to two-thirds of the lands of Glenelg (the other third being
the property of Hugh Fraser, Lord of Lovat), and afterwards to
Harris, and the lands, already described, in the Isle of Skye. The
lands of Glenelg were held of the Crown, while his other possessions
were held of the Earls of Ross and Lords of the Isles before the
forfeiture of that family, as appears from a charter in which these
facts are narrated, and by which the lands are granted by James
IV. to Alexander Macleod, on condition of his holding in readi-
ness, for the King’s service, one ship of twenty-six oars and two
galleys of sixteen. The Macleods must have occupied a promi-
nent position long prior to this date, for a charter, granted by
Donald of the Isles, grandson of the great Somerled, and styling
himself King of the Isles, to Lord John Bisset, and dated at his
Castle of Dingwall on the 1gth of January, 1245, is witnessed by his
“most beloved cousines and counsellors,” Macleod of Lewis, and
Macleod of Harris. The lands of Glenelg were granted between
1307 and 1314 by King Robert the Bruce to Thomas Randolph,
as part of the Earldom of Moray, from which it may be in-

4
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ferred, notwithstanding that Douglas says he was “a faithful and
loyal subject,” Macleod was opposed to Bruce in his successful ef-
forts against the attempts of the English, under Edward the First,
to subdue Scotland at that time, and whose prowess culminated so
brilliantly for the Scottish nation on the glorious field of Bannock-
burn, on the 24th of June, 1314, and it is instructive to find in
this connection that the Macleods are not mentioned by the
earlier historians among those clans said to have been present at
the Battle of Bannockburn. We are told in the ‘“Anecdotes of
Olave the Black, King of Man,” that Olave went to Norway to
complain to Haco, the King, of the great hostilities carried on at
the time by the Scotch in the Western Isles, and that he was sup-
plied with a fleet of twenty ships. “When Ottar Snackoll, Paul
Bolka, and Ungi, Paul’s son, heard this, then sailed they south-
ward before Skye, and found in Westerford (said to be Loch
Bracadale), Thorkel Thormodson. And they fought with him,
and Thorkel fell there, and two of his sons. But his son, Tormod,
came off in this manner; he leapt into a boat, which floated there
by its ship, and it with him was wrecked on Skotland.” Tormod
Macleod was succeeded by his son.

III. MALCOLM MACLEOD, of Glenelg and Harris. We have
already seen that about 1343 King David Bruce granted him a
charter of the greater portion of the lands of Glenelg* lands
which he and his successors always held of the Crownt This
charter, from King David 11., Dilecto et fidelo nostro Malcolmno
Sfilio Tormodi Macleod, pro homagio et servitio suo, duas partes
tenements de Glenelg, viz., octo davatas, et quingue denariatas terre,
cum pertinentiis, infra vicecomitatum de Inverness.  Faciendo
nobis et haeredibus nostris predictus Malcolimus, et haeredes sui,
Servitinm wiius navis triginia et sex vemorum, quoties super hoc per
nos fuerint requisiti, prout facere tenebantur tempove patris nostri,
etc. This charter is not dated, but all the authorities agree that it
was granted in or about the year 1343.

Malcolm had three sons—

1. John, his heir and successor.

2. Tormod, progenitor of several families in Harris, one of

* Robertson’s Index, and Origines Parochiales Scotie.
t Gregory’s Western Isles, p. 37.
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whom possessed the Island of Bernera, in the Sound,
“before Sir Norman got it from the family as his
patrimony.”*

3. Murdo, ancestor of the Macleods of Gesto, of whom in
their proper place, when we come to treat of the branch
families of the Clan,

Malcolm, on his death, was succeeded by his eldest son and

heir.

IV. JoHN MACLEOD, who was designed both of Glenelg and
Harris. He was head of the Clan in the reign of Robert IT.—
1370-1390—and died shortly after the accession of Robert III.,
who ascended the throne in the latter year.

John married and had issue, two sons and one daughter—

1. Malcolm, who died before his father, unmarried, and

2. William, who, on the death of his brother, Malcolm,
became his father’s heir,

3. A daughter, who married Lachlan Maclean of Duart,

He was succeeded at his death by his only surviving son,

V. WILLIAM MACLEOD, who, having been educated for the
Church, was known as Uillean Cleireack, or William the Clerk.
While a youth, he appears to have received some lasting insult in
the Fraser country, and, soon after he succeeded to the Macleod
estates, he made a raid into the Aird, and carried away a great
number of cattle, with which he proceeded to Skye, where he
had them all slaughtered in Harlosh, at a place to this day called
“Bun a Sgeamhaidh,” or the place of the offals. On another occa-
sion his lands were invaded by the Macdonalds, Lords of the
Isles, who carried away a great spoil, but Macleod came
upon them unawares, by a clever stratagem, close to Loch
Sligachan, where he completely routed them, and got possession of
the stolen cattle, which were divided among his followers at a
rock still called Craggan an Fheannaidk, or the Rock of the
Skinning, to indicate where the cattle were slaughtered.

Tormod married a daughter of John Maclean of Lochbuy,
Mull, and by her had,

1. John, his heir and successor.

* Douglas’s Baronage, p. 375.
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2. Tormod, from whom a sept called Clann Mac-Mhic
Uilleamn, the Macleods of Borline, and Clann Mac-
Mhic-Alastair Ruaidk, of whom the Macleods of
Balliemore, St. Kilda, and several other minor families
were descended.

3. George, who went to France, and settled in the Province
of Lorraine, where many of his descendants acquired
property, and where, we are informed, not a few of his
posterity are living at the present day.

William did not inherit the property long, he having died a
few years after his father, when he was succeeded by his eldest
son,

VI. JouN MACLEOD, whose name is mentioned in a charter
granted to his grandson, William Macleod, by James IV. in
1498, where the grantee is described as Alexander Macleod, “the
son and heir of William o/4»n Maklodesoun of Dunbeggane,”
that is, the son and heir of William, John Macleod’s son of Dun-
vegan. John was a man of great stature and strength, undaunted
courage and resolution. He was among the Western chiefs who
accompanied Donald of the Isles, and fought with him at the
Battle of Harlaw in 1411, in the main body of the Highland army.
Hugh Macdonald, the Sleat ‘‘ Seannachaidh,” informs us that
“ Macdonald set his men in order as follows :—He commanded
himself the main battle, where he kept most of the Islanders,
and with the Macleods, John of Harris and John of the Isles.”*
John married a daughter of Douglas, by whom he had issue—

1. William, his heir and successor.

2. Tormod, from whom the Macleods of Meidle, long extinct
in the male line. From this Tormod were also
descended the Macleods of Drynoch, Balmeanach ;
a sept known as “Sliochd Ian Mhic Leoid,” and
several others.

3. Margaret, who married Roderick Macleod of the Lewis,
with issue.

John Macleod died in the Island of Pabba, in Harris, early in

the reign of James I1., when he was succeeded by his eldest son,

* Quoted in Mackenzie’s Iistory of the Macdonalds and Lords of the Isles, p. 68,
from the Collectanca de Rebus Mbanicis,
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VII. William Macleod, who is named, with Roderick of the
Lewis, as witness to a charter granted by John, Earl of Ross, to
his brother Hugh, and dated the 28th of June, 1449. The two
Chiefs are described as Willielmus Macleod de Glenelg, et Rodericus
Macleod de Lewes. He fought, at the head of his clan, with this
John, Earl of Ross, against his bastard son, Angus Og, and was
killed in a naval engagement which took place between them at
the Bloody Bay, in the Sound of Mull, near Tobermory, where
Angus defeated his father, and got himself fully established in
possession of the leadership and territories of the Clan. The heir
of Torquil Macleod of the Lewis was also mortally wounded at
this battle, and he afterwards died of his wounds, on his way
north, at Dunvegan,* without issue.

In a charter under the great seal, by John of Isla, Lord of the
Isles, dated the 22nd of December, 1478, in favour of Alexander
Leslie de Wardes, we find, among the witnesses, along with Colin
Earl of Argyle, Lachlan Maclean of Duart, and Hector Maclean
of Lochbuy, the names of William Macleod of Glenelg and
Harris, and Torquil Macleod of Lewis ; and in both the charters
William’s name is placed first in order. He was a renowned and
brave warrior, and when slain at the engagement of the Bloody
Bay, in 1480, he was very advanced in years.

In 1460, William Macleod of Harris accompanied Hugh of
Sleat and ‘“the young gentlemen of the Isles” in a raid to
Orkney, fully described in Mackenzie's History of the Maedonalds
and Lords of the Isles, pp. 151-152. Trouterness was at this time
held of the Lords of the Isles by the Macleods of Harris, and in
1498 “King James IV. granted in heritage to Alexander
M‘Cloide, the son and heir of the deceased William John Mak-
lodesone of Dunbeggane, two unciates of the lands of Trouternes,
together with the bailiary of the whole lands of Trouternes,
lying in Skye in the Lordship of the Isles, which had been
forfeited by Lord John of the Isles, for service of ward, relief, and
marriage, with the maintenance of a ship of 26 oars, and two ships
of 16 oars, both in peace and in war, for the use of the King or

* Hugh Macdonald’s Manuscript History of the Macdonalds. See also Gregory’s
Western Isles, p. 73+
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his lieutenants, reserving to the King the nests of falcons within
the lands, and all the other usual services.”*

William married a daughter of John Maclean of Lochbuy,
with issue—

1. Alexander, his heir and successor, and

2. A daughter, who married Lachlan Maclean of Duart. He
was succeeded by his only son.

VIII. ALEXANDER MACLEOD, known among the High-
landers as “Alastair Crottach,” or the Humpbacked. In 1498,
he, with Torquil Macleod of the Lewis, paid homage to James
IV. at the Royal Castle of Campbellton, in Kintyre, when the
King granted him a charter as “ Alexander Makloid, the son and
heir of William John Maklodesoun of Dunbegane,” of six
unciates of Duirinish and other lands, forfeited by John, Lord of
the Isles, of whom they were held by his father, William Macleod,
for the same service as the lands of Troternish.t Another charter
is quoted in Douglas’s Baronage, dated the 15th of June in the same
year, in the following terms:—Dilecto et fidelo nostro Alexandro
Macleod, filio et haeredi quondam Willielni, Fohannis Macleod
soun de Dunvegan, terrarum de Avdmannach in Herage de Lewes}
et cum omnibus minutis insulis ad dictum Arvdmannack pertinen.
tervarum de Dunynys, tevrarum de Meginisk, tevravum de Braca-
dale, tevre de Lindale, terrarum de Trotterness, cunme officio balrvatus
totarum et integrarum predict. tervarum de Trotterness in Skye,
que fuerent quond. Willielmi Macleod hereditarie, etc., etc.,
“which lands,” Douglas says, “were held of the Earls of Ross
and Lords of the Isles before their forfeiture, but afterwards of the
Crownward, for holding in readiness one ship of 26 oars, and two
of 16, for the King’s service, when required, reserving also to the
King and his successors the airies or nests of falcons within the
same bounds.” The same writer says that “he afterwards got a
charter from James V., Alexandro Macleod de Dunvegane terrarum
baronie de Glenelg cum molendinis, etc., in Inverness-shire, dated
the 13th of February, 1539.” The year at that date ended in

* Origines Parochiales Scotie, p. 351., Vol, II., Part L.
t Register of the Great Seal, Book xiii,, No. 305.
+ Ardmanach of Lewis is the older name for what we now call Harris, The
date of this charter is also given in the Origines Parockiales Scobie.
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April, so that this is probably the charter referred to in the
Origines Parochiales Scotie, as granted in 1540. This charter was
soon after revoked.

In 1504, Alexander Macleod of Harris was in constant
communication, and strict friendly alliance with the King, for the
good government of the Isles, and Macvicar, an envoy from Mac-
leod to the King, remained at Court for three weeks at that
period ; and when nearly all the Western chiefs had joined Donald
Dubh of the Isles in his efforts to gain the Island lordship, power-
fully aided, among the rest, by Torquil Macleod of the Lewis; who
was, in 1506, solemnly forfeited in Parliament, he having refused
to surrender and take his trial for high treason for his share in that
rebellion, and of which he is described by Tytler as “the great
head.” All this time Macleod of Harris remained quite loyal to
the Crown, but when Sir Donald of Lochalsh broke out in rebel-
lion after the Battle of Flodden, at the head of the Western chiefs,
Macleod of Harris and Dunvegan joined his followers, and we
find him, with Lachlan Maclean of Duart, who had previously
possessed himself of the Royal Castle of Cairnburgh, seizing the
Castle of Dunskaich in Sleat, and, immediately afterwards, Sir
Donald Gallda of Lochalsh was proclaimed Lord of the Isles.

In 1514, Macleod of Harris and Macleod of Lewis were
both exempted from the remission and terms of surrender,
offered to the less prominent and violent followers of Sir Donald
of Lochalsh. Alexander is again on record in 1515. In 1517
he, with the Earl of Argyll and several other chiefs, presented
petitions to the Privy Council, making certain offers and sugges-
tions in connection with the affairs of Sir Donald Gallda, the
principal one of which was to advocate the suppression of Sir
Donald and his rebellious followers, of which Macleod himself
was one of the most prominent a few years before. Macleod and
Maclean of Duart, finding Sir Donald of Lochalsh had disap-
pointed them, in every respect, and refused to follow their advice,
became disgusted and resolved to apprehend him, and to deliver
him up to the Regent. Donald, however, discovered the plot,
and escaped, but they made his two brothers prisoners, and
offered them up to palliate their own rebellious proceedings.
This appears from their petitions to the Regent and the
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Privy Council at the time, recorded in the Books of Council
xxix.,, folio 211. In the same year, he, and about a hundred
others, received permission, under the Privy Seal of King James
V., to pass to any place within the Kingdom of Scotland during
the period between the 6th of January and the 15th of March.
On the last-named day, in the same year, he and his friends
obtained a remission for the part they took in assisting Sir
Donald of Lochalsh in his treasonable doings with Alexander
Lord Hume, on giving hostages for their good and loyal behaviour
in future; but he demanded, in addition, a heritable grant of the
lands of Troternish. This was refused, but he was permitted
to continue in these lands a King’s tenant as formerly.

In 1528 serious disturbances broke out in the Isles in
consequence of certain titles granted by the Earl of Angus, who
had possession of James V. in his youth, having been declared
null and void by the King, on gaining his freedom from the Earl;
and it was at the same time provided that in future no lands
should be bestowed in the West Highlands and Isles without the
advice of the Privy Council and of the Earl of Argyll, then the
King’s Lieutenant in the West. During this disturbance it
was considered a suitable opportunity for opening up an old
feud which existed between the Macleods of Dunvegan and the
Macdonalds of Sleat respecting the lands and Bailliary of Troter-
nish, in the north end of the Isle of Skye. To understand the
feud between these families properly it will be necessary to go
back a little on what has been already said. Gregory puts the
facts very clearly, and we cannot do better than give the substance
of what he says :—By a charter under the Great Seal, in August,
1498, the office of Bailliary, with two wnciates of the lands of
Troternish, was confirmed to Alexander Macleod of Dunvegan, as
formerly held by him under the Lord of the Isles, and then in the
hands of the Crown, by the forfeiture of that nobleman. Two
months later, another charter passed under the Great Seal, grant-
ing the same office, and eight merks of the lands, to Torquil
Macleod of the Lewis, on precisely similar grounds. Both charters
seemed to have been rendered null by the general revocation in
1498, or 1499. In 1505 the eighty merks lands of Troternish
were let, by the Commissioners of the Crown, for three years, to
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Ranald Bane Allanson of Moydert. In 1510, Archibald Dubh,
Captain of the Macdonalds of Sleat, was acting as Baillie of
Troternish, and a letter was directed under the Privy Seal to the
tenants in his favour. Ranald Bane of Moydert was executed at
Perth in 1513; and Archibald Dubh was soon afterwards killed by
his nephews, the sons of his murdered brothers. Macleod of
Dunvegan, who was principal crown tenant of Troternish for some
time before 1517, had his lease continued from that year until the
majority of James V. Under the government of the Earl of
Angus, Dunvegan obtained also an heritable grant of the lands of
Sleat and North Uist; and thus became additionally exposed to
the hostility of the Macdonalds of Sleat. The latter chief sought
the assistance of his uterine brother, John MacTorquil Macleod
(son of Torquil Macleod of the Lewis, forfeited in 1506, and
nephew of Malcolm, the then Lord of Lewis), a man like himself,
without legal inheritance of any kind, to expel Macleod of Dun-
vegan and his clan from Troternish. In this way they were
successful, and also in preventing him from putting in force his
charter to the lands of Sleat and North Uist. Troternish was
again occupied by the Macdonalds of Sleat; and John Mac-
Torquil, taking advantage of the opportunity afforded him by the
death of his uncle, and the minority of the son of the latter, and
aided by Donald Gruamach and his followers, seized the whole
barony of Lewis, which, with the command of the Siol Torquil,
he held during his life.

In 1831, Alexander Macleod of Dunvegan had been re-
peatedly summoned before Parliament, but he refused to appear.
In 1538, he and John Macleod of Lewis are found among
nine of the Island Chiefs who had sent in offers of submission in
connection with a new rebellion headed by Alexander Macdonald
of Isla. They were promised protection against Argyll, who
led a strong force against them, on condition that they should go
to Edinburgh and meet the King there, or anywhere else, where
he might be holding his Court, before the 2oth of the following
June, and remain there as long as they were required to do so;
and when they left Court for their homes they were to have pro-
tection for twenty-one days, that they might return to their
respective residences without molestation from any quarter.
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Argyll, however, died during this year, and nothing was done.
After various negotiations, the Western Chiefs were reinstated in
their lands. In May, 15309, Troternish was again invaded and laid
waste by Donald Gorme of Sleat and his allies. The Macleods of
Lewis and Macleod of Dunvegan complained to the Privy
Council of their conduct. Donald Gorme was killed shortly afterin =
Kintail, and several of his accomplices received remissions for this
raid into Troternish and other offences, in 1541. Tradition
relates that the allies followed the Macleods of Lewis to Skaebost,
where a battle was fought at a place called Acknafola (the
field of blood), and that several heads cut off in the fray
floated by the River Snizort into the yair at the mouth of the river,
and therefore still called Coire-nan-Ceann, the yair of the heads.
Mackenzie of Kintail aided the Macleods against the Macdonalds
of Sleat on this occasion in Troternish, and hence the raid of the
Macdonalds to Kintail, where their Chief lost his life while laying
siege to the Castle of Eileandonain.

In 1540 the King headed an expedition by sea to the Western
Isles in person. After visiting Sutherland, and other parts of the
Northern coasts of Scotland, he proceeded to the Lewis, where
Roderick Macleod, with his leading kinsmen, were compelled to
join the Royal fleet and accompany the King in his further
progress. On their arrival on the West Coast of Skye, Alexander
Macleod of Dunvegan and several of the leading men of his clan
were seized, obliged to go on board, and to accompany his
Majesty in the fleet. Nearly all the Western Chiefs were
similarly treated, but some of them were soon after set at liberty,
on giving hostages for their future good behaviour; while the
more turbulent were kept in confinement until after the death of
James, in 1542. In 1540, Alexander and twenty-three others
received ‘a remission from James V. for the assistance given by
them to David Hume, Sir Donald Gallda of Lochalsh, and their
accomplices, described as “the King’s rebels.” In 1545, Macleod
of Dunvegan and Roderick Macleod of the Lewis were members
of the Council of Donald Dubh, who had been proclaimed Lord
of the Isles for the second time. In the same year, after the
death of Donald Dubh, the Macleods of Dunvegan disputed the
title of the Macdonalds of Sleat to their lands. In 1545, the
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Macleods of Dunvegan and of the Lewis, along with the Mac-
leans and some of the lesser clans, opposed the claims of James
Macdonald of Isla, on the death of Donald Dubh, to the Lordship
of the Isles, and they soon effected a reconciliation with the
Regent. In the same year we also find him, Roderick Macleod
of the Lewis, and forty other persons, receiving permission, under
the Privy Seal of Queen Mary, to go to the Regent and Lords
of Council on business, from the 17th of August to the 1st of
November.

We find Alexander repeatedly on record in connection with
his lands of Glenelg, which, as appears from a charter referred
to below, he granted to his eldest son on his marriage. In 1553,
one-third of the two-thirds of the lands of Glenelg, which belonged
in heritage to Alexander Macleod of Dunvegan, were apprised to
Hugh Lord Fraser of Lovat for the sum of £800 Scots recovered
by him, and in defect of movable goods. In 1535 the other two-
thirds of the same lands were apprised in favour of the same Hugh
for the sum of 2400 merks Scots as part payment of £4085 10s.
8d. contained in letters of the King, under reversion to Alexander
Macleod, on payment of these sums and expenses within seven
years. In 1536, King James V. granted to the same Hugh, Lord
Fraser of Lovat, the dues of the lands of Glenelg, which were in
the King’s hands by reason of the nonentry of the heir of the
deceased William Macleod. In 1540, the lands and barony of
Glenelg, with the castle, mills, and fishings, were resigned by Lord
Fraser, and were then granted by King James V. to Alexander
Macleod of Dunvegan. In 1541, the same King granted to
William Macleod, the son and apparent heir of Alexander Mac-
leod of Dunvegan, and to Agnes Fraser, his wife, the lands of
Arrocardich, Scallasaigbeg, Scallasaigmore, Knockfin, Pitalman,
Easter Mill, Wester Mill, Lusaw, Nachtane, Wester Corrary,
and Inchkennell, in the lordship of Glenelg, which Alexander
Macleod had resigned. In the same year the lands of Easter and
Wester Lyndale were resigned in the same way, and granted to
the same parties, as were also extensive lands in Bracadale, ex-
tending in all to £20.* In 1547, Queen Mary granted Archibald,
Earl of Argyll, the ward of all the lands that belonged to the

* Origines Parockiales Scoliw,
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deceased Alexander Macleod of Dunvegan. He was a man of great
force of character and activity in peace and war. He built one of
the towers of Dunvegan Castle, still standing, and repaired the
old Cathedral of Rodel, in South Harris, where he was afterwards
buried, on his death, at an advanced age, in 1547. His tomb,
which we have recently seen, during a visit to the old Church of
St. Clements, now called Rodel Cathedral, is in good preserva-
tion. It is elaborately sculptured with curious devices, and
bears, so far as we could make out, the following Latin in-
scription :(—

“ Hic locutur Alexander filius Vilmi MacClod dno. de Dunvegan, anno dni.,
M.CCCCC.XXVIIL.”

Mr. Seton, in a foot-note to St Kilda, Past and Present,
1878, p. 36, says, “Sir Walter Scott makes the date of the
inscription a hundred years older than it really is—viz.,, M.CCCC,,
instead of M.CCCCC.XXVIII. In a heel-ball rubbing which I
took at Rodel last July five C’s are quite apparent.” When we
visited the Cathedral in May, 1885, the five C’s were quite legible,
without any markings, but this date must be erroneous; for it is
quite clear that Alexander lived until 1547, and we are rather
disposed to think that the second X in the inscription was
originally an L, and that it should read M.CCCCC.XLVIIIL,; or
it may be that the sculpture is of a much later date, when the
actual year of Alexander’s death would not be accurately known
by those who erected it.

Alexander has been charged with the atrocious massacre of
the Macdonalds in the Cave of Eigg, but it will be shown by-and-
bye that the horrible deed did not take place for at least ten years
after Alastair Crottach’s death. '

Alexander Macleod married a daughter of Allan Cameron, .

XII. of Lochiel, with issue—

1. William, his heir and successor.

2. Donald, who, after various difficulties and negotiations with
the guardians of William’s only daughter, Mary, which
will be fully detailed in the proper place, succeeded
his brother in the estates of the family, as well as head
of the Clan.

3. Tormod, who succeeded his brother Donald.
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4. A daughter, who married James, second son of Donald
Macdonald, IV. of Sleat, with issue—John, progenitor of
the Macdonalds of Kingsburgh, and another son, Donald.
She married, secondly, Allan Macdonald, XV. of Clan-
ranald, with issue, one of whom, Donald, carried on the
representation of the family. Allan’s ill-treatment of
this lady became the cause of a fierce feud between his
family and that of Dunvegan, which was carried on for
many years, and of which an account will appear
later on. On the death of her second husband, she
married, for the third time, another Macdonald of
the family of Keppoch, also with issue.

5. Another daughter married Hector Maclean of Lochbuy,
with issue.

Alexander Crottach Macleod died, as already stated, at an
advanced age, in 1547, and was buried in the Church of Rodel.
In the arms upon his tomb, which are still to be seen, is a lymphad
or galley, the ancient armorial bearings of his predecessors.* He
was succeeded by his eldest son.

(7o be continued.)

* Douglas's Baronage, p. 377,
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ST. KILDA.
1L

WHEN the Rev. Mr. MacAulay visited St. Kilda in 1758, he was
much taken with the manner in which his vessel was hauled ashore
by the inhabitants. He describes the scene as follows :(—*“ After
having divided and formed themselves into two lines, the two
ablest men among them marched forward into the sea, each in the
front of his own little corps. Those next in strength and stature
seized tkese two leaders by the middle, and the rest, from one end
of each row to the other, clung fast to those immediately before
them, wading forward till those who were foremost in the rank,
and after them every one else in the order in which he stood, got
hold of the boat. . . . . Without giving time to any one of
us to jump out into the water, the St. Kildeans hoisted up, almost
in a moment, our little vessel, ourselves, and all the luggage that
belonged to us, to a dry part of the strand.” The arable land of
the islanders was all divided into plots by dry stone dykes, each
man’s share being distinguished by some special mark. Their
only agricultural implements at that time were a spade, a mall,
and a rake or harrow, to each croft. They turned the ground
over with the spade, raked or harrowed it carefully, removing
every little stone and weed, and pounded down every clod with
the mall. They then sowed their crops, and, after sprinkling the
surface of the land with manure, they harrowed it over again.
Their manure was prepared in the following way :—A quantity of
turf-ashes was spread over the floor of a house, and covered with
a rich friable earth. Over this was spread a quantity of peat-
dust, and, water being added, the whole mass was pounded into a
compact floor, upon which the same process was renewed again
and again, until the manure heap rose to the height of four feet or
so. To make room for this process, the houses were built in a
peculiar manner, the beds being placed in the thickness of the
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walls, which were also about nine feet in height. Each bed was
formed to contain three persons, and was entered by an opening
in the inside wall. The houses all had flat roofs, at the time of
Mr. MacAulay’s visit, so as not to catch the wind, and the walls
were all of dry stone. Inside, the house was partitioned into two
apartments, one for the cattle, and the other for the human
inhabitants.

In 1758 there were only about forty cattle on the Island,
young and old. This scarcity Mr. MacAulay attributed to the
rapacity of the steward, who, by an ancient custom, appropriated
a number of the cows, and all the milk yielded by the remainder,
to himself. The population of the Island was divided into three
classes, those possessing seven or eight cows forming the aristo-

' cracy, those who had from one to four the middle class, and those

~who had none at all the lower class. There were only ten horses
upon the Island, including foals and colts, but these were amply
sufficient for the wants of the inhabitants. Turf was brought from
the hills in wicker creels, of which, owing to there not being a
sprig of natural wood in the Island, the people were extremely
careful, covering them with skins, and lining the bottoms with
rags. The number of sheep upon St. Kilda could not easily be
ascertained at the time of our author’s visit, owing to an infamous
tax levied by the steward. According to the factorial laws of the
Isle, every householder had to give the steward every second he-
lamb, every seventh fleece, and every seventh she-lamb. In these
circumstances is it to be wondered at that the poor St. Kildeans
were chary of letting people know the extent of their sheep
stock? As far as Mr. MacAulay could calculate, however, from
his own observation, there were above a thousand sheep on St.
Kilda, and four hundred on the adjacent Island of Boreray.
Many of these animals had four horns, and were all remarkably
fruitful.

In summer time, the rocks of St. Kilda, Soay, and Boreray,
present a beautiful appearance, being covered with vast numbers
of all kinds of sea-fowl. Solan geese, fulmars, gannets, cormo-
rants, puffins, guillemots, and every variety of sea-bird cover the
crags like snow. About the beginning of November the birds
migrate to other quarters, and from that time until the following
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February not a single sea-fowl is to be seen about the Island.
The solan goose builds a large nest of all sorts of materials,
including grass, sea-weed, wood shavings, shreds of cloth, and
other articles, which it is often very difficult to account for, and
many of which the bird must have carried long distances. Inone
nest was found a red coat, and in another a brass sun-dial, an
arrow, and some Molucca beans. Mr. MacAulay gives an amusing
account of this bird’s thieving proclivities. “If,” he says, “a solan
goose finds his neighbour’s nest at any time without the fowl, he
takes advantage of his absence, steals as much of the materials of
it as he can conveniently carry, and, sensible of the injustice he
hath done, takes his flight directly towards the ocean: if the
lawful owner does not discover the injury he has suffered before
the thief is out of sight, he (the thief) escapes with impunity, and
returns soon with his burden, as if he had made a foreign
purchase.”

The St. Kildeans frequently made raids upon the solan geese
at night. So long as they heard the birds making their usual
sound, grog, grog, they advanced without much caution, but when
the sound changed to &i», bir, the token of alarm, the fowlers
halted at once. Hearing no sound, and seeing nothing to alarm
them, the birds soon became reassured, and again emitted their
melancholy grog, grog, upon hearing which the fowlers advanced
again, and, having killed one of the birds, laid him carefully in the
midst of his former companions. It is said that the living birds,
on perceiving the body of their departed friend, immediately
began to mourn over him, crying dismally, and turning his body
over with their beaks. While the birds were thus engaged in
their mournful duties, the fowlers made a sudden attack upon
them, and generally succeeded in doing great execution among
them. Another method of capturing solan geese was by means
of a floating plank, upon which a fish was placed as a bait. The
bird, perceiving the fish, rose up to a considerable height, and
descended upon the fish like lightning. The force of his fall
would drive his beak into the plank, which, being weighted, he
could not carry away, and thus became an easy prey to the
fowlers, who were on the watch for this catastrophe. The dead
birds were simply split open, washed clean, and hung up, without

A
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being salted, in little stone erections, built for storing peats, eggs,
and wild fowl.

The St. Kildeans made a kind of pudding from the fat
of the solan goose, called gzbazn. This was put into a bag
made of the bird’s stomach, and used by the people instead
of butter, as well as to cure the cough in cattle. The eggs of this
bird were gathered in May, and stored away without any care
being taken to preserve them. They were eaten raw, and often
quite rotten.

Another bird which is almost indispensable to the St. Kildean
is the fulmar, which supplies him with oil for his lamps, down for
his bed, good food, healing ointment, and many other useful
articles. When any one approaches this bird, it spouts out at its
beak about a quart of pure oil. An old woman will sit upon a
rock for hours, having in her hand several long strings with
running nooses upon them, which float out upon the wind. At
the right moment she draws them in, generally capturing one or
two birds. As soon as the bird is taken hold of] it spouts out the
oil, which is caught in a small pouch by the fowler, and preserved.
This oil is coarse and yellow, with a strong rancid smell. It is
said to be good for rheumatism, sprains, and boils. It is also a
very good lamp-oil, and sometimes the natives merely draw a wick
through the body of the dead bird, and light it at the beak, when
it burns for a long time. The Islanders have such a respect for
the fulmar that it is deemed a grave misdemeanour to take its egg.
In Mr. MacAulay’s time, each landholder in the Island had a pro-
portionate share of the rocks where the sea-fowl congregated, and
any trespass upon another man’s lot was severely punished.

Mr. MacAulay mentions another bird, called by him the lavie,
which was greatly esteemed by the St. Kildeans. This bird made
no nest, but laid her egg upon some rocky ledge, where it was so
nicely balanced as to fall into the sea if the sitting bird was startled
and flew away in a hurry. The capture of the lavie was an interest-
ing and dangerous process, and was always performed at night.
The most courageous fowlers were lowered down the cliffs by
ropes, until they reached the ledges where the birds clustered.
Each man had a broad piece of white linen upon his breast. The
birds, in the darkness, mistook these white cloths for parts of the

5
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rock, and endeavoured to cling to them, when they were at once
caught and killed. The fowler remained upon the ledge until
daylight, when he was hauled up, very often with a booty of three
or four hundred birds.

At one time there was only one boat in the Island. In winter
this boat was hauled up on shore and filled with stones and earth
to prevent its being swept away or dashed against the rocks by
the force of the winds or waves. When Martin visited the Island
in 1692, the most of the men went over to Boreray in this boat,
but, the rope which secured it having broken, the boat went
adrift, and the men were detained in Boreray from the middle of
March till the end of May, when they were rescued by the factor’s
galley. To show their friends in St. Kilda that they were all
alive, they kindled as many fires as there were men, upon the top
of a rock. This was at once understood by the people at home.
The women especially were so overjoyed at the signal that they
commenced to till the arable land like the men, and that year’s
crop, thanks to their industry, was the best known in the Island
for many years before. In October, 1759, nineteen St. Kildeans
put to sea in their only boat, bound for the Island of Boreray.
Ten of them landed there, the other nine starting in the boat for
St. Kilda. Immediately they left Boreray, however, a terrific
storm arose, which lasted for three days, during which, being
unable to land in St. Kilda, they sheltered themselves under the
lee of a high rock. On the fourth day they made for the bay,
where three of the men were washed away, the remaining six
being driven by a huge wave upon the beach, whilst the boat was
smashed to pieces. The unfortunate men who had been left in
the Island of Boreray were soon made aware of the loss of the
boat by the signals which were made them by their friends upon
the main Island. They subsisted for eight months upon wild
fowl and mutton, killing some of the sheep that were pastured on
the Island for food, and living in an ancient underground build-
ing called the Staller’s House, of which we shall have occasion to
treat further on, When the sea-fowl returned in March, they
killed and stored up sufficient to load the steward’s eight-oared
boat. Their friends at home, wishing to show them that their
bits of land were not being neglected, turned up ten different
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spots upon the northern face of the hill which was opposite to
them, and in June, 1760, they were relieved by the steward’s boat
and conveyed back to their homes, taking with them a consider-
able quantity of sea-fowl which they had killed. The St. Kildeans
have now five or six boats.

Most of the infants born in St. Kilda die before they are nine
days old of a strange and unaccountable malady. About six days
after birth they are seized with a kind of lock-jaw, followed in a
day or two by convulsions, which almost invariably prove fatal.
No clue has yet been discovered to account for the disease.
Another strange circumstance connected with the Island is that,
whenever any strangers visit it, the inhabitants, one and all, are
said to be seized with a severe cold and cough, which generally
lasts from ten to fourteen days. Martin noticed this when he
visited the Island, as also did Mr. MacAulay, and it has since been
vouched for as a fact by the Rev. John Mackay, the Free Church
minister of the Island, in his evidence before the Crofter Royal
Commission in 1883.

Mr. MacAulay states the language of the St. Kildeans to have
been a very corrupt dialect of the Gaelic, with a slight admixture
of Norse, whilst every man, woman, and child, had an incorrigible
lisp. They were very fond of music, dancing to a wretched old
fiddle with great delight. They were also good singers, and
accompanied all their duties with suitable songs, generally of their
own composition. Nearly all the inhabitants, at the time of Mr.
MacAulay’s visit, were quite illiterate, except three or four. In
1705, during the reign of Queen Anne, the Rev. Alexander
Buchan was sent to St. Kilda as a missionary, and he educated
some of the boys. Now there is scarcely a child of six years old
in the Island who cannot read some portion of the Gaelic Bible.

The men of St. Kilda are perhaps the most daring and
successful rock-fowlers in the world. The ropes which they use
when out upon a fowling expedition are highly prized. In
Martin’s time, there were only two ropes in the Island, each
about forty-eight yards long. These valuable articles were
covered with salted cow-hide, which prevented them being cut by
the rocks, When Mr. MacAulay visited the Island, nearly every
family possessed a good rope, about sixty yards long. They were
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made of three thongs of raw salted cow-hide, twisted together,
and covered outside with sheep skin. A good rope was the most
valuable possession a St. Kildean could have, and was handed
down from father to son through several generations, being
reckoned equal in value to two of the best cows in the Island.
No girl about to be married could receive a better dowry than a
good hide-rope. The manner of using them was as follows :—
Two men secured the ends round their waists, and, whilst one
planted himself firmly at the top of the cliff, the other descended
the face to the ledge which he wished to reach. After killing as
many birds as he required, he was hauled up again by his
companion at the top. Many are the hairbreadth escapes gone
through by the daring fowler, as he swings between sea and sky,
with nothing but three plies of a cow-hide between him and death. ©
Mr. MacAulay gives an astonishing instance of the bodily strength
displayed by a St. Kilda man when engaged in fowling. The
man who was at the top of the cliff suddenly lost his balance and
fell down from above. The man on the ledge, perceiving his
comrade falling, fixed his feet so firmly upon the narrow shelf
where he stood, that he was able to withstand the tremendous
jerk when his comrade’s fall was checked by the rope, and
ultimately hauled him up beside him until help came. Besides
the cow-hide ropes, the St. Kildeans had also smaller ones, about
twenty yards long, made of horse hair, which were used in less
dangerous places. They likewise set horse hair gins, secured at
the end with large stones. Martin relates a story of a man who,
walking barefooted upon the top of a rock where his gins were
set, put his foot in one of them and immediately fell over the
crag. Luckily for him, however, the noose closed upon his toe,
and he hung suspended by the horse hair cord for a whole night,
until rescued by some people next morning. A maiden’s only
dowry was frequently a pound of horse hair to make gins!

A most pleasing characteristic of these poor Islanders is their
kindness and hospitality to strangers, a fact which has been experi-
enced by every visitor to St. Kilda, from the earliest on record to
the present day. Perhaps the prettiest instance of this trait is that
given by Miss Gordon-Cumming in her book, “In the Hebrides.”
The story is as follows :—The late Admiral Otter, when visiting

|
|
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THE CONFLICTS OF THE CLANS.
( Continued.)

THE TROUBLES BETWEEN SUTHERLAND AND CAITHNESS
IN 1587-90.

THE year of God 1587, there happened some dissension betwixt
the Earls of Sutherland and Caithness. Upon this occasion
George Gordon of Marle in Sutherland (base son to Gilbert
Gordon of Gartie), had done divers attempts and indignities to
the Earl of Caithness and his servants, occasioned through the
nearness of George Gordon’s dwelling-house, which bordered
upon Caithness. These insolencies of George Gordon’s the
Earl of Caithness could not or would not endure; and, so
assembling a company of men, horse and foot, he comes under
silence of the night and invades George Gordon in his own house
at Marle. George makes all the resistance he could ; and, as they
were eagerly pursuing the house, he slays a special gentleman of
Caithness, called John Sutherland ; therewith he issues out of the
house and casts himself into the river of Helmsdale, which was
hard by, thinking to save himself by swimming ; but he was shot
with arrows, and slain in the water. This happened in the month
of February, 1587.

Alexander, Earl of Sutherland, took the slaughter of George
Gordon in evil part, which he determined to revenge, and there-
upon dealt with such of his friends as had credit at Court for the
time ; by whose means he obtained a Commission against the
slayers of George Gordon ; which being gotten, he sent 200 men
into Caithness in February, 1588, conducted by John Gordon of
Golspitour, and John Gordon of Backies, who invaded the
parishes of Dunbeath and Latheron in Caithness with all hostility,
spoiling and burning the same ; they killed John, James’s son, a
gentleman of Caithness, with some others; and this was called
Creach-lajrn,
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No sooner were they returned out of Dunbeath but Earl
Alexander, being accompanied by Uistean Mackay (who had
been then lately reconciled to his superior, the Earl of Sutherland),
entered into Caithness with all his forces, spoiling all before him
till he came to Girnigo (now called Castle Sinclair), where the
Earl of Caithness then lay. Earl Alexander escaped himself, hard
by the town of Wick, which is within a mile of Girnigo. They
took the town of Wick with little difficulty, and burnt the same.
They besieged the Castle of Girnigo for the space of twelve days,
which was well defended by the Earl of Caithness and those that
were within. Earl Alexander, perceiving that the Castle could
not be obtained without a long siege, sent his men abroad through
the county of Caithness to pursue such as had been at the
slaughter of George Gordon, if they could be apprehended ; so,
having slain divers of them, and spoiled the country, Earl Alex-
ander returns again with his host into Sutherland in the month of
February, 1588. And this was called La-na-Creich-Moire.

The Earl of Caithness, to revenge these injuries, and to
requite his losses, assembled all his forces in the year of God,
1589, and sent them into Sutherland, under the conduct of his
brother, the Laird of Murkle, who entered Sutherland with all
hostility, and, coming to Strathullie, he slays three tenants of the
Earl of Sutherland’s in Liriboll, burning the house above them ;
from Liriboll they march further into the country. The inhabi-
tants of Sutherland, being conducted by Uistean Mackay and
John Gordon of Backies, met with the Caithness men at a place
called Crissaligh, where they skirmished a little while, with little
or no slaughter on either side; and so Murkle retired home into
Caithness. In exchange hereof, Alexander, Earl of Sutherland,
sent 300 men into Caithness, conducted by John Gordon of
Backies, the same year of God, 1589, who, entering that county
with all hostility, spoiled and wasted the same till he came within
six miles of Girnigo, killed above 30 men, and returned home
with a great booty. This was called Creach-na-Caingis.

The Earl of Caithness, to repair his former losses, convened
his whole forces the year of God, 1590. He entered into Suther-
land with all hostility, and encamped beside the Backies; having
stayed one night there, they returned homeward the next day,
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driving a prey of goods before the host. By this time some of
the inhabitants of Sutherland were assembled to the number of
500 or 400 only, and, perceiving the Caithness men upon the
sands of Clentrednal, they presently invade them at a place
called Clyne. - There ensued a sharp conflict, fought with great
obstinacy on either side, until the night parted them. Of the
Sutherland men, there were slain John Murray, and sixteen
common soldiers. Of the Caithness men, there were killed
Nicholas Sutherland (the Laird of Forse’s brother), and Angus
MacTormoid, with thirteen others. Divers were hurt on either
side.

The next morning timely the Earl of Caithness returned with
all diligence into Caithness, to defend his own country ; for, while
he was in Sutherland, Uistean Mackay had entered with his
forces into Caithness, and had spoiled that country even to the
town of Thurso ; but, before the Earl of Caithness could overtake
him, he returned again into Strathnaver with a great booty.

Thus they infested one another with continual spoils and
slaughters, until they were reconciled by the mediation of the Earl
of Huntly, who caused them meet at Strathbogie; and a final
peace was concluded there, betwixt these parties, in the month
of March, 1591. Here ends this book of Sutherland.

THE TROUBLES BETWEEN THE EARLS OF HUNTLY
AND MORAY.

The instruments of this trouble were the Laird of Grant and
Sir John Campbell of Calder, knight. The Knight of Calder had
spent the most part of his time in Court, where he was familiar
with Chancellor Maitland, from whom he received instructions to
engender differences betwixt Huntly and Moray ; which commis-
sion he accomplished very learnedly, and inflamed the one against
the other, by the Laird of Grant’s means. Thus, James Gordon
(eldest son to Alexander Gordon of Lismore), accompanied with
some of his friends, went to Ballindalloch, in Strathspey, to assist
his aunt, the widow of that place, against John Grant, tutor of
Ballindalloch, who went about to do her son injury, and to detain
her rents from her. James Gordon coming thither, all was
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restored unto the widow, a small matter excepted ; which, not
understanding, he would have from the tutor, thinking it a
disgrace to him and to his family if his aunt should lose the least
part of her due. After some contestation, there was beating of
servants on either side; and, being put asunder at that time,
James Gordon and his company retired home. Hereupon the
family of Lismore do persuade John Gordon (brother to Sir
Thomas Gordon of Cluny) to marry the widow of Ballindalloch,
which he did. The tutor of Ballindalloch, grudging that any of
the surname of Gordon should dwell among them, fell at variance
with John Gordon, by the laird of Grant’s persuasion, and killed
one of John Gordon’s servants; whereat John Gordon was so
incensed, and pursued so eagerly the tutor and such of the
Grants as would assist, harbour, or maintain him or his servants,
that he got them outlawed, and made rebels by the laws of the
Kingdom ; and, further, he moved his chief, the Earl of Huntly,
to search and follow them by virtue of a Commission as Sheriff of
that shire. Huntly besieges the house of Ballindalloch, and
takes it by force the 2nd day of November, 1590 ; but the tutor
escaped. Then began Calder and Grant to work their premedi-
tated plot, and do stir up the Clan Chattan and their Chief,
Mackintosh, to join with the Grants; they persuade also the Earls
of Athole and Moray to assist them against Huntly. They show
the Earl of Moray that how he had a fit opportunity and occasion
to make himself strong in these north parts, and to make head
against the House of Huntly; that they and all their friends
would assist him to the uttermost of their power ; that Chancellor
Maitland would work at Court to this effect against Huntly ; so
that now he should not slip this occasion, lest afterward he should
never have the like opportunity in his time. Hereupon the Earls
of Moray and Athole, the Dunbars, the Clan Chattan, the Grants,
and the Laird of Calder, with all their faction, met at Forres to
consult of their affairs, where they were all sworn in one league
together, some of the Dunbars refusing to join with them.
Huntly, understanding that the Earls of Moray and Athole did
intend to make a faction against him, assembled his friends with
all diligence, and rides to Forres, with a resolution to dissolve their
Convention. “Moray and Athole, hearing of Huntly’s coming
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towards them, leave Forres and flee to Darnaway, the Earl of
Moray’s chief dwelling-place. The Earl of Huntly follows them
thither ; but, before his coming, the Earl of Athole, the Lairds of
Mackintosh, Grant, Calder, and the Sheriff of Moray had left the
house and were fled to the mountains; only the Earl of Moray
stayed, and had before provided all things necessary for his
defence. Huntly, coming within sight of the house, he sent John
Gordon before-mentioned, with some men to view the same ; but
John, approaching more hardily than warily, was shot from the
house, and slain with a piece by one of the Earl of Moray’s
servants. Huntly, perceiving the House of Darnaway furnished
with all things necessary for a long siege, and understanding also
that the most part of his enemies were fled to the mountains, left
the house and dissolved his company, the 24th of November,
1590. The Earl of Huntly thereupon hastens to the Court,
and doth reconcile himself to Chancellor Maitland, who
shortly thereafter (not so much for the favour he bore to
Huntly as for the hatred he had conceived against the Earl of
Moray for Bothwell’s cause), did purchase a commission to Huntly
against the Earl of Moray, caring little in the meantime what
should become either of Moray or Huntly. The year of God,
1591, Huntly sent Allan Macdonuill-Duibh into Badenoch against
the Clan Chattan; after a sharp skirmish the Clan Chattan were
chased, and above fifty of them slain. Then Huntly sent Mac-
Ronald against the Grants, whom MacRonald invaded in Strath-
spey, killed eighteen of them, and wasted all Ballindalloch’s lands.
The year of God, 1591, the 27th of December, the first raid of the
Abbey was enterprised by the Earl of Bothwell; but, failing of his
purpose, he was forced to flee away, and so escaped. The Duke
of Lennox and the Earl of Huntly were sent into the West with
a commission against Bothwell, and such as did harbour him; but
Bothwell escaped before their coming. Then took the Earl of
Moray his fatal and last journey from Darnaway south to Duni-
bristle, where he did harbour and recept the Earl of Bothwell.
Huntly being now at Court, which then sojourned at Edinburgh,
urges Chancellor Maitland for his commission against the Earl of
Moray; and, having obtained the same, he takes journey with
forty gentlemen from Edinburgh to the Queen’s Fenry, and from
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thence to Dunibristle, where he invades the Earl of Moray.
Huntly, before his approach to the house, sent Captain John
Gordon (brother to William Gordon, laird of Gight) to desire the
Earl of Moray to give over the house and to render himself, which
was not only refused, but also Captain John Gordon was deadly
hurt by a piece by one of the Earl of Moray’s servants at his very
first approach to the gates; whereupon they set fire to the house
and forced the entry. Huntly commanded the Earl of Moray to
be taken alive, but the laird of Cluny, whose brother was slain at
Darnaway, and the laird of Gight, who had his brother lying
deadly wounded before his eyes, overtaking Moray, as he was
escaping out of the house, killed him among the rocks upon the
seaside. There was also the Sheriff of Moray slain by Innes
of Invermarkie, which happened the 7th day of February, 1591,
Presently hereupon Huntly returned into the North, and left
Captain John Gordon at Inverkeithing until he recovered of
his wound, when he was taken by the Earl of Moray’s friends and
executed at Edinburgh, being scarce able to live one day longer
for his wound received at Dunibristle. Sir John Campbell of
Calder, Knight, who was the worker and cause of their troubles,
and of the miseries that ensued thereupon, was afterwards pitifully
slain by his own surname in Argyle.

The Earl of Huntly was charged by the Lord St. Colme (the
late slain Earl of Moray’s brother) to underly the censure of the
law for the slaughter of Dunibristle. = Huntly compeared at Edin-
burgh on the day appointed, being ready to abide the trial of an
assize; and, unto such time as his peers were assembled to that
effect, he did offer to remain in ward in any place the King would
appoint him; whereupon he was warded in the Blackness, the 12th
day of March, 1591, and was released the 2oth day of the same
month, upon security and caution given by him that he should
enter again upon six days’ warning whensoever he should be
charged to that effect.

After the Earl of Moray’s slaughter at Dunibristle, the Clan
Chattan (who of all that faction most eagerly endeavoured to
revenge his death) did assemble their forces under the conduct of
Angus Macdonald, William’s son, and came to Strathdisse and
Glenmuck, where they spoiled and invaded the Earl of Huntly’s
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lands, and killed four gentlemen of the surname of Gordon,
among whom was the old Baron of Breaghly, whose death and
manner thereof was much lamented, being very aged and much
given to hospitality. He was slain by them in his own house,
after he had made them good cheer and welcome, never suspect-
ing them, or expecting any such reward for his kindly entertain-
ment, which happened, the first day of November, 1592. In
revenge whereof, the Earl of Huntly, having gotten a commission
against them, assembled his power and raid into Petty (which was
then in the possession of the Clan Chattan), where he wasted and
spoiled all the Clan Chattan’s lands, and killed divers of them;
but, as the Earl of Huntly had returned home from Petty, he was
advertised that William Mackintosh, with 800 of Clan Chattan,
were spoiling his lands of Cabrich; whereupon Huntly and his
uncle, Sir Patrick Gordon of Achindown, with some few horse-
men, made speed towards the enemy, desiring the rest of his
company to follow him with all possible diligence, knowing that,
if once he were within sight of them, they would desist from
spoiling the country. Huntly overtook the Clan Chattan before
they left the bounds of Cabrich, upon the head of a hill called
Steeplegate, where, without staying for the rest of his men, he
invaded them with those few he then had; after a sharp conflict he
overthrew them, chased them, killed 60 of their ablest men, and
hurt William Mackintosh with divers others of his company.
Shortly afterward the Earl of Huntly convened his forces and
went the second time into Petty, causing Alexander Gordon of
Abergeldie, Huntly’s bailie in Badenoch for the time, bring down
his Highlandmen of Lochaber, Badenoch, and Strathdown, to
meet him at Inverness, desiring him also, in his journey towards
Inverness, to direct some men of ClanRanald’s into Strathspey
and Badenoch, to spoil and waste the laird of Grant and Mackin-
tosh’s lands, which was done; and afterward Abergeldie and Mac-
Ranald, with the Highlandmen, met Huntly at Inverness, from
whence (joining altogether) they invaded Petty, where they wasted,
burnt, and spoiled all the rebels’ lands and possessions, killed
a number of them, and then returned home into their countries.

(To be continued.)
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THE STATE OF THE HIGHLANDS A HUNDRED
YEARS AGO.

i

LAST month the first of these articles was concluded by a
reference to the state of the Church of Scotland a hundred years
ago, and the small stipends which the ministers received. There
was another class—missionaries on the Royal Bounty for the
Reformation of the Highlands and Islands of Scotland—who had
to endure great hardships for the miserable salary of £25 per
annum. For this trifling sum they had to attend punctually at
the places appointed for preaching by the Edinburgh Committee,
or be discharged from their offices. They had to set out early in
the morning, walk for a number of miles, “among almost im-
passable deserts, frequently under violent winds, rains, snow, or
hail. When they come to large waters or ferries, they are at the
mercy of the people on the opposite side, and, unless they shall
previously agree to give an exorbitant price (especially if the
ferrymen happen to be Roman Catholics) in proportion to the
inclemency of the weather, and the dangers from the
rapidity of the torrents,” they must walk round the head
of a bay or cross rivers by dangerous fords. When they do
arrive in this way at the preaching-station, they find the people,
we are told, in the same situation as themselves, ‘‘drenched with
wet, shivering with cold, and alike exposed to all the inclemencies
of weather during the time of service, and on their journey back
to their comfortless huts.” The missionaries have to endure all
this, ““sometimes without the benefit of necessary refreshments,”
and “the very expense of clothes and linens, in such situations, is
as inconceivable as insupportable.” Mr. Knox then informs us
that, while the Protestant Clergy are in this wretched condition,
having ““neither dwelling-houses nor places to preach in, those of
the Catholic persuasion in the Highlands have both, and which
are kept in excellent repair.”
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By the encouragement of the fisheries in the Western High-
lands and Islands, immense improvements would be brought
about, not only among the people themselves, but the effect, Mr.
Knox maintains, would be most advantageous to the whole
kingdom, and especially in the equipment of the Royal Navy
upon sudden emergencies. He points out that the mercantile
fleet was at that time often detained by agreements among coopers
and carpenters, while journeymen coopers on the Thames were
receiving such high wages as fifteen shillings per day for their
labour. The coopers trained in the Western Isles fishings would
become feeders to the Royal Navy and the mercantile fleet, and
in this way do away with many of the difficulties that then existed.
Among other benefits which would arise was curiously “the in-
crease of population, which would give additional force to the
centre of the empire, increase the public revenue, and extend the
demands for English produce and manufactures.” The exports
from England to Scotland, we are told, in the course of eighty
years, increased thirty-fold, and the money spent by the Scottish
nobility and gentlemen in England within the same period
increased five-fold.

Let us now accompany Mr. Knox in his journey from Edin-
burgh through Argyleshire and the Western Isles. In passing
through Stirling, he describes the old Castle, which was then used
as barracks for a garrison. “ The Parliament-House,” he says,
“is 120 feet in length, and was of a proportionable height. When
I first saw this building, the roof was entire; when I saw it a
second time, a part of the roof was bare ; and in my last journey,
the whole roof was demolished. The timbers were of oak, orna-
mented with carved work, and a great variety of figures, which it
would be difficult to explain ; as also many inscriptions in a char-
acter resembling the Hebrew. I do not find that the Antiquarian
Societies at Edinburgh have paid much attention to those ancient
remains. Some of the carved figures have, however, been sent
to Lord Hailes. The age of the old palace and the Parliament-
House is unknown. In the chapel, which is of considerable
antiquity, there is a boat that goes upon wheels, designed pro-
bably for the amusement of the Royal children. In the same
place are kept wooden models of the four principal castles in
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Scotland.” It would be interesting to find what became of these
historic relics. Proceeding westwards, our author arrived at the
Castle of Dunstaffnage, where some of the ancient Regalia of
Scotland were preserved until the early part of the 18th century,
“when they were embezzled by the keeper’s servants, during his
infirm years, probably for the silver with which the articles were
ornamented ; and nothing now (1786) remains, excepting a battle-
axe, nine feet in length, of beautiful workmanship, and ornamented
with silver. Mr. Campbell, the present proprietor of Dunstaffnage,
has also in his possession a small ivory image of a monarch sitting
in his chair, with a crown on his head, a book in his left hand,
and seemingly in a contemplative-mood, as if he was preparing to
take the coronation oath. His beard is long and venerable; his
dress, particularly his robe, edged with fur or ermine, is distinctly
represented. This figure was found among the ruins of Dun-
staffnage, and, being consequently engraved before the conquest
of the Picts, it may be considered as one of the greatest curiosities
now in our Island.” What has become of this?

Having called at Oban, Mr. Knox proceeded on his way
through the Western Isles. Referring to the quantity of grain
raised by the inhabitants, he informs us that, of every year’s
produce of barley, “a third or fourth part is distilled into a spirit
called whisky, of which the natives are immoderately fond.”
Vegetables of the very finest quality could be raised in any
quantity. The kail and cabbage were of an exceedingly fine
quality, and the turnip was of so delicate a character and so fine
in flavour that it was presented raw on gentlemen’s tables, along
with fruits and wild berries. Potatoes were then grown in large
quantities. The Highland beef and mutton were peculiarly fine
in the grain, tender and high-flavoured, and the people had any
quantity of venison, hare, partridge, solan goose, wild duck, and a
great variety of moor-fowl. Copper was found in many places,
but not in sufficient quantity to pay the expense of working.
Iron-stone abounded in many places, and lead-mines had long
been worked with success. Both white and variegated marble
was found in many parts of the country, but for various reasons it
was found to be of no practical benefit, except that it was used as
lime, and, in some cases, built into the walls of cottages! Coal
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was also found, but it was not worked with success anywhere,
except in the village of Campbelton, where a small quantity was
raised for the supply of the district. In Mull the vein was found
too thin for working, but it was in contemplation, at the time of
Mr. Knox’s visit, to open pits on the estates of Dunstaffnage and
Clanranald—we have not learned with what success. Our author
then describes at length the enormous quantities of fish which
were to be found in the Western seas, and he informs us that
“turbot, halibut, skate, soles, and flounders” were in such little
request among the people that they did not take the trouble to
fish for them. Mackerel were also despised. Regarding salmon,
he says, “the value of this fish was not known in the Highlands
till very lately,” and the fishery of it was neglected. Lobsters,
oysters, and other shell-fish received no attention whatever.
Having detailed at length these and the other sources of wealth
which existed in the Western Isles and on the West Coast, as well
as the disadvantages of these parts, our author proceeds—* Such
are the specific wealth and the specific wants of the Highlands.
But as the value of its natural produce, by sea and land, is almost
wholly absorbed by the great landholders, and by many of them
spent at Edinburgh, London, Bath, and elsewhere; as the people
are thus left more or less at the mercy of stewards and tacksmen;
the natural resources of the country, instead of a benefit, become
a serious misfortune to many improveable districts. Those who,
by their education and their knowledge of the world, might diffuse
general industry, and raise a colony of subjects, useful to their
King, to their country, and to themselves, are the very persons
who glean these wilds of the last shilling, and who render the
people utterly unqualified for making any effectual exertions in
any case whatever.” Mr. Knox informs us that, from the County
of Argyle alone, above goo men, all of whom were natives of
Campbelton and its neighbourhood, and who had been brought
up in the fishing business, carried on by herring-boats from that
part, were either enlisted or pressed into the Royal Navy. He
then proposes that an Arsenal and a Royal Dockyard, for small
squadrons and transports, should be constructed at some place on
the West Coast, and he suggests Oban as the place best adapted
for that purpose.
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The Island of Lismore at that time contained a population of
1500 people, and was so fertile that he says it might be rendered
the granary of the West Coast. The Island of Mull had a popu-
lation of 7000 people, while the rental was £7000 to £8o0o,
the Duke of Argyll drawing £4000 of that sum. The population
is now 5229. The Island exported 1500 black cattle at an
average of £3 per head, some small horses, and 300 tons
of kelp, while 200 deer roamed among its hills, but there
were no hares, At this time the village of Tobermory had no
existence. The Island of Tiree produced a rich verdure of grass,
daisies, “and herbs of a fragrancy that is almost suffocating to
those who are not accustomed to it.” A fifth part of the Island
was pure sand, and this seemed to be extending yearly. A
verdant plain of 1100 acres fed 2000 sheep, while the arable lands
produced 3000 bolls of grain, mostly barley, “of which 500 bolls
might be exported, if there were no stills for whisky” in the
Island. The Duke of Argyll drew from it a rental of £1000 per
annum,

From the Island of Coll about 400 cattle were exported
yearly, the rent of the whole Island being £700 per annum. The
population was then 1100. At the last Census it was only 643.
The Island of Canna was very fertile, and contained a population
of about 200, most of whom were Catholics, as at present. The
population in 1881 was only 57. The Island of Rum contained
300 inhabitants, and had excellent grazing for cattle and sheep.
The rental was £200. The present population is 89. Muck
contained 253 inhabitants, who paid £200 of rent, exclusive of
twenty tons of kelp every third year; and, in addition to maintain-
ing all these people, the Island, which was “mostly arable,”
exported barley, oats, potatoes, and cattle.

From this Island Mr. Knox sailed to Loch-Hourn, where he
found every house in the village empty, the whole population
having gone to the shealings. He then sailed to Arnisdale, where
he received a warm welcome from Mr. Macleod and his lady.
Mr. Macleod, he informs us, was eighty-six years of age, while
his wife was over seventy. Pennant, who paid a visit to the same
old couple, states :—* Before I could utter a denial, three glasses
of rum, cordialized with jelly of bilberries, were poured into me

6
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by the irresistible hand of good Madam Macleod.” In Mr.
Macleod’s garden Mr. Knox observed prodigious quantities of
apples, pears, gooseberries, raspberries, strawberries, currants, and
excellent vegetables of every description. At Glenelg, which
contained a population of goo people, with a church, manse, and
public-house, he was entertained in the Barracks, built in 1722,
containing twenty-four apartments, and accommodation for two
hundred men, by the commanding-officer and his whole garrison.
This commanding-officer, at the time of Mr. Knox’s visit, was an
old corporal, while his wife comprised the garrison; and the
entertainment for the guest was “snuff and whisky!” Describing
Kyle Rhea, through which he passed, he says that the tide ran
through it at the rate of seven miles an hour, “but at the lowest
ebb, this strait is the usual passage where horses and black cattle
are swam across between Skye and the mainland; for, though this
is the principal passage to that great Island, it is not accommo-
dated with a horse-ferry. When horses are to be taken over, they
are pushed off the rock into the water. A small boat with five
men attend, four of them holding the halters of a pair on each
side of the boat. When black cattle are to cross the Kyle, one is
tied by the horn to a boat; a second is tied to the first; and a
third to the second; and so on to eight, ten, or twelve.”

From among those who frequent the Lochs on the West
Coast of Ross-shire, from Greenock, Port-Glasgow, Rothesay, and
other ports upon the Clyde, we are told that “the Royal Navy is
supplied every war with 3000 men, at the most moderate compu-
tation, which number may, with some farther aid, and some
farther regulations in the fishery laws, be extended to 10,000
seamen. If to these we add 2000 men for the Fencibles, or the
marching regiments, the importance of this County will evidently
appear,” that is, as a nursery for training these seamen.

After passing through Kyle Rhea, Mr. Knox spent the next
night at the house of Mr. Macrae, Ardintoul, after which he
proceeded to the house of Mr. Matheson at Attadale. There he
met Captain Mackenzie of Applecross, and Captain Jeffries, who
had recently returned from the East Indies; and altogether a
company of eighteen or twenty sat down to supper. Our author
states that for nine miles up the glen, from Strathcarron to
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Auchnashellach, was “a populous glen,” and that the number of
people in Lochcarron, from the entrance of the Loch to the upper
end of this glen, was calculated at 1000. “Many years ago,” our
author proceeds, “the Board of Trustees at Edinburgh purchased
several acres of land at the head of the Loch, and sent Mr.
Jeffries of Kelso to instruct the inhabitants in spinning, weaving,
&c. Many small houses were built, and a number of people were
collected together, which gave the place an appearance of a popu-
lous, though detached, village. "The Trustees built a house and
warerooms for Mr. Jeffries; but the design failed, after a great
sum of money had been expended in the experiment. This
country is, however, greatly indebted to Mr. Jeffries for the
example he has shown, and the improvements he has made in
agriculture, gardening, draining, planting of trees and hedges.
The spot on which he resides, and to which he has given the
name of New Kelso, was composed of heath and bog; it is now
divided by hedges into square fields, and produces excellent
crops, which are beheld with admiration and astonishment by the
ignorant neighbourhood. So averse were these people to innova-
tions and to instruction, that Mr. Jeffries was forced to hire
soldiers, from the barracks of Bernera, for the purpose of digging,
planting, and trenching. Many thousand acres of improveable
land still lie buried under a bed of moss, which Mr. Jeffries, or his
son, would bring into agriculture, if they had the land upon a
lease of two or three lives.”

What had been done by Seaforth and Mackenzie of Apple-
cross appears to have made a good impression upon Mr. Knox,
and he believes “that nothing on their part will be wanting for
the accommodation and relief of a very numerous people.” He
then relates two incidents which we wish had been followed by
Seaforth’s successors, and other proprietors in the Highlands.
Mr. Knox says, “I heard, while in this neighbourhood, two
circumstances respecting these gentlemen (Seaforth and Apple-
cross) that merit particular notice. One of Mr. Jeftries’ sons,
who manages Seaforth’s business, had received some proposals
from south country sheep farmers, offering to take all the lands in
a certain district upon lease, at double the present rent. Mr.
Jeffries communicated these flattering proposals to Seaforth and
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desired to know what answer he should return. Seaforth wrote
him in very few lines, that ‘he neither would let his lands for
sheep pasture, nor turn out his people, upon any consideration,
or for any rent that could be offered.” The other circumstance
relates to Applecross: That gentleman, perceiving the bad policy
of servitude in the Highlands, has totally relinquished all his
feudal claims upon the labour of his tenants, whom he pays with
the strictest regard to justice, at the rate of seven or eight pence
for every day employed upon his works.”

From Lochcarron Mr. Knox proceeded to Applecross; thence
to the Island of Raasay, where he was hospitably received, and
where he slept in the same bedroom which had been occupied by
Dr. Johnson some years before. The population of the Island
was then 700 souls. At that time the Island fed a great number
of black cattle, but had “no deer, hares, or rabbits.” There are now
more rabbits than people!

From Raasay our author proceeded to Portree, where we
shall pick him up in the next article. A. M.

(Zo be continued.)
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THE TOWN OF INVERNESS COVENANTING WITH
A CLOCK-KEEPER, 1682.

[BY CHARLES FRASER-MACKINTOSH OF DRUMMOND.]

THE present public clocks in Inverness do not always keep good
time, and the same inconvenience came to such a height two-
hundred and three years ago, that the Magistrates found it neces-
sary to enter into a formal contrdct on the subject. The document
is endorsed, “Condescendence betwixt the Magistrates of Inverness
and James Kennedie, Knock Keeper, 1682.” In Slezer’s view of
Inverness, the then steeple is shown looking very small in com-
parison, as it doubtless was, with the church steeple. Inverness
has been famed for the purity of its English since the time of
Cromwell, yet here we find the words “knock” and “knock-
keeper” applied to clocks and clock-keepers, though these words
are not only purely Scottish, but almost provincial. The document
is a very curious one, showing the formality with which the
transaction was entered into. It would seem no person fitted
for the office could be had in Inverness, unless Kennedy had been
specially sent to Aberdeen to learn the business. It will be
noticed that a dial was to be put upon the steeple. Of old, every
house, particularly if a garden were attached, had its dial—a
pleasant object. The ordinary class was composed of free-stone,
with the buyer’s initials and date engrossed. Other dials were
beautiful and elaborate, one of the most noted in the neighbour-
hood of Inverness being that of the Frasers of Fairfield, which
now or lately stood on a part of what was once Fairfield land.
Follows the deed referred to :—

‘“At Inverness, the fifteenth day of February, one thousand six hundred and
eighty-two years. It is agreed, and finally ended, betwixt the parties following, to
wit :—The Magistrates and Treasurer of the said burgh, under subscribing on the one
part, and James Kennedie, knockmaker, indweller for the present at Aberdeen, on
the other part, in manner subsequent. That is to say, the said James Kennedie
faithfully binds and obliges him to waitt and attend on the Town’s Knock of this
burgh, and to keep the same in good and right order, both night and day, as
becometh ane knack, or horologue, fo be, and that he shall not suffer or permit the
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said knock to go wrong, either in striking of the hours, or in the right ordering of the
hand without. And that he shall not absent himself nor withdraw so far or long
therefrom, wherethrow it may be suffered to go wrong in the least degree. And
sicklyke, that he shall amend any break thereof when it shall happen (in the burgh
charges), so oft as the said knock requires the same. And that for all the days,
years, and space of five years next. And immediately following his entry to the said
service and attendance, which is hereby declared to be, and begin at the term of
Whitsunday next to come, in this present year sixteen hundred and eighty-two years,
from thenceforth, the said knock to be faithfully and carefully attended on, in manner
above expressed.  Sicklike the said James Kennedie binds and obliges him to put up
ane sufficient sun-dyell within this burgh on the steeple thereof when required thereto
by the said Magistrates, or their successors in office, npon the proper charges and ex-
penses of the said burgh. For which service and attendance during the said space
the said Magistrates binds and obliges them and their successors in office to pay and
deliver to the said James Kennedie his heirs, executors, or assignees, in name of
Yearly salary for his said service the sum of ane hundred pounds Scots money yearly,
and ilk year during the space above written, at two terms in the year, Whitsunday
and Martinmas, by two equal portions, beginning the first term’s payment thereof at
Martinmas next to come, for the half-year immediately preceding, and so forth yearly
and termly thereafter during the foresaid space of five years for all other wages or salary
he can ask or crave for the said attendance. And, further, the party failer binds and
obliges them and their foresaid’s Zinc inde to other to pay and deliver to the party
performer, or willing to obtemper and perform their part of the premises the sum of
fifty merks Scots money by and attour the performance thereof. And the said
failure is to be yearly for the space above written. And, further, it is hereby pro-
vided that the said James Kennedie shall be free of all public impositions, stents, and
taxations, during the foresaid space of his attendance within this burgh. And con-
sents these presents be registered in the Books of Council and Session, or any other
competent or ordinary register, to have the strength of ane decreet interponed thereto,
that all execution necessary pass thereon upon ten days’ charge only, constituting
their Procurators, &c. In witness whereof they have subscribed these presents,
written by David Cuthbert, writer there, at Inverness, day, year, and place foresaid,
before these witnesses, David Fouller, late Bailie of Inverness; John Houstoun,
merchant there; John Glen, goldsmith there; and the said David Cuthbert, and
Alexander Dunbar, younger, merchant there. (Signed), A. Dunbar, Provost; F.
Fraser, Bailie, James Stewart, Bailie, George Cuming, Thessaurer, James Kenedy.
Signed, Da. Fouller, witnes; A, Dunbar, witnes; Jo. Houstoun, witnes; John
Glen, witnes; D. Cuthbert, witnes.”
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CELTIC MYTHOLOGY AND RELIGION.,
|BY ALEXANDER MACBAIN, M.A.,, F.S.A. SCOT.]

Inverness: A. & W. MACKENZIE, 1885.

THIS work is mainly a reprint of a series of papers which
appeared in the columns of this magazine during 1883-4. The
interest which Mr. Macbain’s treatment of the subject excited
during the serial publication has fully justified him in issuing the
series, with some additions, in book form; and, doubtless, many
readers will be pleased to have the opportunity of obtaining the
work in a complete and handy shape.

The science of Comparative Mythology, itself the offspring of
the science of language, is an intellectual product of the i1gth
century. Previous to the issue of the epoch-making works of
Grimm, the German philologist, it can hardly be said that
mythology, as a system of fixed principles, however elementary,
had any existence. There were four favourite theories in vogue
previous to that time—the Scriptural, tracing all myths back to
Hebrew records—the Historical, insisting on the former real
existence on the earth of all the gods and herds in human shape
—the Allegorical, where the sole use of myths was “to point a
moral,” if they would not, as often happened, “adorn a tale’—and
the Physical, which attributed the origin of myths to the adoration
of the forces and objects of nature. The new science has pro-
ceeded cautiously in seeking for light from all quarters; and, as a
consequence of the greater stress laid by independent inquirers on
different sources of information, several ‘“schools” have arisen
under the common designation of Comparative Mythology. The
two leading contingents of the science are respectively headed by
Mr. Max Miiller, whose inferences are mostly drawn from the
study of languages, and by Mr. E. B. Tylor, with his dashing
lieutenant, Mr. Andrew Lang, whose inquiries are chiefly directed
to savage customs and beliefs and the deciphering of ancient
monuments. The myths of every known people have been more
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or less fully dealt with, thus placing at the disposal of the Com-
parative Mythologist a mass of material demanding very rare
powers of discrimination and analysis to turn it to proper account.
Mr. Macbain has prepared himself for the arduous task of inter-
preting and arranging the myths of the Celtic race, by an extensive
study of the more important works on philology, mythology, and
anthropology, which have appeared not only in English, but also
in French and German. In a subject teeming, as it does, with
such laborious detail, it is only by means of an enthusiasm, be-
gotten by the pursuit of congenial studies, that any one could
long sustain the burden of the task which the author set before
him. Those who have perused the “ Scoto-Celtic Studies” which
Mr. Macbain contributed to the Zransactions of the Inverness
Gaelic Society last year, containing excursions in the allied fields
of archzology and philology, in which the minute accuracy of the
scholar is associated with the generalising faculty of the man of
science, will at once pronounce on the singular aptitude he has
shown for the competent discussion of Celtic Mythology and
Religion—a subject which, so far as its strict scientific treatment
is concerned, has barely had its fringes touched by any previous
British author. To follow others after a beaten track has been
made, is easy enough; but where there are no pioneers to point
the way, or only a few, as in this case of foreign origin and alien
sympathies, it adds considerably to the difficulties of an under-
taking which is intrinsically of a laborious character. One has to
read only a few pages of the introduction to this work to find that
Mr. Macbain has sworn allegiance to no master; he takes the
measure of the two contending schools; and he refuses to be
bound to resolve all Celtic myths either into a series of remarks
about “the weather” (as Mr. Lang caustically characterises Max
Miiller’s theories), or “to boil them down,” under anthropological
directions, to such an extent as to take all the poetry out of them
and reduce them to a prosaic pulp. But, while dismissing from
his mind the prejudices which the avowed adoption of any parti-
cular hypothesis would involve, the author holds himself free to
allow of the modifications of his conclusions by reference to facts
established by the subsequently published investigations of others.
His preface bears evidence of this, since he there announces his
conversion to Mr. Lang’s view of the priority, in certain cases, of
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the popular or fairy tale to the religious myth, or, in Mr. Macbain’s
own felicitous phrase, that the myth is sometimes merely -a
“sublimated ” folk-tale. The French work of M. D’Arbois de
Jubainville on the “Irish Mpythological Cyde and the Celtic
Mythology,” issued after the present work was in type, also
receives marked recognition, and deservedly so, as the production
of the most representative Celtic scholar of France and the Editor
of the “Revue Celtique.” Under its former editorship (M.
Gaidoz), a preliminary paper on Celtic Mythology, by Mr.
Macbain;, was noticed thus in its. review columns, which it may
not be out of place to reproduce, as showing the opinion of the
author’s competency held by one of the first European authorities
on Celtic questions:

‘A brilliant study by Mr. Alex. Macbain on the Celtic Mythology, its principal
characters, and the method it demands. Mr. Macbain follows Max Miiller in estab-
lishing a distinction between Mythology and Folk-lore. We should have to make
some reserves on this question; but this is not the place.” (““Revue Celtique,”
April, 1883.)

As stated in the preface, Mr. Macbain has since seen fit to
abandon the distinction animadverted on by the French reviewer.

The author’s aim is fourfold. ~He brings his scholarship to
bear on the elucidation of (@), the rich treasury of ideas stored in
the traditions of the Celtic Race; (&), the comparative place held by
Celtic beliefs in relation to the whole European religious cycle; (¢),
Druidism cleared from the mist and confusion in which its treat-
ment by many previous writers had enveloped it; and (&), the
Celtic Olympus, as shown by bringing to a focus the light bearing
upon it from many scattered sources. To say that each of their
subjects has been exhaustively treated would be at once seen to be
at variance with the fact of the present work extending to little
more than 100 pages; but the amount of information conveyed is
in unusual disproportion to the extent of space covered, while this
strict exclusion of diffuseness is not gained by want of attention to
clearness of statement and abundance—but not over-abundance—
of illustration. As a specimen of Mr. Macbain’s concise, yet lucid,
style of writing, in which one sentence frequently contains matter
that might be readily expanded into pages without even a sugges-
tion of ‘padding,’ take the following :—* There is no incongruity
in at once being philosophic and superstitious ; the human mind
is very hospitable in its entertainment of quite opposite opinions,
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especially in moral and religious matters; for there is a wide
difference between theories of the intellect and practices prompted
by the emotions.” (P.47.) In his exposition of the general
subject of myths, he guards himself well against a failing to which
so distinguished a mythologist as Max Miiller is prone—the natural
desire to push his favourite science beyond its legitimate bounds.
Having demonstrated the identity of the origin of both ancient
myth and modern science in “man’s attempt to interpret his
surroundings”—a far-reaching generalisation—Mr. Macbain works
out the dependence of myth on (1), language, with regard also to
allegory and analogy; and (2), explanations of the names of
nations, countries, and places. The application of the solar myth
theory to the nursery rhyme of the “four and twenty blackbirds
baked in a pie,” gives a reductio ad absurdum to the over-zeslous
advocates of the utter dependence of myth on language ; while the
local derivation of the name of the River Ness from the Goddess
Nessa, may serve as showing how useful mythology may be in
tracing the workings of the minds of the early inhabitants of
Scotland in the naming of places or in the popular explanation of
these names. The section headed “Spread of Myth,” appears to
have been written under the preponderating influence of Max
Miiller’s ethnic theories which Mr. Lang has recently shown to be
quite inadequate, since similar myths would, naturally, spring up
among savages similarly situated. The well-authenticated accounts
of travellers among the haunts of present day savages have, in the
hands of Tylor, Lang, and others, led to the exhibition of the
untenable character of a doctrine which regarded the more promi-
nent myths as the exclusive property of the Aryan nations. From
hints in his preface, it may be inferred that this section would
require “reconstruction” to bring it into harmony with Mr.
Macbain’s more recent information.

The exigencies of space forbid anything but the barest outline
of that to which the greater part of the volume leads up—the
constitution of the Celtic Olympus. The difficulty of treating
this subject may be estimated from the fact that there are no
native accounts of it. The sources of information, generally
“scrappy” and hard to piece together into an intelligible whole,
are stray notices of Greek and Roman writers, ancient monuments
and inscriptions, names of places (such as the prevalence of Dee,
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meaning goddess), and, “last but not least,” the old heroic and
folk tales, and these principally Irish. The epic literature of
Ireland falls into three divisions—the mythological, the Cuchu-
lainn, and the Cssianic. This is the chronological order. The
completeness of Irish history, beginning with “the first ‘taking’
of Ireland by Caesair and her attendants forty days before the
flood,” has become proverbial. From such sources, Mr. Macbain,
who afterwards gives an ingenious and amusing analysis of the
“ Bardic Tales of Ireland,” has exhumed the leading deities of the
Celtic race.  As with the Greeks and Romans, their gods were
believed to have originally colonised the country. So Dagda Mor
(the “good god”), is the Gaelic Jove; Manannan, son of Lir,
represents Mercury ; Luga of the Long Arms (for rays of the
sun), Apollo; Bridget, the fire goddess, afterwards utilised, by a
common practice, as the Christian St. Bridget, with others, of
whom details are given. With such a paucity and obstinacy of
material, it is matter for wonder that Mr. Macbain has succeeded
so well in this part of his task. His independent agreement, as
to general results, with the conclusions of M. D’Arbois de Jubain-
ville, attests the caution with which he has depicted the long-
hidden features of the Celtic deities, and thus performed a distinct
service to our race, as well as contributed an interesting chapter
in comparative mythology. It it to be hoped that his scientific
method and philological acquirements will yet find even more
fitting scope in the preparation of a work dealing with many
relative questions that still remain unsettled in the same line of
study.
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IMPRESSIONS IN BENDERLOCH.

PERHAPS no district of the West Highlands is more beautiful
than that part of Argyleshire between Loch-Creran and Loch-
Etive, known as Benderloch—or the hill between the Lochs—so
named from the mountainous ridge called Sedaig Hill, or Ben-
Lora, which rolls away in broken summits from the steep cliff of
Dunvalauree above Ledaig, till it joins the mountains of Glen-
Etive. On either side of it is a loch, and in front the salt waves
of Loch-Linnhe rush in, fresh with the briny smell of the
Atlantic, and clash themselves on the steep rocks of Beregonium,
or the shingly shores of Ledaig and Ardmuchnish Bays.

Only seven miles from Oban, and three from the Railway
Station of South Connel, our abode in Benderloch, thanks to the
famous and much-dreaded Connel Ferry, was as far out of the world
as some far-off Isle of the sea-girt Hebrides; and to those who,
like ourselves, prefer rest and quietness to a fashionable holiday
resort, even to much-belauded, tourist-haunted Oban, Bender-
loch, owing to the scarcity of lodgings, and the Shian and Connel
Ferries, is simply perfect. It is surrounded on all sides by the
beautiful hills of Morven and Kingairloch, and in the distance the
Glencoe range, and the mountain peaks of Ben-Nevis and Ben-
Cruachan, both crowned with snow before we left the district,
give grandeur and dignity to the landscape. The neighbourhood
is rich in antiquarian remains, and there are delightful walks, hill-
climbing, and boating ; and in all directions the most wonderful
views, with marvellous effects of light and shadow, cloud and
sunshine.

Tourists from Oban go to see the famous Falls of Lora, which
make Connel Ferry so disagreeable, where the waters of Loch-
Etive rush with great force through a narrow passage and over a
rocky ridge, some forty-eight feet high, into Loch-Linnhe, and
the waters of Loch-Linnhe, with all the force of the returning
tide, rush back again into Loch-Etive, the wind-driven waves from
the sea loch meeting the falls; and, in certain states of wind and
tide, making the ferry at Connel a magnificent mass of broken
water and seething foam, but quite impassable for the unlucky
traveller.
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To return to the tourists, however, the more adventurous of
them cross the falls, doubtless to inspect the vitrified fort of
Beregonium, but they seldom go further, so Selma and its
neighbourhood are absolutely solitary.

As you walk towards Selma from North Connelsun, past the
long bleak stretch of Connel Moss, on which so many interesting
antiquarian remains have been found, you see Ben-Cruachan on
your right, and on your left, beyond Loch-Linnhe, the mountains
of Mull and Morven. The first object of interest is Ledaig Post-
office, the residence of Mr. John Campbell, the well-known
Gaelic poet. Mr. Campbell is a naturalist and a florist as well as
a poet, and is learned in all the antiquarian and folk-lore of the
district, and we know no pleasanter place to passa cheery autumn
afternoon than the courteous old poet’s beautiful garden, under
the steep cliff of Dunvalauree. This garden, of which many
years ago Mr. Campbell received a grant from the factor, was
only so much waste land on the loch shore and the rock face, but
the care and industry of the poet and his family have transformed
it into a perfect paradise, where many rare plants, most uncommon
in out-door gardens in Scotland, come into bloom year after year
in perfect health and beauty. Here, we are told by the writer of
‘“ Benderloch,” ripe strawberries have been found out of doors in
the last week of May, and here the poet himself has told us he
has gathered a rose on Christmas morning ; and certainly, when
we saw the Post-office of Sedaig in a wet and stormy September,
it was bright with roses and clematis, and a perfect bower of
delicate shrubs and scenery.

If you are fortunate enough to make the post-master’s
acquaintance, and with old-fashioned Highland courtesy he
extends a cordial welcome to all, you may go in and see for
- yourself one of the smallest and quaintest post-offices in Her
Majesty’s dominions, through which, by the way, we were told by
Mr. Campbell there pass a fair number of telegrams, and often as
many as a thousaud letters a week, which says something surely
for the education and intelligence of the crofters, of whom, for
there are few large houses, the sparse and scattered population
consists. In his pretty parlour, where the red roses pass in at the
windows, the poet has a little library, of which many a wealthier
man might be proud, for not a few of his well-chosen books are
presentation copies, the authors of which are numbered among
his friends. Here he will show you the urn found in the cliff of
Dunvalauree, the red agate used as a charm-stone for cattle in
more credulous days, and an old weapon of the stone-age which
was used till within quite recent times as a charm for the ailments
of horses. He has also a very curious charm-stone long applied
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to for the cure of human ills; the people, applying for cure of an
illness, held the stone in their hands till a damp oily substance
oozed from it, and in this, possibly aided by a good deal of
credulity, lay its efficacy. It was for generations in a family in
the district, whose descendant, imbued no doubt with nineteenth
century scepticism, gave it to the poet in exchange for a goodly
gift of tobacco! Outside in the garden there is part of a hand
quern, and Mr. Campbell also possesses a piece of the old spindle
once in use in the district, and some bones and oyster shells from
a lake-dwelling found on Connel Moss,

But, to return to the postmaster, in his pretty garden in the
cliff on the loch-shore there is a cave, three walls of which are
natural rock, and one partly masonry, and partly a growing tree-
trunk, and in this he has a curious old table made of a slab of
wood, from the trunk of an old tree on which The Bruce is said
to have rested after his battle with the followers of Lorne, near Dal-
mally. The cave is lighted by a window, and through this the waves
broke in the memorable storm of November, 1881—and carried out
to sea all the furniture of the cave, but fortunately all the things were
washed up at various points of the shore, and restored to their
places. Churches, in so scattered a district as Benderloch, are of
course a long distance away from many of the inhabitants, and
so the poet, who has a wonderful natural gift of preaching and
teaching, holds a Sunday evening service in his cave every week.
The service, which is partly in Gaelic and partly in English, is
half a Sunday school and half an address, and is gladly attended
by old and young; and anything more solemn or more picturesque
than the simple little service in the quaint rock chapel cannot be
imagined. But we could spend hours in the poet’s garden, so we
must pull ourselves up sharp in our stream of gossip, and turn
eastwards to Selma to see something of the inhabitants of the
district, for without a glance at the people a place is lifeless, and
in these days when the crofters are so prominently before the
public, even the superficial impression made by them on a passing
visitor may have its value.

The village of Selma consists of some half-dozen houses, and
has three shops—two general merchants’ and a shoemaker’s. Old
Selma is a picturesque row of fisher cottages, under the shadow
of Beregonium, on the Loch shore. It is to be feared Old Selma
is more picturesque than comfortable, however, for last winter the
sea swept into the cottages one stormy night, destroyed food and
furnishings, and forced the inhabitants to run for refuge to the
safer and higher houses of New Selma. The Parish Church is
some miles away, and the Free Church is two miles off, in the
direction of Loch Creran, but the parish clergyman holds some-
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times a pleasant and well-attended service in Gaelic and in English
in the School-room at Selma.

The people are all crofters, and are simple in their habits, and
particularly kindly and courteous in their manners, even the
smallest children giving you a friendly nod and smile as you pass.

The cottages are clean and tidy, though small, and most of
them have a patch of garden ground. The men, who are sober
and industrious, hold crofts, the largest of which is ten acres ; at
this time of year you see no absolute poverty, but in winter the
struggle to make both ends meet is often a very hard one. There
is little or no drunkenness, for, though the people are not teetotal,
they do not often keep whisky in their houses, and only use it at
such times as weddings, funerals, fairs, harvest homes, and New
Year’s Day, and even on these occasions the fun now-a-days
seldom degenerates into licence, a decided improvement on the
good old times, when, if all tales are true, festivity was carried to
excess, and a West Highland funeral was apt to be as wet as the
climate, so unsparing was the allowance of whisky, and so great
the thirst of the mourners.

There is no branch of the Land League in Benderloch, but
the men take an intelligent interest in politics, and appreciate
greatly the boon of the county franchise. They are not dis-
contented, but they tell you plainly that, while crofts are so small
and rents so high, it is impossible to provide for their families in
comfort, and lay by money for a rainy day. The land is poor,
and the grazing for a cow is now nearly double what it was before
the Government grant of money for the improvement of Highland
estates. At that time we were told the twenty-five years’ loan, at
the rate of £6 13s. 4d. on capital and interest, naturally raised the
rents, until the money was repaid to the landlords, and in many
cases, for one reason or another, the rents were never lowered
again to the old sum of 43 for a cow’s grazing, so that,
with no better land, rents are now often twice as high as
in the old times. The people also say that were a croft
twenty instead of ten acres, and somewhat lower rented, a
crofter could keep a few sheep, four cows, and possibly a horse,
and have steady work all the year round ; whereas now there is a
great daal of compulsory idleness, and the milk of two cows is not
sufficient to make it worth while to send the dairy produce across
the ferry to Oban, the ferries being a great drawback to the
crofters of Benderloch. That they must be, indeed, a serious
nuisance, we can well prove from personal experience, as, owing
to a violent storm, and the strong flow of the falls, we were
detained three hours and a-half at North Connel on our home-
ward journey, and had the pleasure of seeing the train puff off to
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the South full in sight, but hopelessly out of reach. Even when
crossing was barely possible, it was far from pleasant; and to have
taken across a boat-load of farm produce, or of live stock, on such
a day would have been out of the question, so that it is easy to see
what a serious drawback the Shian and Connel Ferries are to the
agriculturists of the district. = The want of fences is also a
grievance, for horses and cattle often go a great distance across
country, trampling and eating the crops as they pass. Kelp is
free, and after the September gales it was pretty to see the crofters
possessed of horses and carts, bringing up loads of the shining,
brown sea-weed for themselves and their friends. Labour is
difficult to be had, and each family is usually to be seen at
harvest-time picturesquely busy about the cutting and in-
gathering of the crops on the croft. A right of common
grazing ground on the grass near the shore is included
in the rent of the crofts, and a common herd is kept by all the
crofters to look after the cows there, and paid among them in
money and in food. Ten of them have a horse or sheep, but
most of them have two cows and a number of plump pigs and
fowls. At the fisher cottages the boats look small to an East
Coast eye, and not well suited for rough weather, and unless the
fish is taken to Oban during the short tourist season, there is not
much sale for it. This year the crops, though late, were fair, but
the weather of late September and early October coming just as
cutting began, left them in a condition that must mean a most
miserable harvest for the poor crofters. The wind and hail
ruined both the cut and standing crops, and the rain seemed to
threaten disease among the potatoes, which had promised so well.
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THE CELTIC CHURCH IN SCOTLAND,*

[BY PROVOST MACANDREW.]

WHAT I have undertaken to do to-night is to give some account
of the Christian Church as it existed in Scotland in the earliest
Christian times, and before it fell under the influence 'and authority
of the Bishop of Rome. The Christianity of Scotland came from
Ireland, and at the outset of our enquiry it is necessary to consider
when and by whom the Irish were converted. The Roman world
became officially Christian about 321, and at that time Britain, up
at least to the Southern wall, was a Roman province, and pre-
sumably it became Christian as the rest of the Empire did. We
know that a Christian Church existed among the provincial
Britons at the time the Romans took their departure, and continued
to exist among those Britons who were not subdued by the
Saxons. But whether the Christianity of the Roman Province
extended itself among the unsubdued Caledonians to the North,
or among the inhabitants of Ireland, is a matter as to which we
have no certain light. About 397, thirteen years before the final
abandonment of the province by the Romans, St. Ninian, a
bishop of the Britons, built a Church at Whithern, in Galloway,
and is said by Bede to have converted the Southern Picts; and
the Southern Picts are said by Bede to have been those living

* Read at the opening mceting of the Gaelic Society of Invemess,
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between the Friths of Forth and Clyde and the Grampian range.
Whether Bede is right in this is a matter about which I shall have
something to say farther onj; but if the Picts to the south of the
Grampians were converted by Ninian, they appear soon to have
lapsed into paganism. Again there are evidences of a tradition
in Ireland that Ninian went to that country and preached
Christianity, and he is commemorated there under the name of
Monen—the term of endearment “mo” being very frequently
prefixed to the names of saints—while, at a later period, the
monastery at Whithern, supposed to have been founded by
Ninian, was undoubtedly resorted to by Irish ecclesiastics for
instruction. Bede states that about 430, Palladius was sent by
Celestine, the Roman Pontiff, to the Scots (that is the Irish) that
believed, to be their first bishop, and from this it might be inferred
that Christianity had made some progress in Ireland before that.
In the 8th century there is no doubt the Irish believed that they
had been converted by Saint Patrick; and that a saint of this
name did go to Ireland about the year 432, and become at least a
main instrument in the conversion of the Irish, is beyond doubt.
There remains a confession or account of himself by St. Patrick,
and a letter by him to Coroticus, the British prince then reigning
at Dumbarton, which those competent to judge accept as genuine.
From these it appears that he was born in the Roman province of
Britain, that his father was a deacon, and also a decurio or
“bailie” of a Roman provincial town, that his grandfather was a
presbyter, that his father lived in “Bannavern of Tabernia,” that
in his youth he was carried as a captive to Ireland and remained
there for six years, that he then escaped and returned to his
parents, and that he afterwards went back to Ireland as a
missionary, and in or about his 45th year was ordained a bishop.
In his confession he says that he converted many in Ireland who
had hitherto worshipped unclean idols, that he had ordained
many clerics, and that the sons of the Scoti, and the daughters
of princes, were seen to be monks and virgins of Christ. All this
seems to be authentic, but it is singular that Bede, while he
mentions Palladius, makes no mention of Patrick, and that, when
about 100 years after his death, the Irish and Scottish Church
came in contact with the Church of Rome, and had to defend
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their peculiar customs, they do not appeal to the authority of
Patrie. Columbanus, in his controversy with the Clergy of Gaul,
does not mention him, nor does Colman of Lindesfarne, in his
controversy with Wilfred, in presence of King Oswy, appeal to
his authority, and Adamnan only once mentions him incidentally
as “Patrinus the Bishop.” In the Irish annals there is frequent
mention of a saint who is called Sexn, or old Patrick, and who is
said in one place to be the tutor of Patrie, and in another to have
been the same as Palladius, and the later lives of St. Patrick are
evidently made up of the acts of two distinct persons who are
confounded. !

It is certain, however, that about the year 432 Christianity
was firmly established in Ireland, and it would appear that the
type of Church then established did not differ in any respect
from the Church in other parts of the Western World. It wasa
Church with three orders of clergy—bishops, priests, and deacons
—and in which the bishops had the rule, if not over distinct
districts or dioceses, at least over the churches which they had
themselves established. The conversion of the Irish, it will be
seen, was almost contemporaneous with the final departure of the
Roman Legions from Britain, and with the arrival of the Saxons.
Soon after the time of Patrick all intercourse between Ireland and
the outer world seems to have ceased for upwards of 100 years, and
during this time there grew up in Ireland a Church constituted in
a manner entirely different from that founded by Saint Patrick,
and exhibiting features which do not appear to have distinguished
the Christian Church in any other part of the world at any time.
And after this Church had fully developed itself in Ireland, it
manifested an extraordinary missionary zeal which lasted for several
centuries, and spread its establishments from Iceland to Italy, and
covered the continent of Europe with bands of Scottish monks,
apt scholars, and eager teachers. It was to this burst of missionary
zeal that our ancestors owed their conversion in or about the
year 565.

It may be well to consider for a moment what the political
condition of Scotland was at this time. About the beginning of
the century, Fergus Mor M‘Erc, of the Royal Family of the Scots
of Dalriada, in Ireland, had led a colony of Scots into Scotland,
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and established himself in Argyleshire ; his descendants had some-
what extended their dominions, and had crossed the mountain
range separating Argyleshire and Perthshire—but about the time
of which we now speak, Brude, the King of the Picts, had attacked
them and driven them back within that range which from that
time formed the boundary of the Scottish Kingdom during the
whole time of its existence. The Picts held the whole country
north of the Friths of Forth and Clyde; the Welsh or British
Kingdom of Strathclyde, extending from Dumbarton to the River
Derwent, was maintaining a struggling existence against the
Saxons, and Galloway was inhabited by a race of Picts, who
remained distinct, and retained the name of Picts, until long after
the time of David First. It is usually said that the Picts in Scot-
land, north of the Friths, were divided into two nations, the Northern
and the Southern Picts, and that the mission of St. Columba was
to the Northern Picts. I venture to suggest, however, that this is
a mistake. The statement rests on the authority of Bede, who, as
I have mentioned, says that Ninian converted the Southern Picts.
But in Bede’s time King Oswy had extended his dominions up to
the Grampians, and thus for a time created a division between
the Picts subject to his authority, and those beyond the moun-
tains who remained independent, and thus probably misled Bede.
He heard or read that Ninian had converted the Southern Picts,
and assumed that they were those subject to the Saxons; but I
think it is obvious that the Picts, with whom St. Ninian came in
contact, were those of Galloway, and they would naturally, in his
time, be designated as Southern Picts, as distinguished from the
Picts dwelling beyond the Northern Wall. The statement in the
Saxon Chronicle is as follows :—

“A. 565. This year Ethelbert succeeded to the kingdom of
the Kentish-men, and held it fifty-three years. In his days the
holy pope Gregory sent us baptism, that was in the two and
thirtieth year of his reign; and Columba, a mass-priest, came to
the Picts, and converted them to the faith of Christ; they are
dwellers by the northern mountains. And their king gave him
the island which is called Ii [Iona]; therein are five hides of land,
as men say. There Columba built a monastery, and he was abbat
there thirty-seven years, and there he died when he was seventy-
two years old. His successors still have the place. The Southern
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Picts had been baptised long before: Bishop Ninia, who had been
instructed at Rome, had preached baptism to them, whose church
and his monastery is at Whitherne, consecrated in the name of
St. Martin: there he resteth, with many holy men. Now in Ii
there must ever be an abbat, and not a bishop; and all the Scottish
bishops ought to be subject to him, because Columba was an
abbat and not a bishop.

“A. 565. This year Columba, the preshyter, came from the

Scots among the Britons, to instruct the Picts, and he built a
monastery in the Island of Hii.”
Be this as it may, however, it is quite clear that the Picts never
were divided politically into two nations. We have lists of their
kings, and they never had more than one king at a time, and
there can be no doubt that Brude M‘Mailchon, who was converted
by Saint Columba, reigned over the whole Pictish race north of
the Friths—his seat being at Inverness. His successor appears
to have had his capital at Abernethy, and there is some ground
for the conjecture that the Pictish kings may have been chosen
alternately from two families, the one having its possessions and
settlements south of the mountains, and the other north of them,
but so far as I have been able to trace, there is no authority for
holding that there was any political separation except during the
thirty years that the Saxons held dominion up to the Grampians.
I think, therefore, that we may safely hold that Saint Columba’s
mission was to the whole Pictish nation ruled by Brude, as his
Church undoubtedly was established among them.

The reason of Saint Columba leaving Ireland is by one tradi-
tion said to have been that he was excommunicated, and sentenced
to perpetual exile by a Council of the Irish Clergy on account of
his having been the cause of the bloody Battle of Cuildreanhne.
But this is contradicted by all the facts of the Saint’s life—for he
repeatedly went from Iona to Ireland, and undoubtedly retained
the rule over all the monasteries which he had founded in
Ireland, and a most powerful influence in that country till his
death. Adamnan mentions, however, that a sentence of excom-
munication was unjustly passed on him, but that it never took
effect, or was recalled at the Council at which it was pronounced.
His removal from Ireland, therefore, need not be attributed to
any other cause than the missionary zeal which had taken posses-
sion of him and his contemporaries at that time; but it may have
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had a partly political object, for at that time his kindred, the Scots
of Dalriada, were being hard pressed by King Brude ; they were
Christian, and he may have feared that they would be destroyed,
‘and resolved to make an effort to save them. And it is a fact
that from his time for very many years there was peace between
the Picts and the Scots.

Whatever the impelling cause, in 565 Saint Columba sailed
from Ireland and landed in Iona, and, finding it a suitable place
for his purpose, he established there a monastery of monks on the
model of that which he and others had previously established in
Ireland, having obtained a grantof the island, according to Bede,
from Brude, but, according to other accounts, from the King of
the Scots of Dalriada. From thence he went to the Court of
King Brude, then at Inverness; and he appears soon to have
gained him over to the faith, and to have always retained a great
influence over him. During the remaining years of his life he
seems to have laboured mainly among the Picts, and before his
death he had converted the whole nation and established his
Church securely among them; and so vigorous was it that, within
less than forty years after Columba’s death, it undertook the con-
version of the Northumbrians, and established a Church among
them which existed, under the primacy of Iona, for thirty years,
when it retired before the advancing Church of Rome.

As I have said, the Church which developed itself in Ireland,
and of which the Scottish Church was long a branch, had certain
peculiarities which distinguished it from all other Churches. To
state these distinctions in a word, it may be said that the Church
was a monastic tribal Church, not subject to the jurisdiction of
Bishops.

Monasticism was first introduced from the East, but it was
well-known in the Roman Church before the time of St. Patrick,
and we have seen that he says that through his means the sons of
the Scoti and the daughters of princes became monks and virgins
of Christ ; but in the Roman Church monasticism was an order
within the Church, existing along with a secular clergy, and
subject to the jurisdiction of the bishops. In the Church which
developed itself in Ireland, and was introduced into Scotland, on
the other hand, the whole Church was monastic, and subject to
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the jurisdiction, not of bishops, but of abbots, who were not neces-
sarily, and, in point of fact, seldom were bishops, and while the Epis-
copal Order and the special functions of the Episcopate in the
matter of ordination and the celebration of the mass with Pontifical
rites, was recognised, the bishop was not a prelate, but a functionary
and official of the Church, living as a monk in the monastery, and
subject to the abbot.  This peculiarity of the Church was for
long a battle ground between Presbyterians and Episcopalians,
and founding on a passage in Fordun, it was maintained by the
advocates of Presbyterianism that the Church of St. Columba was
a Presbyterian Church, in something of the sense in which that
word is applied to the present Churches in Scotland—but this
contention is now exploded. In the sense of equality among the
clergy, either in the matter of power or of functions, the Church
was entirely different from the Presbyterian Churches. The
abbot, although he might be only a presbyter, ruled over the
whole community with absolute power. On the other hand,
while the bishops had no jurisdiction, they were recognised as a
distinct and necessary order of clergy, with certain functions
which the presbyter could not assume, and the Church had thus
the three orders of clergy, and that regular succession of Bishops,
which are looked on by some as essential requisites of a Church.
The respect in which St. Columba himself held bishops is shown
by an anecdote told by Adamnan as follows :—

“Of Cronan the Bishgp.—At another time, a stranger from
the province of the Munstermen, who, in his humility, did
all he could to disguise himself, so that nobody might know
that he was a bishop, came to the saint; but his rank could
not be hidden from the saint. For next Lord’s day, being
invited by the saint, as the custom was, to consecrate the
Body of Christ, he asked the saint to join him, that, as two
priests, they might break the bread of the Lord together.
The saint went to the altar accordingly, and, suddenly looking
into the stranger’s face, thus addressed him:— Christ bless thee,
brother ; do thou break the bread alone, according to the Epis-
copal rite, for I know now that thou art a bishop. Why hast thou
disguised thyself so long, and prevented our giving thee the
honour we owe to thee? On hearing the saint’s words, the
humble stranger was greatly astonished, and adored Christ in His
saint, and the bystanders in amazement gave glory to God.”
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We find too that when a mission was sent to a distance, the
leader was ordained a bishop, so that he might be able to ordain
local clergy, and in this case the office of abbot and bishop was
generally combined. The three abbots who ruled at Lindesfarne,
while the Church there was subject to Iona, were ordained bishops
at Tona.

The tribal organization of the Church seems to have been a
counterpart of the tribal organization of the people among whom
it arose. There seems to have been no head of the Irish Church.
Each saint bore rule over all the monasteries founded by him, and
his disciples, and the abbot of the head monastery succeeded to
this jurisdiction. Thus the Abbot of Iona, which had the primacy
among the foundations of Columba, ruled over all the monas-
teries founded by him in Ireland and Scotland, and this continued
till the community at Tona was broken up. The monks belonging
to the foundations of one saint thus formed an ecclesiastical tribe,
and in the same way the monks in each monastery formed a sub-
tribe. There was, too, a regular law of succession to the headship
of a monastery. We find mention of lay tribes and monastic
tribes in the Brehon laws, and elaborate rules are laid down for
the succession to an Abbacy. Thus the succession was first in the
tribe of the patron saint, next in the tribe of the land, or to which
the land had belonged, next to one of the finé manach, that is,
the monastic tribe, or family living in the monastery, next to
the anoit Church, next to a dalta Church, next to a compairche
Church, next to a neighbouring cill Church, and lastly to a
pilgrim. That is, if there was a person in the monastery of the
tribe of the patron saint fit to be abbot, he succeeded ; if not,
then the succession went to one of the tribe from whom the land
had been acquired, and if there was no such, then it went to all
the others in succession, the Churches mentioned being connected
in various degrees with the foundation, the headship of which was
vacant. According to this rule, we find that for more than a
hundred years the Abbots of Iona were all of the tribe and family
from which Columba himself was descended.

The peculiarity which, however, appears to have attracted most
attention from the Roman clergy, when the two Churches came
in contact in the seventh century, was the time at which the
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Scottish clergy celebrated the festival of Easter, and their form
of tonsure, and these were for long subjects of contention. The
difference in the mode of calculating Easter is easily accounted
for, as the Scottish Church adhered to the method which was
common to the whole Western Church, previous to 457, when
all connection between Britain and Ireland and the Continent
ceased ; and during the time of isolation a new method of com-
putation was adopted by the Roman Church; but the mode of
tonsure is not so easily accounted for. The Columban Monks
tonsured the front of the head from ear to ear, while in the
Roman Church the crown of the head was tonsured. The
former mode of tonsure was that adopted at one time by the
Eastern Church, and it may point to some Eastern influence on
the Irish Monastic Church at the time of its development.

(7o be continued.)

LINES ON GENERAL GORDON.

Tha bratach bhroin an diugh ’n’ar tir

’S tha’n riogh’chd a caoidh gu truagh;

Is gaisgeach tréum n’ an cath ’s na'm blar
Foidh ghlais a bhais na shuain,

Bho’n luchairt aird is illidh dreach,
Gus'n tigh is isle th’ ann;

"Tha goimh a bhroin an cridh’ gach neach
Is caraid caomh air chall. .

’Bu ghrad a fhreagair thus’ a ghairm
*Nuair dh’iarradh ort dol ’null ;

Ach och ! mo ledn, bu bhochd do dhiol,
’S cha b’ann a’ reir do dhuil.

Is smal air clili ar riogh’chd gu brath
Mar dh’ fhag iad thu ’san uair,

Ri aghaidh mhiltean naimh leat fein,
Gun chuideachadh sa chruas,

Cha b’ann sa chath, ’s cha b’ann sa bhlar,
A fhuair do namh ort buaidh;

Ach foill an ti a fhuair do bhaigh,

’S thug do bhas mu’n cuairt.

Is iomadh dilleachdan gun treoir,
Is deoraidh bochd is truagh ;

Tha caoidh an aon fhear-cuidichidh
An saoghal falamh fuar.

Is dorcha dhuinne riin an Ti,
A ghairm da riogh’chd thu ’n drisd ;
Tha aobhar aige anns gach ni,
Is bith’mid striochda dha,
Ledaig. Joux CAMPBELL.
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YACHTING AND ELECTIONEERING IN THE
HEBRIDES.

Ll

HAVING lately had the opportunity of a month’s tour in the
Hebrides and on the West Coast in a steam yacht, I think thata
recital of the journey, with notes of the various places visited,
may prove interesting to every reader of this Magazine.
Strome-Ferry was our starting-place proper, and, before
fairly launching out upon the account of our trip, I must not
forget to mention the ruins of the old Castle upon the north side
of Strome Ferry. From the south side they are hardly distin-
guishable from the grey rock upon which they are perched, so
much do they resemble it in appearance. In Mackenzie’s History
of the Camerons we are told that in 1472 Allan Cameron, XIII.
of Lochiel became a vassal of Celestine, Lord of Lochalsh,
and Constable of his Castle of Strome. On 6th March, 1539, the
Castle of Strome, with the lands attached, was granted by James V.
to Alexander of Glengarry and Margaret of the Isles, his spouse,
“in liferent, and Angus, their son and heir-apparent, in fee. Inthe
early part of the seventeenth century, Donald, VIII. of Glen-
garry, in a skirmish with the Mackenzies of Kintail, took prisoner
one Duncan Maclan Mhic Ghillechallum, and incarcerated him
in Strome Castle. About a year after this, Kenneth, first
Lord Mackenzie of Kintail, gathered his forces and laid siege to
the Castle, which at first defied all his efforts. An act of careless-
ness, however, upon the part of the women in the Castle destroyed
the hopes of the defenders, and ultimately rendered the fortress
an easy prey to the invaders. The women had been out at night
for water, and, bringing it in in the dark, they inadvertently
poured it into a vat containing the whole store of gunpowder,
instead of into the proper water-vat, rendering the powder of
course absolutely useless. Duncan Maclan Mhic Ghillechallum,
who was still a prisoner in the Castle, heard of the state of
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matters next morning, and, looking over the battlements,
perceived, to his intense disgust, that the Mackenzies, despairing
of being able to take the Castle, were preparing to raise the siege
and depart. Seeing his hopes of release thus vanishing, Duncan
formed a sudden and bold resolve. Flinging his plaid over the
head of the man who stood next him, he jumped over the
ramparts on to a large manure-heap just below. Before the
Macdonalds had realised what had occurred, Duncan had picked
himself up out of the mire, and was running with all his might
towards Mackenzie’s camp, which he reached in safety, and
informed Kintail of the defenceless state to which the Castle had
been reduced by the loss of the gunpowder. The chief, highly
elated at the welcome news, at once recommenced the siege, and,
seeing that the case was hopeless, the Macdonalds thought
discretion the better part of valour, and gave up the Castle, on
condition of their lives being spared and their being permitted to
bring out their baggage. This being granted, the Castle was
formally surrendered to Kintail, who blew up the building, of
which nothing now remains but the moss-grown walls.

Our yacht was named the Carloita, of 37 tons register. She
carried a crew of eight, all told, including the steward, and
was very comfortably fitted up, but, as we afterwards found,
also very slow. The others on board were—Mr. Fraser-
Mackintosh, M.P., and the writer. We left Strome-Ferry
about noon on Saturday, the sth of September, 188s, and,
steaming down Loch-Carron, entered Kyle Akin, “the Strait of
Haco.” At the entrance to this Strait, in the year 1263, the
proud Norwegian King anchored his noble fleet of over a
hundred war-galleys, to beard the Scottish Lion in his den, and
establish the authority of the Norse Raven over the Western
Isles and shores of Albyn. But a few short months and that
gallant fleet was scattered and destroyed by the furious tempests
that came as it were to protect our land from the invader, whilst
Haco, leaving the flower of his golden-haired warriors dead upon
the blood-stained field of Largs, sailed to Orkney, and there died
broken-hearted—

¢ And they buried him in Orkney, and Norsemen never more
Set sail to harry Scotland, or plunder on her shore,”
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Upon a large rock jutting out into the Kyle are the ruins of
Castle Moil, anciently known as Dunakyne, or Haco’s Fort, said
to have been erected by a Norwegian Princess for the purpose of
levying a toll upon all ships passing through the Strait. She had
a strong chain stretched across the Kyle, the ends being attached
to iron rings fixed in the rock on either side. The Castle after-
wards became a seat of the Clan Mackinnon. It now presents,
from certain points of view, a very picturesque appearance, look-
ing as if it had been split in half by some great convulsion.

Passing through the Kyle, where we saw several shoals of
herring, we entered Loch-Alsh, and soon after steamed up Loch-
Duich, without doubt the most beautiful of our Scottish sea-lochs.
The day was lovely, and the shores of the Loch, fringed with
wood and clothed with verdure, all reflected in the blue mirror
below, presented a charming picture. In the distance towered in
magnificent grandeur the snow-crowned mountains of Kintail,
with the historic Tullochard, the gathering-peak of the Seaforth
Mackenzies, rearing its proud crest to the skies. At the junc-
tion of Loch-Duich and Loch-Long, opposite the pretty little
village of Dornie, we dropped anchor, and rowed across to
inspect the picturesque ruins of Eileandonan Castle, the ancient
feudal stronghold of the Mackenzies.

In 1263, after the battle of Largs, Walter Stewart, Earl of
Menteith, is said to have built this Castle for the purpose of over-
awing the Western Islesmen. There is a tradition that Robert
the Bruce was sheltered for some time in the Castle by John
Mackenzie, I1. of Kintail, until the exiled monarch was able again
to gather an army and release Scotland from the bonds of the
tyrant usurper.

In 1331, “Schyre Thomas,” Earl of Moray, and Lord Warden
of Scotland, under King David II., sent his “Crownare” or
Lieutenant to Eileandonan to prepare the Castle for his reception,
and to execute summary justice upon sundry lawbreakers in that
part of the country. Wyntoun, in his Chronicle, describes the
proceedings as follows :—

¢ Off hys byddyng (than) alsa fast

Till Elandonan his Crownare past,
For till arest mysdoaris thare,
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Quhare that mony that tyme ware,
And thare to ger hym purvaid be ;
For thiddyre swne to pass thowcht he.
This Crownare, wyth a cumpany
Off manlyk men, sowcht naroly
Thai mysdoaris here and thare,
That in hys rollys wryttyn ware.

3 All gat he noucht ; bot fyfty
That fleand ware, (al) wychtly
As (he) ouretuke wyth mekill payne,
Fleand the lauch, thai ware all slayne ;
And the hevyddis off thame all
Were set up apon the wall
Hey (on heycht) on Elandonan,
Agayne the come off the Wardan.
Off that sycht he was rycht blyth ;
And till his court he yhed rycht swyth,
And off the lave that entryde ware
Justyce he dyde evynlyk thare,
Bot hym mystryd noucht (to} call
Thame, that flowryd sa well that wall :
Feware thai ware noucht than fyfty
Hevyddis grynnand rycht wgly.”

The spectacle of the fifty human heads, “grinning right ugly,”
which made the Warden “right blythe,” was unhappily not an
uncommon one in the “good old days.”

In 1452, Euphemia Leslie, Dowager Countess of Ross, who
had fallen in love with Alexander Ionraic, VI. of Kintail, sent for
him to come to her Court at Dingwall, and there declared to him
her passion. Finding, however, that her love was unrequited,
she determined to have revenge, and accordingly had Kintail
apprehended and lodged in prison. Eileandonan Castle was then
under the charge of one named MacAulay, whose orders were
not to leave the Castle, nor permit anyone to enter it without
receiving Kintail's gold ring as a token. The vengeful Countess
managed, by force or fraud, to gain possession of this ring from
Mackenzie’s page, and she at once sent a gentleman to Eilean-
donan with it, bearing also the message that Kintail was about to
wed the Countess of Ross, and desiring MacAulay to repair to
Dingwall forthwith, and leave the Castle in the messenger’s hands.
MacAulay, on seeing the ring, did not for a moment doubt the
truth of the story, and accordingly gave the guardianship of the
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castle over to the Countess’s emissary, and went to Dingwall,
where he found to his astonishment that Kintail was a prisoner
instead of a bridegroom. He managed, however, to speak to the
captive chief, who told him that his only hope of release was the
arrest of the Countess’s nephew, Ross of Balnagown. MacAulay,
acting on the hint, collected a band of resolute clansmen and
apprehended Ross near his own house. A pursuit was organised
as soon as the abduction was discovered, but MacAulay, having
sent Balnagown away under guard, defeated the pursuers at
Bealach-nam-Brog, and proceeded with his men to Kintail. At
Glenluing, a few miles from Eileandonan, the Mackenzies came
across a band of thirty men sent by the Countess with provisions
for the garrison. These men were taken by surprise and speedily
secured, the Mackenzies donning their prisoners’ tartans and
taking the sacks of provisions upon their backs. Thus disguised,
they went on to the Castle and gained admission without enquiry,
the governor making sure that they were his own friends with the
expected supplies. Once fairly inside, the Mackenzies threw
down their burdens, drew their weapons, and seized the Governor
and all his men, keeping them prisoners until Kintail was
exchanged for the Governor and Balnagown.*

In 1539, Donald Gorm Mor Macdonald of Sleat, made a raid
upon Eileandonan with fifty large boats, full of men. The sole
defenders of the Castle at the time were the governor, his watch-
man, and Duncan MacGillechriost MacFhionnladh MhicRath.
The latter was on the mainland when the Macdonalds arrived,
but, noticing the invaders, he returned to the Castle with all his
speed, and arrived at the gate in time to kill some of the Islesmen
as they were landing. Entering the Castle, Duncan secured the
gate with a second bar of iron inside, which resisted all the efforts
of Donald Gorm and his followers, who then commenced shooting
their arrows through the embrasures. By this means they killed
the Governor, and the Castle was then only occupied by Duncan
and the watchman, their ammunition being reduced to one
barbed arrow. Donald Gorm came ashore at this stage, and was
walking round the Castle endeavouring to discover a weak point

* History of the Clan Mackensic,

,1
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for an escalade, when Duncan’s well-aimed shaft penetrated his
foot. Not noticing that it was a barbed arrow, Donald Gorm
wrenched it out, and in so doing severed the main artery. Itwas
found impossible to arrest the bleeding, and his men conveyed
the Island chief to a sand-bank some distance away, where he
soon breathed his last.

In 1550, the Castle was the scene of a cruel murder, when
John Glassich Mackenzie, II. of Gairloch, was imprisoned in it,
and poisoned by the wife of the Constable. This, it is said, was
done by order of Kenneth, X. of Kintail.

During the Jacobite rising of 1715, Eileandonan was taken by
the Government troops, but it was retaken by stratagem shortly
before the Battle of Sheriffmuir. The incident is thus described :
—‘“ A neighbouring tenant applied to the Governor for some of
the garrison to cut his corn, as he feared, from the appearance of
the sky and the croaking of the ravens, that a heavy storm was
impending, and that nothing but a sudden separation of his crop
from the ground could save his family from starvation. The
Governor readily yielded to his solicitations, and sent the garrison
of Government soldiers then in the Castle to his aid, who, on
their return, discovered the ruse too late ; for the Kintail men
were by this time reaping the spoils, and had taken possession of
the Castle.” Before the Kintailmen left to shed their blood for
the Stuarts on Sheriffmuir, they had a farewell dance on the
leaden roof of Eileandohan Castle. In 1719, after the battle of
Glenshiel, General Wightman sent a detachment of soldiers, with
orders to have it blown up. This command was carried out, and
now the famous fortress presents only a picturesque ruin.

It was with mixed feelings that I wandered about through the
ruins, now finding myself on the brink of a black precipice
descending sheer into the sea, and now catching, through some
loop-hole, a delightful glimpse of the beautiful scenery around.
Feelings of regret for the magnificent race of men who once
tenanted those deserted chambers, were mingled with feelings of
thankfulness that I did not live in times when deeds of blood were
of everyday occurrence, and when troublesome friends or enemies
were quietly put out of the way by the dagger or the poison-cup,
and their bodies thrown into the sea, or buried in some out-of-the-
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way corner without requiem or coronach. Down in the still
depths beneath I could see great fragments of masonry which had
been hurled downwards by the force of the explosion which had
demolished the Castle. In one octagonal tower I came across a
black, dismal-looking well, some four feet in diameter. The
green slime lay thick upon the inky water, and I must confess to
an eerie feeling creeping over me as I cautiously approached the
shelving and slippery brink. I was afterwards told that the
water was not very deep, the well having been almost filled up
some five years ago, but the appearance of it at the time of my
visit gave one the idea of great depth. When cleared out, an old
iron gate and two small brass cannon were found at the bottom of
this well. The cannon would appear to have been fastened into
the top of the wall by a pin underneath them.

Leaving the Castle, we rowed about three miles up Loch-
Long, an offshoot of Loch-Duich. In no part is this Loch more
than a quarter of a mile broad, and the entrance is too shallow at
most states of the tide for vessels of any burden to pass through.
The scenery at first is tame, but, as you proceed, each bend of the
Loch reveals fresh beauties, and, towards the head, the shores
almost rival those of Loch-Duich itself. After feasting our eyes
upon the scene for some time, we returned to the yacht, weighed
anchor, and steamed up to near the head of Loch-Duich, anchor-
ing a short distance past Inverinate House, then the residence of
Sir Thomas and Lady Brassey. At this spot we were to remain
at anchor until Monday morning. Our cook was a very good
piper, and, shortly after dusk, as we were at dinner, he commenced
playing on deck. As the last notes of “Corn rigs and barley
rigs” died away on the still night-air, we were astonished to hear
a loud outburst of cheering from the shore, mingled with repeated
cries of “tuilleadh, tuilleadls”—more, more. It was too dark to
distinguish anything on shore, but from the voices we conjectured
that the sound of the bagpipes on board the yacht had attracted a
considerable number of the natives to the spot. The musician
was greatly flattered at this unexpected tribute to his genius, and,
after playing a few more tunes on board, he, with some of the
other men, slipped quietly ashore and inaugurated a dance in a
cottage, which lasted till the advent of the Sabbath put an end to
the festivities.

-
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Late in the evening, Sir Thomas Brassey’s well-known yacht,
the Swunbeam, fresh from the famous Norwegian trip, steamed up
the Loch, and anchored two or three hundred yards away from us.

Next day Lady Brassey invited me to look over the Swnbean,
an offer of which I gladly availed myself. The Sunbdeam is quite
a floating palace, fitted up in the most luxurious manner. Her
many saloons and sleeping-cabins are marvels of elegance and
comfort, while the taste of Lady Brassey is displayed in the
numberless pictures and curios which adorn the walls and tables
in the different apartments. On deck, as below, everything is the
perfection of neatness and tidiness. The funnel, when not in use,
comes back upon a hinge, and lies horizontally upon the deck.
The sides of the vessel are painted white. The crew numbers
twenty-seven, and the yacht carries six boats.

The country around Loch-Duich is full of interesting and
historical associations. Morvich, at the head of the Loch, was
the scene of the famous “Pet Lamb’s” depredations upon Winans’
great deer forest. The animal which caused such a sensation
throughout the United Kingdom, the Colonies, and America, is,
we believe, still alive, and is permitted elsewhere to wander about
according to the dictates of its own sweet will. Opening up from
the head of the Loch is Glenshiel, the scene of the Spanish
Invasion of 1719, and of the famous battle at which the invaders
were defeated by the Government troops under General Wightman.

In May, 1778, Kenneth Mackenzie, XIX. of Kintail, in return
for the restoration, by George III, of the titles of Earl of Sea-
forth, Viscount Fortrose, and Baron Ardelve, raised a regiment
of 1130 men for His Majesty’s service. Five hundred of these
were raised from among his own immediate vassals, and about
four hundred from the estates of the Mackenzies of Scatwell,
Kilcoy, Applecross, and Redcastle. Some gentlemen from the
South, to whom Seaforth gave commissions in the regiment,
brought with them about two hundred men, of whom forty-three
were English and Irish. The Macraes of Kintail, who were ever
faithful and devoted followers of the Seaforth family, were so
numerous in the regiment that it was known more by their name
than by that of the Mackenzies themselves. This corps, in June,
1778, was inspected at Elgin by General Skene, and then

8
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embodied under the name of Seaforth’s Highlanders, or the 78th
Regiment. It is now the 72nd, and considered to be one of the
finest regiments in the British Army.

When William, fifth Earl of Seaforth, was obliged to remain in
France for several years for his complicity in the Rising of 1715,
the rents of his lands were regularly collected and sent to him by
a faithful steward, named Murchison. This man was able, with
the aid of Seaforth’s clansmen, to keep possession of the Earl’s
forfeited estates until they were restored to his Lordship in 1726,
The tenantry are said to have sent their exiled Chief various gifts
in proportion to their circumstances. One year Murchison
remitted no less than £800 of rent to his master in France,
while at the same time the tenantry paid another rent to the
Commissioners of the forfeited estates,

These things happened in Kintail's palmy days, when a
clannish feeling of attachment bound the heart of landlord and
tenant—or rather chief and clansman—together; when deer
forests and “irrepressible Americans” were unknown in the
Highlands; when the people possessed their lands without fear of
summary eviction; and when the land yielded sufficient to pay
the rent, to furnish a gift to an exiled landlord, and to support
the tenant and his family in ease and comfort. Alas! those days
are gone! In 1831, the population of the parish of Kintail was
1240; in 1841, it had decreased to 1186; in 1851, to 1009; and in
1881, to 688, These figures need no comment—they tell their
own sad tale. The parish which in 1778 turned out 500 able-
bodied Highlanders for the service of their King and country,
could not now turn out 10oo! The avarice of grasping and
degenerate chiefs has worked the ruin of the people who were the
means of making them chiefs, and the spots, where hundreds of
happy and contented people once spent their peaceful lives, are
now preserves for deer and pastures for sheep! No human foot,
save that of the sportsman, the gillie, and the shepherd, is
permitted to intrude upon the vast desolations which are the
curse and disgrace of our land; but the time is coming, slowly but
no less surely, when the land will once more be the people’s;
when wild animals will no longer be deemed of more account
than men; and when a retributive Justice shall have swept the
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present system of landlordism off the face of a country which it
has brought to the verge of utter ruin.

HECTOR ROSE MACKENZIE.

(To be continued.)

ETYMOLOGY OF DUMBARTON.

DUMBARTON has always been said to mean the Fort of the Britons. George
Chalmers (Caledonia), Isaac Taylor (Words and Places), James A. Robertson
( Gaclic Topography ), and others, refer to this way of explaining the name, and do not
suggest any other. Some years ago there occurred to me another explanation, which
is now offered for the consideration of the reader. I have not seen it in print, and
I have not heard it mentioned in conversation. I have gone past Dumbarton five
times ; once I was in the town for an hour, but I had not time to visit the Rock.
The Rock rises to the height of 206 feet. Towards the top it is cleft into two
summits, of which one is higher than the other ; it is somewhat like a mitre ; the
cleft begins about half way up the Rock, so that the gap or fissure measures about
one hundred feet from its commencement to the top of the higher summit. The
Gaelic bearn means a notch, a gap ; the verb dearn is to notch ; dearnta is notched.
Perhaps it was called Dunbearn, the Hill of the Notch, or Dunbearnta, the Notched
Hill. The houses which afterwards were built near its foot were called Dunbearnta-
ton ; shortened and softened into Dunbarton. The hill gave its name to the town,
and then the town gave its name to the hill.  Before 4 the » was changed to .
The Celt has a very quick eye for natural objects, and looking at the pinnacle-shaped
hill, cleft from above downwards for one hundred feet, leaving a gap which is,
perhaps, fifty or sixty feet wide at the top, he could hardly avoid calling it Dun
(hill), Bearnta (notched). Was the name given by Gaelic Ce{ts or by Kymric Celts?
On looking at Price’s English-Welsh Dictionary (1857), I find that gap, or cleft, or
notch, is not represented in Welsh by dearn or any word like it.  Assuming that the
name referred to the gap, it has been given by the Gaelic race, The usual readers
of the Celtic Magazine are not likely to grumble at space being given to antiquarian
matters, but perhaps some stranger may glance at this page and ask what is the use
of troubling about things belonging to the long ago. I answer him in the words of
Mr. Gladstone :—*“It is a degradation to man to be reduced to the life of the
resent. He will never put forth his hopes, his views, and his efforts towards the
uture, with due effect and energy, unless, at the same time, he prizes, and holds
fondly clasped to his heart, the recollections of the past.” (Address to the
Edinburgh Town Council, November, 1885, on handing over to their care the
market cross, which he had rebuilt.) It is, perhaps, a little strange that they who
named the hill did not call it Craig-bearnta. The word bearn is met with in Craigie-
barns, a hill near Dunkeld ; also in Pyrenees. I do not wish to be thought very
positive, but my private opinion is that Dumbarton has nothing to do with the
Britons, but that it is the town near the hill with the cleft top. I apologise for
making this note so long, but it is not every day that a person has the chance of
pointing out a mistake that has been believed in for a thousand years, from the time
of the venerable Bede even unto this day.

Devonport, Devon, THOMAS STRATTON, M,D, (Edin,)



116 The Celtic Magasine.

THE CONFLICTS OF THE CLANS.
( Continued.)

THE TROUBLES BETWEEN THE EARLS OF HUNTLY AND
MORAY.,

WHILST the North of Scotland was thus in a combustion, the
Spanish Blanks were discovered, and Mr. George Carr, Doctor of
the Laws, was apprehended in the Isle of Cumbrae, and brought
back to Edinburgh, 1592. Afterward, the year of God, 1594, the
Popish Earls, Angus, Huntly, and Errol, were, at the earnest suit
of the Queen of England’s ambassador, forfeited at a Parliament
held at Edinburgh the penult of May, 1594. Then was the King
moved to make the Earl of Argyll, his Majesty’s Lieutenant in the
North of Scotland, to invade the Earls of Huntly and Errol.
Argyll, being glad of this employment (having received money
from the Queen of England for this purpose), makes great pre-
paration for the journey, and addresses himself quickly forward;
thinking thereby to have a good occasion to revenge his brother-
in-law, the Earl of Moray’s death; so on he went, with full
assurance of a certain victory, accompanjed with the Earl of
Tullibardine, Sir Lachlan Maclean, and divers Islanders, Mackin-
tosh, Grant, and Clan Gregor, Macneill of Barra, with all their
friends and dependers, together with the whole surname of
Campbell, with sundry others, whom either greediness of prey or
malice against the Gordons, had thrust forward in that expedi-
tion; in all, above 10,000 men. And, coming through all the
mountainous countries of that part of Scotland, they arrived at
Ruthven of Badenoch, the 27th of September, the year 1594, which
house they besieged, because it appertained to Huntly; but it was
so well defended by the Clan Pherson (Huntly’s servants) that
Argyll was forced to give over the siege and to address himself
towards the Lowlands; where the Lord Forbes, with his kin, the
Frasers, the Dunbars, the Clan Kenzie, the Irvines, the Ogilvies,
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the Leslies, the Munroes, and divers other surnames of the North,
should have met him as the King’s Lieutenant, and so join with
his forces against Huntly.

Argyll came thus forward to Drummin, in Strathdown, and
encamped hard thereby, the 2nd of October. Huntly and Errol,
hearing of this great preparation made against them, lacked
neither courage nor resolution; they assemble all such as would
follow them and their fortune in this extremity. Errol came unto
the Earl of Huntly to Strathbogie with 100 or 120 of resolute
gentlemen; and so, having there joined with Huntly’s forces, they
march forward from thence to Carnburgh, and then to Achin-
down, with 1500 horsemen, the 3rd of October; parting from
Achindown, Huntly sent Captain Thomas Carr and some of the
family of Tillieboudie (Gordon), to spy the fields and view the
enemy. These gentlemen, meeting by chance with Argyll's
spies, killed them all, except one whom they saved and examined,
and by him understood that Argyll was at hand. This accident
much encouraged the Earl of Huntly’s men, taking this as a
presage of an ensuing victory; whereupon Huntly and Errol do
resolve to fight with Argyll before he should join with the Lord
Forbes and the rest of his forces; 'so they march towards the
enemy, who, by this time, was at Glenlivet, in the mountains of
Strathavon.

The Earl of Argyll, understanding that Huntly was at hand,
who (as he believed) durst not show his countenance against such
an army, he was somewhat astonished, and would gladly have
delayed the battle until he had met with the Lord Forbes; but,
perceiving them to draw near, and trusting to his great number,
he began to order his battle, and to encourage his people with the
hope of prey, and the enemy’s small forces to resist them. He
gave the commandment and leading of his vanguard to Sir
Lachlan Maclean and to Achinbreck, which did consist of 4000
men, whereof 2000 men were hagbutters.  Argyll himself
and Tullibardine followed with all the rest of the army. The
Earl of Errol and Sir Patrick Gordon of Achindown, accompanied
with the Laird of Gight, Bonnietoun Wood, and Captain Carr,
led the Earl of Huntly’s vanguard, which consisted of 300
gentlemen ; Huntly followed them with the rest of his company,
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having the Laird of Cluny (Gordon), upon his right hand, and
Abergeldie upon the left hand; and, as he began to march
forward, he encouraged his men, shewing them that there was no
remedy, but either to obtain the victory, or to die with their
weapons in their hands, in defence of whatsoever they held dearest
in this world. Argyll, his army being all footmen, and assailed,
had the advantage of the ground ; for they were arrayed in battle
upon the top of a steep, rough, and craggy mountain, at the
descent whereof the ground was foggy, mossy, and full of peat-
pots, exceeding dangerous for horse, Huntly’s forces consisted
all in horsemen, and were constrained to ride first through the
mossy ground at the foot of the hill, and then to ride up against
that heathy, rough mountain, to pursue the enemy, who did there
attend them. Before that Errol and Achindown gave the first
charge, Huntly caused Captain Andrew Grey (now Colonel of the
English and Scottish in Bohemia) to shoot three field-pieces of
ordnance at the enemy, which bred a confused tumult among
them, by the slaughter of MacNeill of Barra, an Islander, and one of
the most valiant men of that party. Huntly’s vanguard, seeing
the enemy disordered, presently gave the charge ; the Earl of
Errol, with the most part of the vanguard, turned their sides towards
the enemy, and so went a little about, directly towards Argyll,
leaving Maclean and the vanguard upon their left hand, being
forced thereto by the steepness of the hill, and the thick shot of
the enemy ; but Achindown, with the rest of his company, did
gallop up against the hill towards Maclean ; so that Achindown
himself was the first man that invaded.the enemy, and the first
that was slain by them, having lost himself by his too much
forwardness. The fight was cruel and furious for a while. Achin-
down’s servants and followers, perceiving their master fall, raged
among their enemies, as if they had resolved to revenge his death,
and to accompany him in dying. Maclean, again playing the
part of a good commander, compassed Huntly’s vanguard, and
enclosed them betwixt him and Argyll, having engaged them-
selves so far that now there was no hope of retreat ; so that they
were in danger to be all cut to pieces, if Huntly had not come
speedily to their support, where he was in great danger of his life,
his horse being slain under him ; but being presently horsed again
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by Invermarkie, he rushed in among the enemies. Thus the
battle was again renewed with great fury, and continued two
hours. In end, Argyll with his main battle began to decline, and
then to flee apace, leaving Maclean still fighting in the field ; who,
seeing himself thus destitute of succours, and his men either fled or
slain, retired in good order with the small company he had about
him, and saved himself by flight ; having behaved himself in the
battle, not only like a good commander, but also like a valiant
soldier. Huntly and his horsemen followed the chase beyond the
brook of Aldchonlihan, killing the enemies, till the steepness of
the next mountains did stay them, being inaccessible for horse-
men.  Argyll's ensign was found in the place of battle, and
brought back with them to Strathbogie. The Earl of Argyll lost
in this battle his two cousins, Archibald Campbell of Lochnell,
and his brother, James Campbell, with divers of Achinbreck’s
friends, MacNeill of Barra, and 700 common soldiers. Neither
was the victory very pleasing to the Earl of Huntly, for, besides
that the Earl of Errol, the Laird of Gight, and the most part of
all his company were hurt and wounded, Sir Patrick Gordon of
Achindown, his uncle, a wise, valiant, and resolute knight, with 14
others, were there slain. All their hurt men were carried that
night to Achindown, where most part of them stayed until they
were recovered. This battle wasfought on Thursday, the 3rd day
of October, 1594.

The Lord Forbes, the lairds of Buchan and Drum, assembled
all their friends and followers, with intention to join with Argyll ;
but, hearing of his overthrow, they conclude to join with the
Dunbars, and the rest of the forces coming from the provinces of
Moray and Ross, and so to invade the Gordons when they came
from the battle, thinking it now an easy matter to overthrow
them, and to revenge old quarrels. To this effect the whole
surname of Forbes, with most part of the Leslies and the Irvines,
met at Druminour (the Lord Forbes's dwelling) and so went on,
thinking to overtake Argyll, and to cause him return and renew
the battle against the Gordons and their partakers; but, as they
marched forward, a gentleman called Irvine was killed with the
shot of a pistol, in the dark of the night, hard by the Lord Forbes,
the author of which shot was never yet known until this day ; for
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presently all their pistols were searched and found to be full
This unexpected accident bred such a confusion and amazement
in the minds of the Forbeses and their followers, being now all
afraid of one another, that they dissolved their companies, and
returned home. The rest of the clans in the North, such as the
Dunbars, the Frasers, the Munroes, and the Clan Kenzie, being
convened at Forres in Moray, were stayed by the policy of
Dunbar of Moyness, who was then tutor to the Sheriff of Moray,
and favoured the Earl of Huntly, Sir Patrick Gordon of Achin-
down having married his mother.

Whilst the Earl of Argyll was thus employed against Huntly,
the King came to Dundee, where he expected the issue of that
battle ; which, when he had heard, His Majesty took journey
north toward Strathbogie. In this voyage His Majesty, by the
instigation of Huntly and Errol's greatest enemies, permitted
(though unwillingly) divers houses to be thrown down, such as
the house of Strathbogie, which appertained to Huntly, the house
of Slaines, in Buchan, appertaining to the Earl of Errol, the house
of Culsamond, in Garioch, appertaining to the Laird of Newton
Gordon, the house of Bagays, in Angus, appertaining to Sir
Walter Lindsay, and the house of Craig, in Angus, appertaining
to Sir John Ogilvy, son to the Lord Ogilvy. In this meantime
that the King was at Strathbogie, the Earl of Huntly, with divers
of his friends, went into Sutherland and Caithness; and, when
His Majesty returned into Edinburgh, Huntly left the Kingdom,
and travelled through Germany, France, and Flanders; having
stayed abroad one year and five months, he was recalled again by
the King ; and, at his return, both he, Angus, and Errol were again
restored to their former honours and dignities, at a Parliament held
in Edinburgh in November, 1597; and further, His Majesty
honoured the Earl of Huntly with the honour of Marquis, the
year 1599. All quarrels betwixt him and the Earls of Argyll
and Moray were taken away by the marriage of Argyll's eldest
daughter, to George, Lord Gordon, Huntly’s eldest son, and by
the marriage of Lady Anne Gordon, Huntly’s daughter, to
James, Earl of Moray, son to him that was slain at Dunibristle.

(7o be continued.)
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ST. KILDA.

IS

THE moral character of the St. Kildeans has always been high.
In 1758, when Mr. MacAulay visited the Island, he found the
people simple, hospitable, polite, and untainted with vice. He
saw no cases of drunkenness during his stay, but he noticed that
the men were excessively fond of tobacco, for which they would
barter away their cows, sheep, grain, and feathers. Swearing and
theft were unknown when Martin visited St. Kilda. The children
were baptised by the steward or his deputy. The first illegitimate
birth in the Island occurred in 1862, and since then only two
other cases have been recorded. Towards the end of the 17th
century, one of the natives, named Roderick, practised an impious
but well-executed imposition upon his fellow-islanders. This
man, who pretended to have been sent by John the Baptist to
rule over St. Kilda, kept up the deception for some years, but
was at length exposed, disgraced, and banished, after committing
many shameful crimes under the cloak of religion, by the steward,
Mr. Martin, and the Rev. John Campbell, minister of Harris.
From the time of the Rev. Mr. Buchan’s instalment as
minister of St. Kilda in 1703, there has been almost a continuous
succession of ministers until now. The present incumbent, the
Rev. John Mackay, has held his lonely post since October, 1865.
Since the year after the Disruption, the Free Church have taken
charge of St. Kilda, and it is said that the Sustentation Fund is
augmented by £10 every year from this little Island congregation.
An incidental reference to the building called the Staller’s
House was made last month. This curious erection is of very
doubtful origin, some alleging it to have been the work of a
devout hermit; others that of a bold man who headed an insur-
rection against the steward of St. Kilda, and, possessing himself
of the Island of Boreray, built upon it this habitation for himself
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and his accomplices. The building is about eighteen feet high,
and so contrived as to be almost invisible from most points of
view, its top being nearly level with the surface of the earth
around it. The base is circular, each successive tier of stones
being smaller than the one below it, until the orifice at the top
admits of being covered with a single stone. In the middle of
the building was a large hearth, and round the inside wall there
was formed a paved seat, capable of holding sixteen people.
There were also four stone beds in the thickness of the wall, to
each of which there was a separate entry from the outside. The
roof of the house fell in many years ago, and has never been
replaced.

Some of the older writers upon St. Kilda refer to an old fort
which stood upon the Island which forms the southern side of the
Bay of St. Kilda. This building was called Dun-Fhir-Bholg. It
consisted of large, nearly square, stones, neatly put together with
a knowledge of maspnry not found among the St. Kildeans at the
time of Mr. MacAulay’s visit. In 1758 there were three chapels
in St. Kilda, one dedicated to Christ, one to St. Columba, and
the other to St. Brendan. They were all built of stone, and, at
the time of Mr. MacAulay’s visit, were in fairly good preservation.
Not a vestige of them now remains.

The St. Kildeans observed six holidays annually. These were
the feasts of Sts. Columba and Brendan, Christmas, New Year's
day, Easter, and Michaelmas. On the two first-mentioned days,
according to Mr. MacAulay, all the milk in the island was
delivered up to the steward or his deputy, who thereupon divided
it equally and impartially between every man, woman, and child
in the Island. On Christmas and New Year’s day, the St
Kildeans ate the best food they could afford, drank liberally, and
danced with great vigour. Easter was observed in a solemn and
quiet manner, while Michaelmas was a sort of Derby-day. On
that day a procession was formed on the shore, all the people who
had horses being mounted, without saddle or bridle, except a
wisp of straw to guide the horse’s head. The procession went as
far as the houses, when the horses returned to the shore for those
people who had been left behind, and this went on until everyone
in the Island had taken part in the proceedings. It was also the
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custom at this festival to prepare in each family a large loaf of
bread, which was dedicated to St. Michael, and divided among
the members of the family.

Mr. MacAulay mentions a large, square, white stone, on the
face of a hill between the village and the north-west side of the
Island, on which the inhabitants used to pour libations of milk
every Sunday to a deity called Gruagach. A little above this stone
was a small green plain, where the St. Kildeans used to pray for
blessings upon their cattle, and where they used to sanctify them
with salt, water, and fire, when removing them from one grazing
to another. Below this plain there was another one of much the
same character, which the people would never convert into arable
ground, believing it to be the chosen abode of some divinity,
whose name they had forgotten, and that any attempt to disturb
it would at once be punished by the loss of their boat, or some
other heavy calamity. Sacrifices were offered to the God of the
Seasons upon an eminence called Mullach-geal. Ina glen on the
north-west side of the Island there existed a stone house, called
Airidh-mhor, which was said to have been the dwelling of a
renowned Amazon or female warrior. The building was very
similar in form to the Staller’s house, but was not so large. It
has now almost entirely disappeared.

Martin mentions two curious taxes which were levied in
St. Kilda in his time. The first of these was called the pot-
penny. Each family possessed an iron pot, and, when a party of
the Islanders went away upon any expedition, they took with
them one of these pots, the owner of which received a small tax
from every family in the Island. The other tax was the fire-penny,
which was levied by the possessor of the only flint and steel in St.
Kilda, whenever any of his neighbours required the use of these
articles. Martin, however, pointed out to the people that fire
could be obtained from the rock-crystals  upon the sea-shore, and
from that time the tax was evaded, and fire obtained from these
crystals by any man who required it, without his being obliged to
go to the owner of the flint and steel for it.

The present inhabitants of St. Kilda are representatives of the
Clans Macqueen, MacCrimmon, Macdonald, Mackinnon, Fergu-
son, and Gillies, Constant intermarriage has naturally led to a
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deterioration of the race, and, though outwardly strong and healthy
looking, the St. Kildeans are exceedingly liable to rheumatism.
Their wants are few. They strongly feel the absence of any
doctor, and of a schoolmaster who can teach English as well as
Gaelic. Add to this a substantial pier, and a strong boat, and you
have the sum total of the primitive St. Kildeans’ wants and wishes.
We hope that ere long these wishes may be gratified, and that, to
quote the proprietor’s own words, he will “treat exceptionally
these lonely people, surrounded as they are by the melancholy
main,” and endeavour to alleviate the hardships of their position,
by granting their modest and well-founded demands.

As an instance of the almost complete want of communication
between St. Kilda and the outer world until very lately, it is
related that for three years after the death of King William, the
worthy pastor of St. Kilda continued to pray for him every
Sunday, until he accidentally heard of the monarch’s decease !

We must now bid farewell to St. Kilda, and, in doing so,
trust that this little sketch of its people and their habits will
awake in the reader’s breast a new-born interest in that lonely
storm-dashed Atlantic Isle, where the people form a little
commonwealth of their own, undisturbed by the doings of the
great outside world, while around them,

¢—— wind and wave and sea birds’ cry,

With wassail sound in concert vie.”

H.R. M.

THE late Rev. Dr. Macdonald of Ferrintosh visited St. Kilda in
the year 1822. He went one day, when there, to see a well which
had the reputation of possessing some remarkable virtue. The
Rev. gentleman had for his guide a little boy, of the name of
Donald Mackinnon, who afterwards left his lonely native island,
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and for some time resided in the parish of which the “Apostle of
the North” was pastor. But Donald ultimately settled in the Isle
of Harris, where he resided in 1875. On nearing the well, the
minister heard some peculiar sound, and, on asking his guide
what it was, the latter replied, “It’s the noise of the water of the
‘Well of Virtue’ gushing out of the rock.” On reaching the
well, the minister drank heartily of its cooling water. “And at
length,” says Mackinnon, “he asked me the name of the well; for
he seemed to have forgotten it, and I told him that it was called
the ‘Well of Virtue.” He then took a book out of his pocket,
and began to write something in it. I did not know then what
he was doing, for I knew nothing of writing, as I had never seen
any; and, thinking that the holy man was going to do me some
bodily harm, I ran home to my father’s house in great terror, and
hid myself under a bed. But the blessed man’s thoughts were at
that time taken up with quite a different theme—he was compos-
ing a song, and a very long one it was. Thé following verses are
all I remember of it. As to how long I remained under my
father’s bed I cannot tell, but one thing I do remember, namely,
that it was with great coaxing the minister and my father induced
me to leave my hiding-place.” The song was composed to the
well-known Gaelic air, “Mairi Bhan Og,” and called “Tobair nam
Buadh.” The above, as well as the three stanzas of the song
referred to, I took down from Mackinnon’s mouth some twenty
years ago, and I now send the whole as a contribution to H. R.
M. to complete his notes on St. Kilda.

’S tu Tobar nam Buadh tha shuas ’s ghleannan,
’S neo thruaillidh fallain do stor;

Chuala mi d’fhuaim mas d’fhuair mi faisg ort,
’S gur fuaran gasd’ thu tha beo.

Sruthadh bho chearnaidh ard tha creagach,

Do lan co-fhreagar gach uair;

’S mar rinneadh le cach, le’'m laimh bheir mis ort
Mar ainm ‘“Sar uisge uam Buadh.”

’S tu ’n tobar tha fiorghlan, aotram, soillear,
Gun aon ni foilleil fo d” ghruaidh,

Tha sir shruthadh sios gu fial o chruinnich

Am fearrann air thus o’n chuan,

Gun rodadh, gun traoghadh, a ghna ro mhilis,
A ghna cuir thairis gach uair ;
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THE HISTORY OF THE MACLEODS.

[BY THE EDITOR.]

( Continued.)

IX. WILLIAM MACLEOD of Harris and Dunvegan, succeeded
Alexander. We have already seen that, in 1541, on the resigna-
tion of his father, certain lands were granted to William as heir-
apparent upon the occasion of his marriage with Agnes Fraser,
daughter of Hugh Fraser, fourth Lord of Lovat. He was served
heir in special to his father; and, in virtue of a precept from
chancery, he was, on the 15th of May, 1548, infeft in the whole of
the family estates, except Troternish, Sleat, and North Ulist, in
which latter he had been infefted during the life of his father.
The ancient hereditary estates of the family, namely, Harris,
Dunvegan, Minginish, Bracadale, Duirinish, Lyndale, and Glen-
elg, had descended to William under a destination to the heirs
whomsoever, of his father, making this extensive property a
female fief, while at the same time he was a vassal of the Crown,
under a different destination, in the lands of Troternish, Sleat,
and North Uist, which made these a male fief. At this time,
Troternish, the ownership of which was constantly in dispute,
frequently changed masters, and though the legal rights to Sleat
and North Uist were then undoubtedly vested in William Mac-
leod, these lands were occupied by the Macdonalds. When
William Macleod died in 1552-3 without male issue, the two
properties vested in him by different destinations were separated ;
that which was a female fief going to his only child, Mary, then an
infant; the lands of Troternish, Sleat, and North Uist, being a
male fief, going to his brother and heir male, Donald, second son
of Alastair Crottack, who at the same time seized the other
portions of the family estates to the prejudice of his niece,

MARY MACLEOD, whose history in this connection must now
be noticed at considerable length. In 1552-3, James, Earl of
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Arran, Regent of Scotland, made a gift to George, Earl of Huntly,
of the ward, non-entry, relief, and marriage of this wealthy heiress,
in terms of the following document. We have modernised the
orthography :—

“A letter made to George, Earl of Huntly, Lord Gordon and
Badenoch, etc., Chancellor to our Sovereign Lady, his heirs, and
assigns, one or more, the gift of the ward and non-entries, maills,
ferms, profits, and duties of all and sundry the lands under-
written. That is to say, the lands of Harris, Dunvegan, Troter-
nish; the lands of Sleat and North Uist; the lands of Duirinish,
the lands of Bracadale, the lands of Minginish, the lands of Glen-
elg, and all other lands and annual rents which pertained to
umquhile William Macleod of Dunvegan, with the castles, towers,
fortalices, mills, multures, woods, fishings, “annexis connexis,”
both property and tenantry, with tenants, tenantries, service of
free-tenants, advocation, donation, and gift of patronage of the
kirks, benefices, and chaplainaries of all and sundry the fore-named
lands and their pertinents, if any be, of all years and terms bygone,
and that the same has been in our Sovereign Lady’s hands or her
predecessors thereof by reason of non-entries or ward since the
decease of the said umquhile William, or any others his prede-
cessor’s last lawful possessors thereof, immediate tenants to our
Sovereign Lady, or her predecessors of the same, and such-like of
all years and terms to come; aye and while the lawful entry of
the righteous heir or heirs thereto, being of lawful age, with the
relief thereof, when it shall happen, together with the marriage of
[Mary] Macleod [daughter] and heir of the said umquhile William,
and failing of [her], by decease, unmarried, the marriage of any
other heir or heirs, male or female, that shall happen to succeed
to the said umquhile William, or to any others his predecessors in
the lands and heritage foresaid, with all profits of the said marriage,
with power, etc. At Edinburgh, the 11th day of February the
year of God 1552 years.—Per signaturam.”

The Queen Regent, among the other punishments inflicted by
her on the Earl of Huntly for his negligence in the pursuit of
John Moydertach of Clanranald, after the battle of Blar-nan-leine,
compelled him to relinquish this grant of the wardship and marriage
of Mary Macleod ; but Huntly attempted, while in disfavour in 15535,
to dispose of the grant to the Earl of Argyll, who agreed to pay him
twelve hundred merks, five hundred of which were to be paid at

* Register of the Privy Seal, vol. 25, fol. 27.
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the following Michaelmas, within Saint Anthony’s Aisle, in the Kirk
of St. Giles, Edinburgh, and the remainder was to be paid on Saint
Andrew’s day, good security being in the meantime provided for
the full implement of the bargain. The document was witnessed
by Gilbert, Earl of Cassillis; John, Earl of Sutherland, and several
others, and subscribed by the Earls of Argyll and Huntly.* This
transaction was, however, never carried out, for the Queen Regent,
disapproving of Argyll’s support of the Protestants at the time,
compelled Huntly to divest himself of his interest in the heiress
by a special deed of assignation to the Queen Regent herself, She
afterwards bestowed the prize upon James Macdonald of Isla,
who, though married to Agnes Campbell, the Earl’s sister, took
part against Argyll, in order to secure possession of the wealthy
heiress of Dunvegan. The document is dated the 27th day of
June, 1559, and declares that the assignation is made to James
Macdonald of Dunyveg and the Glens, his heirs and assigns,
“and that for certane greit soumes of money” paid and delivered
by him.

William Macleod, who, as we have seen, died without male
issue, was succeeded, as chief of the clan, and nominal
proprietor of the lands of Troternish, Sleat, and North Uist, by
his next brother,

X. DONALD MACLEOD, and he seized, apparently with the
full consent of the clan, the lands of Dunvegan, Glenelg, and the
others which then legally belonged to his niece, Mary Macleod
He was not, however, permitted to remain long in possession, for
he was soon after assassinated by John Og Macleod of Minginish,
at Kingsburgh, in Troternish. His murderer, John Og Macleod,
who, failing Donald’s only remaining brother, Tormod, would
have become himself heir to the chiefship and the family estates
legally vested in his brother, Donald. To succeed to this
position was undoubtedly the object of the young assassin; for
at the same time that he murdered Donald, he was doing all he
could to get at his brother, Tormod, then attending the Glasgow
University, with the object of assassinating him also, and clearing

* General Register of Deeds, vol, i., p. 230. Recorded on the
18th of November, 1555,

0
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the way for his own succession. It, however, appears that John
Og was able to keep possession of the estates of the heiress and of
Dunvegan Castle until his death in 1509. On the death of Donald,

XI. TORMOD MACLEOD succeeded him in all his legal rights,
and, as head of the clan. Gregory so well describes the relationships
of parties at this period that we cannot do better than quote him at
length, afterwards giving the documents on which he founds, but
does not print. He says—In this reign (Queen Mary’s), the Earl
of Argyll contrived to extend his influence to the North Isles,
and over two of the most powerful tribes in that quarter, the Clan-
Donald of Skye and North Uist, and the Clan-Leod of Harris,
Dunvegan, and Glenelg. The mode in which this object was
attained is so characteristic of the policy of the house of Argyll
that it seems to merit some detail in reference to the rapid
increase of the power of that noble family.

William Macleod of Harris, chief of the ““ Siol Tormoid,” was
the undisputed proprietor of the estates of Harris, Dunvegan, and
Glenelg, under a particular destination, which, on his death in
1553, caused these extensive possessions to descend to his
daughter and heiress, Mary. He was, at the same time, nominal
proprietor of Sleat, Troternish, and North Uist, the possession
of which, we have seen, the Siol Tormoid had unsuccessfully
disputed with the Clan-Donald. On the death of William Macleod,
his claim to the last-mentioned was inherited by his brother and
heir male, Donald. The Siol Tormoid was now placed in a
position which, though quite intelligible on the principle of feudal
law, was totally opposed to the Celtic customs that still prevailed,
to a great extent, throughout the Highlands and Isles. A female
and a minor was the legal proprietrix of the ancient possessions of
the tribe, which, by her marriage, might be conveyed to another
and a hostile family; while her uncle, the natural leader of the
clan, according to ancient custom, was left without any means to
keep up the dignity of a chief, or to support the clan against its
enemies. His claims on the estates possessed by the Clan-Donald
were worse than nugatory, as they threatened to involve him in a
feud with that powerful and warlike tribe, in case he should take
any steps to enforce them. In these circumstances, Donald
Macleod seized, apparently with the consent of his clan, the
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estates which legally belonged to his niece, the heiress; and thus,
in practice, the feudal law was made to yield to ancient and
inveterate custom. Donald did not enjoy these estates long,
being murdered in Trouterness by a relation of his own, John Og
Macleod, who, failing Tormod, the only remaining brother of
Donald, would have become the heir male of the family. John
Og next plotted the destruction of Tormod, who was at the time
a student in the University of Glasgow; but in this he was foiled
by the interposition of the Earl of Argyll. He contrived, notwith-
standing, to retain possession of the estates of the heiress, and of
the command of the clan, till his death in 1559. In the meantime,
the feudal rights of the wardship, relief, and marriage of the
heiress of Harris, were eagerly sought after by various powerful
individuals. They were first bestowed, in 1553, by the Regent
Arran, upon the Earl of Huntly, who afterwards proposed to sell
his interest in the heiress and her property, to the fourth Earl of
Argyll, for a large sum of money. But Huntly, having fallen into
disgrace with the Queen Regent, as formerly mentioned, was
compelled to relinquish his bargain with Argyll, and to resign into
her hands the claims he had acquired from Arran to the guardian-
ship of Mary Macleod. The Regent, while endeavouring in 1559,
to secure the assistance of James Macdonald of Isla against the
Protestants, of whom the fifth Earl of Argyll was one of the
principal leaders, committed the feudal guardianship of the young
heiress to that chief. In 1562, we find that the person of the
young lady had, by some accident, come into the custody of
Kenneth Mackenzie of Kintail, who, having refused to give her
up to her lawful guardian, James Macdonald, was at length com-
pelled to deliver her to Queen Mary, with whom she remained for
some years as a maid of honour, being no doubt one of the Queen’s
celebrated Marjes. Macdonald seems now to have made over his
claims to Argyll, who finally exercised the right of guardianship,
by giving Mary Macleod in marriage to his kinsman, Duncan
Campbell, younger of Auchinbreck. But previous to the marriage,
the Earl, sensible of the difficulty which would attend any attempt
to put an individual of his clan in possession of the territories of
the Siol Tormoid, even although he had the law in his favour,
entered into the following arrangements, the most judicious that
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could be devised for making the most of his position at the time.
His first agreement was with Tormod Macleod, who had been for
some years in actual possession of Harris and the other estates of
the Lewis, and had already given to the Earl (for the good offices
of the latter) his bond of service for himself and his clan. It was
arranged that Macleod should renounce, in favour of Argyll, all
claim he had to the lands of the Clan-Donald; that he should
likewise pay the sum of one thousand merks towards the dowry of
his niece. Argyll, on the other hand, engaged to procure from
Mary Macleod, and any husband she might marry, a complete
surrender of her title to the lands of Harris, Dunvegan, and Glen-
elg; and to obtain for Tormod a crown charter of that estate.
His next agreement was with Donald Gorm Macdonald of Sleat;
and in consideration of that chief paying five hundred merks
towards the dowry of Mary Macleod, and of his likewise giving his
bond of service for himself and his clan to Argyll, the latter
engaged to make him his vassal in the lands of Troternish, Sleat,
and North Uist, to which the Macdonalds had at present no legal
claim. Argyll's agreement with Tormod Macleod was actually
carried into effect; but circumstances seem to have interfered with
the final completion of his contract with Macdonald. It is
evident, however, that, although in the case of the Siol Tormoid,
at this time, ancient custom prevented the feudal law of succession
from being carried into effect in its full extent, yet the Earl of
Argyll did not surrender his legal claims without indemnifying
himself amply for the sacrifice.*

The following is the contract, modernised in orthography,
entered into between the Earl of Argyll and Norman Macleod,
with consent of his guardian, Hector Maclean of Duart, in 1559-60
and referred to by Gregory :—

“At Dunoon, the first day of March, the year of God 1559
years: It is accorded, agreed, and finally accorded, betwixt a noble
and potent Lord Archibald, Earl of Argyll, on the one part, and
Tormod Macleod, son to [umquhile] Alexander Macleod of the
Harris, as principal in this contract, and Hector Maclean of Duart

as principal favourer and tutor to the said Tormod, on the other
part, in manner, form, and effect, as after follows: That is to say,

* Western Highlands and Isles, pp, 203-207
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forasmuch as the said Earl has redeemed and obtained the said
Tormod out of the captivity and enemies’ hands, wherein he was
with the Frenchmen; yet the said Earl obliges him to fortify,
help, and set forward the said Tormod to win and enjoy the herit-
age and rooms that pertained to his father and brother of Harris,
with the pertinents Tewedes [?] and Glenelg, and all other bounds
whereof they have old title of heritage in special, and shall be a
good lord and master to the said Tormod in all his actions and
just causes ; and to the effect that the same may come the better
forward, has delivered the said Tormod to the said Hector to be
helped and fortified ; for the which cause the said Tormod, by
these presents, gives and grants his bond of manrent, his faithful
and true service, with all his kin and friends, and his heirs and
successors of the Harris, to the said Earl, his heirs and successors,
of Argyll, perpetually ; also shall not marry but with the advice
of the said Earl, whose counsel he shall take in marrying a wife;
and being established in his rooms of the Harris and Tewedess,
. shall pay the value or estimation of the avail of the ward and
marriage of the Harris and the labours and travels of the said
Earl to him and to the said Hector, to be divided as the said Earl
thinks cause betwixt him and the said Hector Maclean; and in
case the said Tormod fail in any part of the premisses, he is con-
tent to be counted unworthy to enjoy the room of a gentleman
for ever in Scotland, but to be perpetually defamed ; and also the
said Hector to be perpetual enemy to him, dissolving the bond
of kindness that is betwixt their houses, in all times to come ; and
also the said Tormod not to pass to the North Isles, but with the
advice and licence of the said Earl at his passage there; and in
case his friends come to him, that they ratify and approve this
bond, before his departing to the North.”

The reference to Tormod being captive with Frenchmen, is
explained by the probability of his having been captured by some
of the French Auxiliaries, who, during the Regency of Queen Mary
of Guise, were employed in maintaining the internal peace of
Scotland.

At Edinburgh, on the 21st May, 1562, in presence of the
Queen and Lord of the Privy Council, appeared Kenneth Mac-
kenzie of Kintail, “who being commanded by letters and also by
writings direct from the Queen’s Grace, to exhibit, produce, and
present before Her Highness, Mary Macleod, daughter and heir
of umquhile William Macleod of Harris, conform to the letters and
charges direct thereupon; and declared that James Macdonald
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had an action depending before the Lords of Session against him
for deliverance of the said Mary to him, and that therefore he
could not goodly deliver her ; notwithstanding the which, the
Queen’s Majesty ordained the said Kenneth to deliver the said
Mary to Her Highness, and granted that he should incur no skaith
therethrough at the hands of the said James, or any others, not-
withstanding any title or action they had against him therefor.
And the said Kenneth, knowing his dutiful obedience to the
Queen’s Majesty, and that the Queen had ordained him to deliver
the said Mary to Her Highness in manner foresaid, he on no wise
could disobey ; and therefore delivered the said Mary to the
Queen’s Majesty, conform to her ordinance foresaid.” For some
years after this, Mary Macleod was a member of the Queen’s
household, as appears conclusively from several entries in the
accounts of the Lord High Treasurer of Scotland in 1562 and
again in 1564-5.

The following contract, between Argyll and Tormod Macleod,
appears to be supplementary to that dated 1559-60, and already
quoted :—

“ At Edinburgh, the twenty-fourth day of February, the year
of God, 1566, it is appointed, agreed, and finally ended, betwixt
one right noble and mighty Lord Archibald, Earl of Argyll, for
himself and having the right of the ward and relief of all lands
which pertained to umquhile William Macleod of Dunvegan with
the marriage of Mary Macleod, only daughter and apparent heir
to the said umquhile William, and also accepting the burden upon
him for her on that one part: And Tormod Macleod, brother and
heir male and of tailzie to the said umquhile William, and also heir
male to umquhile Alexander Macleod of Dunvegan, his father, of*
the lands of Troternish, Sleat, and North Uist, on the other part
in manner following : Thatis to say : Forasmuch as the said noble
Lord, having the right to the gift of the ward, relief, and marriage
foresaid, shall do his diligence to obtain the said Mary Macleod to be
heritably infeft as heir to the said umquhile William, her father, and
failing thereof as heir to the said umquhile Alexander, his goodsir,
of all lands untailzied contained in the charter made to the said
umgquhile Alexander by our Sovereign Lord that last deceased,
viz:—the Lands of Glenelg, Minginish, Bracadale, Lyndale,
Duirinish, Harris, and Hirta [St. Kilda], if the old charter and
seisins may be had, and failing thereof shall do diligence to get to
the said Mary, of our said Sovereign and her successors, a new
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infeftment, with charter and precept of seisin, with supplying of
all faults, of lands untailzied specified in the charter granted by out
said Sovereign’s umquhile father to the said umquhile Alexander
of before, and the said Mary being heritably infeft therein [he]
shall cause her, with consent of her curators or spouse, if she any
shall happen to have for the time, infeft again in the most sure
manner, the said Tormod and his heirs heritable in the said whole
untailzied lands to be holden of our said sovereign. and her
successors either by resignation or confirmation, as he shall think
most expedient, and please to devise, after the form of her said
infeftment ; and also the said noble Lord, as having the right to
the ward, relief, and marriage foresaid, shall provide the said
Mary Macleod of a husband and party agreeable to her estate ;
and so being married, [he] shall cause her, with consent and
assent of her said future spouse, ratify and approve the said infeft-
ment to be given to the said Tormod of the said untailzied lands;
and also the said Earl shall at the time of the said ratification
discharge the said Tormod and his heirs of all maills, ferms,
profits, and duties of the said untailzied lands of all years and
terms byegone intromitted with by him during the time of the
said ward ; which infeftment being past and ended upon the said
Earl’s expenses, in manner foresaid, the said Tormod shall incon-
tinent thereafter make himself to be heritably infeft in all lands
and annual rents contained in the charter tailzie of his said
umqubhile father as heir of tailzie to him ; and immediately there-
after shall infeft the said noble Lord and his heirs therein heritably
to be holden of our said Sovereign and her successors either by
resignation or confirmation at the option of the said Earl as freely
as the said umquhile Alexander, his father, held the same of
before ; the said Earl obtaining our sovereign or her successor’s
consent thereto; and also the said Tormod shall content, pay, and
deliver to the said Mary and her said spouse future, the sum of
one thousand pounds money in contentation of his part of the
tocher ; and, further, the said Tormod shall renounce all right,
kindness, title, interest and possession, together with the by-run
profits, maills and duties which he had, has, or may claim to the
said tailzied lands or bailliary thereof, for him, his heirs, and suc-
cessors forever, and shall pretend no right thereto in times com-
ing for any cause by-gone ; and also the said Tormod, being infeft
as said is, shall deliver to the said noble Lord all old evidents
which he has or may have of any of the lands tailzied above
written made to any of his predecessors of before.” [Then fol-
lows the usual clause agreeing to the registration of the deed,
etc.]

By a contract dated the third day of March, 1566-7, Archi-
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bald, fifth Earl of Argyll, undertakes to obtain for Donald
Macdonald of Sleat heritable infeftment in the lands of Troternish,
Sleat, and North Uist, to be held of himself on payment by
Macdonald to him of one thousand merks Scots, and five hundred
merks towards the dowry of Mary Macleod. Macdonald was also
to give his bond of manrent to Argyll “in the best and straitest
form that the said Earl will devise,” and he was “to fortify and
assist” Tormod Macleod “in his causes and defenses lawful and
honest in time coming when he shall be required thereto by the
said noble Earl.” It would appear from this that the Macdonalds
of Sleat were afterwards left in undisputed possession of the lands
in question, otherwise this bond of friendship would have been an
absurdity.

In 1572, James VI. granted Mary Macleod a charter, dated
15th of September in that year, of all the paternal estates of the
family, including part of the lands and the bailliary of Troternish,*
but the inclusion of the latter is supposed to be merely a clerical
error..

In 1573, the heiress of Macleod married Duncan Campbell,
younger of Auchinbreck, a kinsman of the Earl of Argyll, when it
was proposed to convey all the lands described in the charter of
the previous year to her uncle, Tormod Macleod, by a Charter of
Sale, as appears from an unsigned and undated Charter of Sale
preserved in the Dunvegan Charter Chest, and quoted in the
“Transactions of the Iona Club.” This mode was found beset
with some legal difficulties, however, and Tormod was finally
infeft and seised in all the lands named in the Royal Charter in
1572 in favour of his niece, upon a Charter of Resignation under
the Great Seal, dated 4th of February, 1579-80, and proceeding
upon the resignation of Mary Macleod, with consent of her
husband, Duncan Campbell, heir-apparent of Auchinbreck, in
favour of her uncle, Tormod Macleod, who was infeft in the
whole family estates in July following.

(7o be continued.)

* Register of the Great Seal, Book 33, No, 9. The Charter is also printed
P 150, Collectanca de Rebus Albanicis,
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THE STATE OF THE HIGHLANDS A HUNDRED
YEARS AGO.

II1.

IN our last we parted with Mr. Knox on his arrival in Portree, the
country around which, he tells us, though mountainous, is well
inhabited, raises much grain, and many cattle. “ Here the late
Sir James Macdonald had marked out the lines of a town, and
government, it is said, promised to assist him in the work with
4500, but the death of that gentleman putan end to these promis-
ing appearances, and matters remain ¢z statu quo.” At the bottom
of the bay he found ‘“a church, an appearance of a village, some
small craft, and many fishing-boats,” and he was much impressed
with the agreeable landscapes on both sides, and the excellent
pasture in the vicinity of what we now know as the somewhat
lively village of Portree, so called from the fact that James V. of
Scotland, and several of his nobility, landed there while on a tour
to the Hebrides in 1540.

Mr. Knox did not remain long in Portree, finding nothing to
interest him, except Mr. William Macdonald, an experienced
trader and well acquainted with fishing, who offered to accompany
him to the Western portion of the Island. At the time, ‘ the
inhabitants of Skye were mostly engaged upon the roads in different
parts of the Island, under the inspection of the gentlemen and
tacksmen, and accompanied each party by the bagpiper. Many
of these people had to travel eight miles from home, and the
greatest part of them were at a loss for lodgings, excepting that
which the cold earth and the open sky afforded. Yet, after all
these labours and inconveniences, no effectual roads, and much
less effectual bridges, can be made through these bogs and rocks.”
A road had just been begun from Portree westward, and he passed
two or three hundred men at work. Having arrived near Skea-
bost, he turned westward across the hills in the direction of
Bracadale, the Loch of which name, he informs us, was “edged
with excellent cornfields, and well inhabited,” and here was “a
church, a school, a corn mill, and, what is very uncommon in the
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Highlands, a surgeon.” Compare this with its present condition !
Here he found one of those circular buildings called Duns, the
diameter of which to the outside was 60 feet, 42 within, and the
height of what remained of it was 18 feet. Mr. Knox was
introduced to Mr. Macleod of Ullinish, a gentleman, who, “from
his great probity, and the respect in which he is held, has, in
some cases, the duty of a sheriff imposed upon him by the in-
habitants, to whom he is a father.” Before proceeding further on
his way to Dunvegan, Mr. Macleod strongly urged a short visit to
the estate of Colonel Macleod of Tallisker, which stood on the
coast, some miles eastward. They went by sea, and, before they
could land at the bay of Tallisker, “Mr. Macleod, though ex-
tremely corpulent, had, with his usual politeness, reached the
beach, from whence we were conducted, through a small but rich
valley, to the seat of plenty, hospitality, and good-nature.” The
mountains in the neighbourhood abounded in “deer, hare, and
wild fowl; the fields in grain, hay, and pasturage; the
gardens in fruits and vegetables; the rivers in trout
and salmon; the sea in herrings and white fish. Such,
with the additional circumstance of a well-stocked cellar, are the
felicities of this very remote and almost inaccessible corner.
While these furnish many of the choicest luxuries of life, Tallisker
and his lady enjoy the good will of the people around.” Next
morning Mr. Knox was accompanied by Mr. Macleod of Tallisker
to Ullinish. They soon after arrived at Dunvegan Castle. Mr. Knox
informs us that “this estate has been greatly diminished of late
years, on account of debts; and much remains to be discharged.
Notwithstanding this circumstance, the proprietor raised no rents,

turned out no tenants, used no man with severity, and in all

respects, and, under the most pressing exigencies, maintained the
character of a liberal and humane friend of mankind.” Having
described the situation of the Castle, and related some interesting
incidents connected with Dr. Johnson’s visit while on his Hebri-
dean tour, our author informs us that, at the date of his visit,
Macleod of Macleod himself was in India, where he held the rank
of Major-General in the army, but his return was sincerely wished
for by all, from the highest to the lowest, on his estate. The
Castle was inhabited at the time by “Major Alexander Macleod
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and his lady, a daughter of the celebrated Flora Macdonald, who
protected the young Pretender through all his hairbreadth
escapes,” after the battle of Culloden. In those days, the gentle-
men of Skye did not appear to be over particular regarding the
sacredness of the Sabbath day, for we are told that, being at
Dunvegan Castle, “upon a Sunday, our company became, after
church-time, very numerous, and was composed chiefly of gentle-
men who had been in the army. My object was to push the
subscription, which I endeavoured to represent as a very becoming
supplement to the service of the day, in which the company
readily acquiesced ; among whom was the clergyman, who, though
his income is only £40 per annum, bestowed his mite with great
good will.” It is interesting to find that the population of Skye
was nearly as large then asitisin 1885. Mr. Knox says, “though
several vessels have been loaded with emigrants from this Island
since 1759, the number of inhabitants amounts at present to
15,000; some of the gentlemen of the Island affirm that there are
16,000 or upwards.” Of these, he informs us, 7000 lived upon
the Macdonald estates. He further says that the most fertile
parts lay upon the coast, “but many thousand acres of good
arable ground might be realised upon the declivities of the inland
hills,” by the use of lime, draining, enclosing, and other improve-
ments, The average crops in the Island were 8000 bolls annually,
while the exports of black cattle, “the largest and best in the
Highlands,” were 4000, realising from £2 to 43 each. He tells
us that, among other valuable minerals, there were some appear-
ances of coal in the neighbourhood of Portree, and in some other
parts of the Island, “but the vein does not exceed four or five
inches, and the quality is bad. No proper trials have, however,
been made, by boring to the depth where good coal is usually
found.” At the time there was only one solitary shop in the
whole Island, the honour of its possession falling to Portree.

Mr. Knox took passage in an open boat from Skye to Benbe-
cula. On the voyage he experienced a severe storm, so that they
were unable to cross, and had finally to make for Rodel, in Harris.
He greatly admired the skill and bodily strength of the crew,
and regretted, even in the deplorable situation in which he
was placed, “the bad policy of obliging such men to abandon
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their country, and to fly to distant regions, for a mere livelihood.”
The Island of Harris, with a number of small ones, including St.
Kilda, was purchased eight years before our author’s visit, from
the Laird of Macleod, by his relative, Captain Macleod of the
Mansfield East Indiaman. This gentleman was most enterprising.
He constructed an excellent harbour at Rodel, and built a store-
house for salt, casks, and meal, and a manufactory for spinning
woollen and linen thread, and twine for herring-nets. He also
introduced some East-country fishermen, with Orkney yawls, with
the view of teaching the inhabitants to fish. He re-built Rodel
Cathedral, erected a school and an inn in the district, and did a good
deal of plantation, which vastly improved the appearance of the
place. He also introduced the model of a press, corn, and
fulling-mill. In 1786 he proposed to try fishing on the coast of
Harris, near his own house, but was ridiculed by his tenants, who
maintained that no fish could be got there, but the proprietor
persisted in his experiment, and got, between the 10th of March
and the 15th of April, no less than 4400 large cod and ling;
between 400 and 500 skate; and immense quantities of dog-fish,
large eels, and boat-loads of cuddies. After describing the manner
in which Mr. Macleod behaved to the people of Harris, how he
encouraged the fisheries, placing men in every loch, bay; or
creek, and providing them with boats, allowing them cottages and
potato-ground rent-free, furnishing them with all necessaries at
cost price, and taking their fish in payment at the full market price,
Mr. Knox says that his conduct “ought to be a model for some
proprietors in the Highlands, who, blinded by the representations
of factors, and misled by their influence, have never permitted
their tenantry to raise their heads, and are continually crushing
them by new impositions upon their industry and upon every
appearance of improvement; by which they are stripped of the
fruits of their labour, to which the improver, and not the master,
has, in common justice, the best right. The consequence of this
squeezing system has invariably proved a fictitious, instead of a
real rent-roll well paid; and thus each party impoverishes and
distresses the other.” This is the old, but ever new, story.
A M
(7o be continued.,)
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PUBLICATIONS.

REMINISCENCES OF THE LIFE AND LABOURS OF DUGALD
BUCHANAN, with his Spiritual Songs, and an English
Version of them. By the Rev. A. SINCLAIR, A.M,,
Kenmore. Edinburgh: Maclachlan & Stewart. 1885.

THE fact that this is the twenty-second edition of the Poems,
and the second edition of Mr. Sinclair’s admirable little work,
amply testifies to the fact that the good old sappy Poet of
Rannoch has lost none of his charm for the pious and cultured
people of the Highlands. To speak of the Poems themselves in
the face of the fact that we have already mentioned would be
perfectly superfluous. Where is the Highland fireside at which
the hallowed and spiritualising influence of Dugald Buchanan’s
poetry has not been felt? Nor is the appreciation of their high
poetic aroma at all on the wane; indeed, the admiring sentiments
excited by their pious teaching and melifluous melody, has only
been intensified the more they are subjected to the severer
criticism of our own times. That Mr. Sinclair has done his work
in a thorough manner, and with a sympathetic spirit, is evident
from every page of the work. The biographical reminiscences
are carefully selected; the Gaelic version of the Poems is most
correctly edited; and the English translation, though necessarily
far behind the original in point of moving power and lofty
expression, is at the same time a very faithful representation of
the sentiments of the author. The printer has done his part with
taste, and no less so has the binder. The book is outwardly neat
and handy, inwardly tasteful and correct, and it therefore follows
as a matter of course that the work is one which Highlanders
ought to possess and prize. Not only as a moral teacher, but as a

poet, we regard Buchanan as by far the best of the Gaelic bards
of modern times.
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THE SACRED SONGS OF THE GAEL: A Collection of Gaelic
Hymns, with Translations. By L. MACBEAN. Part I
Price Sixpence. Music in both Notations. Edinburgh:
Maclachlan & Stewart. Glasgow : Porteous Brothers.

IT often baffles outsiders to understand the deep-rooted objection
entertained by the great majority of the Highland people to the
use of hymns in public worship, while much talent and genius
have been exercised in the production of spiritual songs by some
of their most accredited religious teachers. The explanation lies
in the distinction the average Highlander observes between the
form proper of the services of the sanctuary and that of the
religious exercises of every-day life, and not in an aversion to
hymns. The Gaelic hymnists, who generally were the respected
and accepted exponents of divine truth, were in sympathy with
this distinction, and did not design their hymns for use in
churches, nor was such necessary in order to give them an
effective and permanent place in the hearts of the people. The
Highlander is essentially possessed of a musical and poetic, as well
as of a religious temperament, and he naturally cherishes a deep
atttachment to his native melodies and songs, whether secular or
sacred. It may be true that one or two thin volumes of either
kind of song, and the Gaelic Bible, form the sole library in many
of the Island and Highland cottages; but then these books are
better known and valued all the more that they are few in number,
a fact not without its advantages. In compiling the “Sacred
Songs of the Gael,” Mr. MacBean has met this condition of things
with a stimulus for the wider use of already well-known hymns,
and has preserved melodies, all of considerable, and some of them
of great, merit. The book, which i$ uniform with the “ Songs of
the Gael” and the “Celtic Lyre” series, is the first part of a
selection from the works of the Rev. Peter Grant, Dugald
Buchanan, the Rev. Dr. Macgregor, John Maclean, and Rob
Donn. The verses are selected with care, and strung together so
as to preserve a natural sequence and completeness in small
compass; while the translations into English bring out the wonted

e
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graces of Mr. MacBean’s pen. Translations are generally of
secondary importance, but to be readable they require aptitude and
ability, and few who remember Mr. MacBean’s translation of
Dugald Buchanan’s poems, will dispute his claim to both. The
tunes, as a rule, are those to which the hymns were composed, or
with which they have been long associated, and they are genuinely
Highland. Where a selection had to be made, the choice, a very
difficult matter, is good. The whole represents many phases of
character and feeling. To a few, simple harmonies have been
arranged by Mr. H. W. Murray, of the Andersonian College,
Glasgow. The eye does not readily fall on errors in spelling, or
on evidences of anything but the most careful editing. In a note
the compiler says, “This is, so far as known, the first collection of
Highland sacred melodies published, but the vein of such music
has been found so rich and interesting, that if this publication is
well received, a second part will shortly be added.” Both on
account of its being the first of its kind, and because of its merits
otherwise, we extend to it more than a passing welcome, and hope
the fulfilment of the condition laid down in the above note will
encourage the speedy issue of a second part. The mutual depend-
ence of words and music on each other has been so often illustrated
that it is obvious, if our hymns are to be long preserved as a living,
working power, they must be placed before the public, accom-
panied by music as in this book, and we have no doubt the labour
so well expended here will receive appreciative recognition. The

printer has left little to be desired, and though much pressure has
been put on his space, the work is neatly and tastefully executed.




The Celtic Magasine.

GAELIC ALMANACK FOR JANUARY, 1886.

I Mhios.]

AN FHAOILTEACH, 1886.

)) AN CIAD CHR.,—I3 LA—O0.24 F.

MUTHADH AN T-SOLUIS.
@ AN SOLUS UR—5 LA—7.44 M. l O AN SOLUS LAN—20 LA—7.45 M.

( AN CR. MU DHEIR.—27 LA—I1.31 M.

7 7
lagiion) dntan | anton,
Ih

DT, EE:]‘:ig}B MAD. I*‘EASG.;‘ MAD. [FEASG,

[ T ER YA EE YA A YA E v

1| H| A’ Bhliadhn’ ur. 8.47E || 11.14|11.48 | 9. 5| 9.39

2| S | Breith Rob Ruaidh, 1735. 3.48L || 0.1g| 020 I0.10| IO.IX

3| B | Didonaick an déigh na Bliadki’ tare. || 8.47 E | 046 1.11 /103711, 2
4 L | Breith Ban-tighearn’ Anna Halket,

1622. 3.50L || L34| 5.57| 11.25 1548

5| M| Breith Thomais Phringle, 1789. 8.46E | r.77| 2.35] o. 8| 0.26

6| C | An t-Seann Nolluig. 3.52L || 2.54| 3.10(| 045 I. I

7| D | [6] La nan Tri Righrean. 8.45E | 3.28| 3.44| 1.19| L35

8| H| Breith Phrionns Ailbeart Victor, 1864. || 3.55 L || 4. 1| 4.17| 1.52| 2. 8

9| S | An Fhéill Fhaolain. 8.44E || 4.35| 4.51( 2:26| 242

10| B | X Donaickand. Lanan Tri Righrean. || 3.58L || 5. 6| 5.23| 2.57| 3.14

11 | L | Diluain an t-Sainnseil. 8.42E || 530| 558[ 3.30| 3.49

12 | M| Bis Shir Tain Mac Mhuirich, 1829. 4. 2L 616 637! 4. 7| 428
13| C | Breith Shir Phadruig Hume, Ridir,

1641. 8.40% || 658/ 7.22| 449 5.13
14| D | Bds Dhedrsa Husband Baird, oLL.

D.,* 1840. 4. 5L 747| 815 538! 6.6
15| H| Bas Fanraic Mhic-Coinnich, 1831, 8.38E || 8.46| 919 637 7.10
16| S | [17] Latha na h-Eaglaise-brice, 1746.| 4. 9 L || 9.59|10.37| 7.50| 8.28
17| D | /7. Donaick an d. Lanan Tri Righrean.| 8.36 E || 11.13 [ 11.48 || 9. 4| 9.39
18| L | Breith Iain Ghill’ Iosa, oLL. Lagh,,

1747. 4.13 L || 0.19| 02I | 10.10|10.12
19| M| Bas Thomais Ghillespie, 1774. 8.33E || 0.52| 1.19] 1043|1110
20| C | Ciad Pharlamaid Shasunn, 1365. 4.17L || 1.46( 211|11.37] 0 2
21| D | Breith Dhebrsa Ghillespie, 1613. 8.30k | 236| 3 2| o027| 053
22 | H| [23] Bas Iarla Mhoiridh, 1570. | 4.21L | 3.26| 3.49| LI7| I1.40
23| S | Posadh Dhilic Dhunéideann, 1874. 8.27E || 4.12| 437/ 2. 3| 228
24 | D |/ZI. Donaichan d. La nan 77i Righrean.| 4.25L | 5. 1| 5.23| 2.52| 3.14
25| L | Diluain an t-Sainnseil, S.C. 8.24E || 546| 6. 8| 3.37| 3-59
26 | M| Bis Cheannard Ghordan, 1885, 4.30L || 6.30| 6.54| 4.21| 445
27| C | An Fhéill Chomain. 8.20E || 7.18| 7.44| 5. 9| 535
28| D | Bas Righ Debrsa IIL, 1820. 4.34L || 811| 841 6. 2| 6.32
29| H | Ciad Pharlamaid leasaichte, 1833. 816E || 915 9.51 ” 7. 6| 7.42
30| S | Bas Righ Tearlach L., 1649. 4.39L | 1033|1011 824| Q. 2
31| B |7V. Donaick an d. Lanan Tri[\’iglzrean.l 8.13E ‘11.49 0.19 ’ 9.40 | 10.10

*0oLL. D. (Ollamh ri Diadhachd)—DD.




*>

aguzine,

T2 aa

“a o } 1 4.2
CONDUCTED BY

ALEXANDER MACKENZIE, F.8.A. Scot.

No. CXXIV. FEBRUARY, 1886. VoL. XI.

THE CELTIC CHURCH IN SCOTLAND.
[BY PROVOST MACANDREW.]

( Continued.)

SucH, then, was the Church established by St. Columba in
Scotland in its outward aspect and organization. Of its internal
economy and of the daily life of its members, as exhibited in the
parent Monastery of Iona, we can, by careful reading, obtain a
tolerably clear picture from Adamman’s life of the founder,
written by an abbot of Iona, about eighty years after St.
Columba’s death. And, as Iona was the parent monastery, it
was no doubt the pattern and example of the others. The
monks in Iona lived together as one family, each having his
separate house or bothy, but taking their meals in common.
They lived in strict obedience to the abbot, they were celebate,
they had all their property in common, and they supported them-
selves by their own labour. There are numerous notices of them
labouring in the fields, bringing home the corn, milking cows, and
so forth, and they had a mill and a kiln. Their food seems to
have consisted of milk, bread, fish, the flesh of seals, and beef
and mutton. They had numerous services in the church, they
were much given to reading and repeating the Scriptures, and
particularly the Psalms, and they were diligent scribes. There are
repeated notices of their labours in writing ;—the last labour in
10
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which St. Columba was engaged was copying the psalter,—and,
naturally, they became the teachers of the community. They
were also much given to hospitality, for there are frequent notices
of the guest chamber, and of the arrival of guests, and of additions
made to the meals on account of such arrivals.

From this monastery, as a home, Columba’s mission was
conducted. As we have seen, he got a grant of the Island of
Iona, either from the King of the Picts or the King of the Scots;
and his method seems to have been to go in the first instance to
the King or Chief of the territory in which he arrived, to interest
himn in his mission, then to obtain a grant of a village or rath, or
dune with surrounding land, and then to establish a monastery,
under the protection and patronage of the chief: in fact, to
establish and endow his Church. Of this method we have an
account in the Book of Deer, the contents of which, philologically,
were so ably dealt with by Mr. Macbain last season. The
monastery of Deer was, perhaps, the very last of the Columban
foundations which retained anything of its original character, and
in this relic of it which has come down to us we have the legend
of its establishment, which admirably illustrates St. Columba’s
method.

Columeille, and Drostan, son of Cosgrach, his pupil, came
from Hi, as God had shown to them, unto Abbordoboir, and Bede,
the Pict, was Mormaer of Buchan before them, and it was he that
gave them that town in freedom for ever from Mormaer and
toisech. They came after that to the other town, and it was
pleasing to Columeille because it was full of God’s grace, and he
asked of the Mormaer, to wit, Bede, that he should give it to him,
and he did not give it, and a son of his took an illness after (or
in consequence of) refusing the clerics, and he was nearly dead
(lit. he was dead, but if it were a little).  After this the Mormaer
went to entreat the clerics that they should make a prayer for the
son, that health should come to him ; and he gave an offering to
them from Cloch in Tiprat to Cloch pette meic Garnait. They
made the prayer, and health came to him. After that Columeille
gave to Drostan that town, and blessed it, and left as (his) word
‘“ Whosoever should come against it, let him not be many yeared
(or) victorious.” Drostan’s tears came on parting from Collumeille.
Said Columeille, - Let Déar be its name henceforward.”

Having thus established a community, they were placed under
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the superintendence of a subject abbot to prosecute their work of
bringing the tribe among which they were established to a
knowledge of the truth, and from the monastery thus established
there branched out cill churches, anoit churches, and all the
other subordinate establishments which I have mentioned, and
there went forth pilgrims and teachers, and sometimes colonies of
monks, to establish other monasteries. Columba’s idea of the
method of spreading Christianity seems to have been—first the
establishment of a separate Christian community in the midst of
the people to be converted, the leading by the members of this
community of a pure and self-denying Christian life, practising
the precepts which they taught, and exhibiting the effect on
their own lives of a belief in the doctrines which they preached ;
and next, the reading and teaching of the Scriptures, and the
preaching of its doctrines. That his influence long survived him,
and that a pure and holy life was long characteristic of the clergy
of his Church, is amply testified by Bede, who never mentions
any of the clergy of the branch of the Church of Iona, which
existed, as I have said, for 30 years in Northumberland, without—
while deploring their ignorance and perversity in not observing
Easter at the proper time—praising their chaste and self-denying
lives. Thus he says of Colman, the last of the three abbots and
bishops of this Church, who ruled at Lindesfarne, and who
returned to Iona on the King and people adopting the Roman
time of celebrating Easter :—

“The place which he governed shows how frugal he and his
predecessors were, for there were very few houses besides the
church found at their departure; indeed, no more than were
barely sufficient for their daily residence; they had also no
money, but cattle; for if they received any money from rich
persons, they immediately gave it to the poor; their being no
need to gather money, or provide houses for the entertainment
of the great men of the world ; for such never resorted to the
church, except to pray and hear the Word of God. The King
himself, when opportunity offered, came only with five or six
servants, and having performed his devotions in the church,
departed.  But if they happened to take a repast there, they
were satisfied with only the plain and daily food of the brethren,
and required no more ; for the whole care of those teachers was
to serve God, not the world—to feed the soul, and not the belly.”



148 The Celtic Magaszine.

And again of Aiden, the first of these bishops, he says :—

“ I have written thus much concerning the person and works
of the aforesaid Aidan, in no way commending or approving what
he imperfectly understood in relation to the observance of Easter ;
nay, very much detesting the same, as I have most manifestly
proved in the book I have written, “ De Temporibus ;” but, like
an impartial historian, relating what was done by or with him,
and commending such things as are praiseworthy in his actions,
and preserving the memory thereof for the benefit of the readers;
viz., his love of peace and charity ; his continence and humility ;
his mind superior to anger and avarice, and despising pride and
vainglory ; his industry in keeping and teaching the heavenly
commandments; his diligence in reading and watching ; his
authority becoming a priest in reproving the haughty and powerful,
and at the same time his tenderness in comforting the afflicted,
and relieving or defending the poor. To say all in a few words,
as near as I could be informed by those that knew him, he took
care to omit none of those things which he found in the apostolical
or prophetical writings, but to the utmost of his power endeavoured,
to perform them all.”

As I have said, the Columban monks naturally became the
teachers of the community, and there are numerous notices of
persons of distinction residing in the monasteries for the purpose
of being instructed. Oswald, the King of Northumbria, when
driven into exile, lived for several years in Iona, and was there
instructed. The clergy had a great reputation for learning, and
Bede tells us that many of the nobles and princes of the English
resorted to them for instruction. In what their learning consisted
is an interesting question. That they wrote Latin well is evidenced
by writings which have come down to us, and we are told that
when Columbanus; in the year 590, went to Gaul, he was able to
converse freely in that language. It would also appear that he
had some knowledge of Greek, for he talks about the meaning of
his own name in that language. It does not appear, however,
that, previous to their coming in contact with the outer world,
they had any knowledge of Roman or Greek literature, or of
the writings of any of the fathers of the Roman, Greek, or Eastern
Churches. And Bede more than once, as in the passage I have
read about Aidan, mentions that they taught only what was
contained in the Scriptures, The literary remains of the Church
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which have come down'to us, consist entirely of the lives of saints,
with the exception of an account of the holy places, written by
Adamnan, from information given to him by a bishop of Gaul, who
was driven to Iona by stress of weather, and resided there for a
winter—some letters of Columbanus to the Pope, and to a Council
of the clergy of Gaul; and there are some hymns and poems
attributed to St. Columba, but whether any of them are authentic
seems doubtful. That he wrote poetry, and was a friend and
patron of bards, is beyond all doubt, and Bede mentions that
writings of his were said to be in existence in his time. It would
rather appear, therefore, that as the lives of the Columban clergy
were an effort to translate its teaching into practice, so their
learning consisted in a knowledge of the Bible, the transcribing
of which was one of their chief occupations.

Their architecture was of the simplest and rudest, and if their
general state of culture were to be judged by it, we should pro-
nounce it of the lowest. Their churches were constructed of
wattle work of branches, covered with clay. We frequently hear
of the cutting of branches for the building or repair of churches ;—
and Bede tells us that when Aidan settled at Lindesfarne he built
a church there, after the manner of his country, of wood thatched
with reeds. The monks, as has been said, lived in “bothies,” and
these seem to have been erected by the occupants, and to have
been of slight construction. In the Irish Life of St. Columba, we
are told of his asking, when he went to a monastery for instruction,
where he was to set up his bothy, and in another place mention is
made of a bothy being removed from one side of a river to
another. But, as we should commit a grievous error if we judged
of the general intelligence aud culture of our own peasantry by
the houses in which they live, so we should commit a like error if
we judged of the culture of these monks by their churches and
dwellings. That they had examples of more substantial and
elaborate structures we know, and the poorness of their buildings
was probably only one mode of expressing the highest thought
that was in them, that taking for themselves no more of this
world’s goods than was necessary for existence, they should teach
and illustrate their religion not by stately edifices, but by pure
and holy lives.
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In metals they seem to have been skilful workers, Adamnan
tells us that, on one occasion, St. Columba had blessed a certain
knife, and said that it would never injure man or beast, and that
thereupon the monks had the iron of which it was made melted,
and a number of other tools in the monastery coated with it. The
ceard or artificer seems to have been a regular official in the
monasteries, and specimens which have come down to us in the
decoration of shrines, cases for books, bells, &c., show that
they had acquired a proficiency in art work of this description
which has never been surpassed.

Another branch of art in which they have never been excelled
was the ornamentation and illumination of their Bibles and service
books. The only manuscripts which have come down to us, and
which can be traced to the hands of Columban monks in Scot-
land, are the Book of Deer and one of the manuscripts of
Adamnan’s life of St. Columba, and these are not highly orna-
mented. But there are numerous examples in Ireland, some of
the more elaborate of which can be almost traced to the hands of
St. Columba, and there can be no doubt that the art which
produced the Irish specimens was the common property of both
Churches, if, indeed, some of the books now existing in Ireland were
not actually produced in Iona. One of these books was seen
in Ireland by Geraldus Cambriensis, who accompanied some of
the first Norman and Welsh invaders in the twelfth century, and
he thus describes it :—

“ Among all the miracles in Kildare, none appears to me more
wonderful than that marvellous book which they say was written
in the time of the Virgin [St. Brigit] at the dictation of an angel.
It contains the Four Gospels according to St. Jerom, and almost
every page is illustrated by drawings illuminated with a variety of
brilliant colours. In one page you see the countenance of the
Divine Majesty supernaturally pictured; in another, the mystic
forms of the evangelists, with either six, four, or two wings; here
are depicted the eagle, there the calf; here the face of a man,
there of a lion ; with other figures in almost endless variety. If
you observe them superficially, and in the usual careless manner,
you would imagine them to be daubs, rather than careful com-
positions ; expecting to find nothing exquisite, where, in truth,
there is nothing which is not exquisite. But if you apply yourself
to a more close examination, and aye able to penetrate the secrets
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of the art displayed in these pictures, you will find them so
delicate and exquisite, so finely drawn, and the work of interlacing
so elaborate, while the colours with which they are illuminated
are so blended, and still so fresh, that you will be ready to assert
that all this is the work of angelic, and not human, skill. The
more often and closely I scrutinise them, the more I am surprised,
and always find them new, discovering fresh causes for increased
admiration.”

And art critics of our own day speak of the work in terms of equal
commendation.

Such was the first Christian Church established among us, and
such the mode of life and state of culture of its clergy. It existed
in full vigour among us for about two hundred years, and then,
partly from external causes, and partly from internal, it began to
decay; but it was not finally superseded by a system of diocesan
episcopacy under the supremacy of the Bishop of Rome, until the
time of King David the First. To trace the process of its decay
would be interesting, but this paper has already extended to too
great a length.
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YACHTING AND ELECTIONEERING IN THE
HEBRIDES.

IL.

ON Monday, 7th September, we began the serious business
of our trip—electioneering. Mr. Fraser-Mackintosh was then
pursuing his candidature for the representation of the County of
Inverness, and he had deemed this the best and easiest method of
addressing near their homes the voters in the Western Isles and
on the West Coast. On that day, accordingly, we left Loch-
Duich for Benbecula, where a meeting had been called for four
o'clock in the afternoon. I came on deck just as we were passing
through Kyle Rhea, and, leaving the pretty Bay of Kirkton, Glen-
elg, on the left, we soon passed the village of Isleornsay, and the
old ruined Castle of Knock, once a residence of the Macdonalds
of Sleat. The next object of interest was Armadale Castle, the
modern family seat of Lord Macdonald. This beautiful Gothic
building was erected about 1815 by Sir Alexander Wentworth
Macdonald, second Lord Macdonald of Sleat. As we rounded
the Point of Sleat, a beautiful scene burst upon the sight. The
whole range of the Cuchullin Hills unfolded itself before our eyes.
The jagged peaks of Sgur-nan-Gillean were wreathed in ever-
changing, but almost transparent mists, now creeping down the
sides of the mountain, and anon uplifting and giving us a glimpse
of the fantastic pinnacles which formed the summit. The view
on all sides was grand. Behind us were the mountains of Kintail,
Glenelg, Morar, and Arisaig, in distinct and endless varieties of
outline; on our right, the bold coast of Skye, from Dunvegan
Head to the Point of Sleat; on our left, the picturesque islands of
Eigg, Muck, Rum, and Canna; while, in the distant front, the
whole of the Long Island, from Harris to Barra, was visible. As
we skirted the western coast of Skye, we saw numbers of whales
disporting themselves quite near to the yacht, whisking their great
tails, and spouting up briny fountains on every side; while
porpoises also were in abundance. Large flocks of guillemots
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hovered round our little vessel, ready to pick up anything which
might be dropped overboard, whilst now and then a solan goose
would swoop down upon some luckless fish and sail high over-
head with its glittering prize.

The Captain took advantage of a light breeze to hoist the
mainsail and two jibs, which made a considerable difference in our
rate of speed. Leaving the flat Island of Soay upon our right, we
soon passed the opening of Loch-Bracadale, and then made
across the Little Minch for Benbecula. It was about six o'clock
P.M., when we again neared land. Our Captain had doubts as to
whether the land straight ahead of us was Benbecula or the Island
of Wiay. It afterwards turned out to be the latter, The whistle
was sounded for a pilot, but without effect, and, after half-an-hour
of anxious manceuvring, we managed to enter the Sound of Ben-
becula, where we cast anchor. We then set off in the boat to try
and discover Creagorry. After about half-an-hour’s hard rowing, we
descried another boat coming to meet us, and, as the two boats
neared each other, the melodious strains of the bagpipes were
borne along to us by the breeze. "As soon as the other boat was
within hailing distance, its occupants raised cheer after cheer, and
the piper in its bow played with might and main a weird and
beautiful Hebridean air. When within a few 'yards of us, the
people in the other boat saluted by holding up their oars, whilst
one enthusiastic individual tossed his cap high in air as he shouted,
“Three cheers for Fraser-Mackintosh.” The other boat then
turned about, and preceded us towards the landing-place on the
Benbecula side of the South Ford. As we entered the narrowest
part of the Sound, a dense crowd was observed upon the South
Uist side of the Ford, whilst another waited on the Benbecula
side. The boatmen who preceded us kept cheering vociferously
all the way, and soon an answering cheer burst from the crowds
on both sides of the Ford. As we touched the little quay, dozens
of willing hands were stretched forth to help us ashore, whilst
cheer after cheer for the People’s Candidate arose from the multi-
tude which lined the shore, echoed no less heartily from the South
Uist side. It was a good sign of the enthusiasm displayed that
these people had waited patiently from four o’clock till seven, and
some of them much longer, to give a hearty welcome to their
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future Member of Parliament. ILed by an ecstatic individual,
who, in the exuberance of his joy, kept dancing something
between the Highland Fling and a sailor’s hornpipe, escorted on
either side by the worthy priest of Benbecula, Father Mackintosh,
and his genial colleague from the other side of the Ford, Father
MacColl, and followed by a crowd of some two hundred people,
we wended our way some two miles and a-half to the school,
where a most hearty meeting passed a vote of confidence in the
candidate. The earnest faces of the audience, as they listened to
the speakers’ words, were lighted up with an enthusiasm and
a look of determination which boded ill for the prospects of Mr.
Fraser-Mackintosh’s opponents. Local references were keenly
relished, and any bit of humour was at once observed and
appreciated. .

By the time the meeting was over, it was quite dark, but a
dog-cart had been procured for us, and we were driven down to
the quay, and across the Ford, now, by the receding tide, almost
dry, to Iochdar, on the South Uist side, where we found that the
people, after waiting several hours, had concluded there would be
no meeting there that night, and gone home. By means of a
message, however, a good meeting was soon formed, presided
over by the genial Father MacColl of Ardkenneth, which passed
a vote of confidence in Mr. Fraser-Mackintosh at the unearthly
hour of 11.30 P.M. This concluded our day’s, or rather our
night's, work, but we had still to regain the yacht, whose lights we
could faintly see at the east end of the Ford. The boat which
had brought us from the yacht was nowhere to be seen, and we
conjectured that it had gone back to the vessel to avoid being
stranded by the ebbing tide. There was a chance, however, that
it might have managed to remain afloat in one of the channels
which, even at the lowest states of the tide, connect both ends of
the Ford. As many of our readers may be unacquainted with the
locality, it may be well to give some description of it.

The Island of Benbecula is separated from South Uist by
a narrow strait about half-a-mile in width, called the South Ford,
which, at low tide, is capable of being crossed.on horse or foot.
It is never perfectly dry, however, being intersected by a number
of channels which, being lower than the surrounding sands, are
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not affected by the tide, and across which the traveller, if on foot,
has to wade. The South Ford is comparatively free from danger,
owing to its narrowness, but the North Ford, separating Benbecula
from North Uist, has rather a bad reputation, several sad accidents
having occurred there within recent years.

The owner of the conveyance which had taken us across from
Benbecula kindly offered to drive us towards the east end of the
Ford, and as near to the yacht as it was possible to get, and we
accordingly set forth, preceded by two men on foot, bearing
lanterns, to lead the way. Four or five miles out at sea the lights
of the yacht kept moving round and round, as the vessel swung
with the tide. Our horse jogged quietly along, now splashing
through a stretch of water left by the tide, and now traversing an
expanse of firm sand. Far behind us the horse’s hoof-marks and
the wheel-tracks glittered with phosphorescent light, and at inter-
vals the silence of the night was broken by the shrill whistle of our
guides, endeavouring to discover the whereabouts of the yacht’s
boat. At last we reached the edge of the Ford at low tide,
where we stayed for some time whistling and shouting to attract
the attention of those on board the yacht, whose lights appeared
about a mile distant, only to be answered by the plash of the
waves upon the sand, and the melancholy cry of a startled sea-
bird as it circled above our heads. The tide had now begun to
flow, and our driver was getting alarmed about his safety. After
a hurried consultation, he resolved to drive back before the tide,
whilst we went into the house of one of our guides on the South
Uist side, until a boat could be procured. This we did, and soon
found ourselves comfortably ensconced beside a good peat-fire,
whilst our two guides and the wife of one of them went out to get
a boat ready. It turned out afterwards that the boat, a large, one-
masted fishing-craft, was high and dry a considerable distance
above high-water mark, and how those two men and one woman
managed to launch it is a mystery to me yet. However that may
be, about three o'clock A.M., one of the men came in with the
welcome news that the boat was ready, and a few minutes more
saw us seated in it. One of the men then came running down
with a live peat in his hand—for what purpose I cannot say. It
might have been to give light, but it only served, so far as I could



156 The Celtic Magazine.

make out, to make darkness visible. At last everything was ready,
our boatmen got in, and the boat was, after sundry unpleasant
bumps, shoved off into deep water. The men bent their backs to
the oars, and pulled manfully for some minutes, but it soon
became apparent that there was some hitch in the proceedings—
we had not progressed a single yard. An examination revealed
the fact that the rope, by which the boat had been fastened to a
rock on shore, had never been cast off! The emphatic Gaelic
expletive to which the discoverer of the mistake gave expression
was, I am convinced, anything but a blessing, but the matter was
soon rectified, and we again set off, this time without hindrance.
A fresh breeze which sprung up enabled us to use the sail, and in
a very short time we were pitching and rolling alongside the
yacht. Fifteen minutes more saw our boatmen departing with
mutual and cordial expressions of good will, and by four A.M. I
was making myself comfortable in my berth.

On Tuesday morning, 8th September, we steamed for Loch-
Eynort, South Uist. The breeze of the earlier part of the
morning had freshened into a tremendous gale, and our little
vessel had a tough job getting round the coast. When off
Ushinish Light-house, we encountered a succession of very heavy
seas. The waves came dashing over the bows, and along the
decks, until they poured over the stern. For fully an hour the
yacht, with all her steam on, did not progress fifty yards, and the
Captain seriously thought of putting back and running for Loch-
maddy, an idea which he only abandoned after considerable
pressure on the part of Mr. Fraser-Mackintosh. At last we
managed to get round the Point, and, after much knocking about,
entered the comparatively smooth waters of Loch-Eynort, and
cast anchor. In the entry to this Loch there is a rock, on which a
frigate dispatched by Cromwell to subdue the inhabitants of Ulist is
said to have been wrecked. We soon after rowed up to the head of
the Loch, an intricate channel, in the midst of deluges of rain and a
severe but favourable gale, where we were met by the Rev. Father
Mackintosh, Bornish, and a conveyance from Lochboisdale. The
first meeting was to be held at Stoneybridge, whither we immedi-
ately drove. When about a mile from the school, where the
meeting was to be held, we were met by a large crowd of people,
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headed by Mr. Alexander Macdonald, Chairman, and Mr. Patrick
M. Walker, Secretary of the local branch of the Highland Land Law
Reform Association, the latter gentleman bearing a flag, with the
inscription, Ciad mile failte, “ A hundred thousand welcomes.” A
procession was formed, which escorted us to the school, where a
most hearty meeting was held. The people in this district, under
the able leadership of Mr. Walker, a young man of great promise,
are most enthusiastic Land Law Reformers, the Stoneybridge
branch of the Association numbering some five hundred members.
Mr. Walker has himself suffered in the cause of the people,
having undergone a term of imprisonment, along with his
father and brother, for alleged complicity in a case of deforce-
ment some time ago. Though quite a young man, he is
recognised by the people of South Uist as their leader and
master-hand in the Land Agitation, and his imprisonment has
only endeared him the more to his neighbours, who regard him
as a martyr in their behalf. After the meeting, we were enter-
tained in his father’s house, one of the neatest cottages I have
seen on the West Coast. It seemed to us deplorable that such
worthy ladies as Mrs. and Miss Walker should have had to
undergo the indignity and vexation of Mr. Walker, senior, and
two of his sons, being all taken to prison at Lochmaddy. Mr.
P. M. Walker afterwards accompanied us to Dalibrog, where our
next meeting was to be held that evening.

The crofters’ land about Stoneybridge is very poor, and it is
with the greatest difficulty that crops are raised at all. Those
people who talk about the laziness and indolence of the Highland
crofters should go and see for themselves the astonishing amount
of hard work which is expended upon these wretched plots of
land. Month after month, and year after year, the crofter goes
on digging, manuring, sowing, and reaping—a never-ending life
of toil—his reward often being another pound added to his rent.
Soon after leaving Stoneybridge we made for the old shore road
to Ormiclate, and, passing through a gate, drove across a beautiful
stretch of machar land—that is, a flat expanse of sandy soil near
the sea—thickly covered with grass—upon which some of the
finest black cattle I have ever seen were grazing. A question
asked of Mr, Walker elicited the fact that this beautiful land was
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held by Mr. Ranald Macdonald, the factor for Lady Gordon
Cathcart, and residing at Cluny Castle, Aberdeenshire, and that a
part of it once appertained to the Stoneybridge crofters!

At the farm of Ormiclate we stopped to inspect the remains of
the’ old Castle, once a seat of Clanranald. The coat of arms,
much effaced by time, is still to be seen upon the wall
The neglected state of this fine ruin, together with the
mean and filthy surroundings, are disgraceful. A cabbage-
garden had been formed close up to the outer wall,—bad
enough, but infinitely better than the former application of
the ground—a sheep fank—whilst the interior of the building
had been used as a cattle-pen, and was a mass of filth., The
present occupant, who has of course no power, being merely a
grieve, expressed his regret at the wretched state of the place,
The Castle was destroyed by fire over one hundred yearsago. Mr.
Walker gave me the following story of how the fire originated.
The Macdonalds had taken a deer from Ben-More, a hill some
distance off, and were engaged roasting it whole over the fire.
The deer was a very fat one, and the grease dropping from it
caught fire and ran all about the place, setting the whole chamber
in flames. Before the progress of the fire could be arrested, the
Castle was reduced to a blackened shell.

The site of Ormiclate was well chosen, standing on a slight
eminence, in the centre of vast plains of mackar. In front lies
the Atlantic, smiling, when we saw it, under the influence of a
brilliant sun, with the roar of the surf, modified by the distance;
and to the back the horizon is bounded by the chain of grand
mountains, including the noble Mount Hecla, forming the eastern
coast of South Uist; both sea and mountain, in their ever-varying
forms, always and ever objects of beauty and attraction from the
Castle.

Leaving Ormiclate, we drove on to Dalibrog, passing the
farm of Milton, the birthplace of Flora Macdonald, on the way.
The site of the old house is rather exposed, but prettily situated
on a green hillock. A good part of the walls remain. The
splendid herds of cattle on the fine farm of Askernish, unhappily
retained in the proprietor’s hands, were objects of our admiration,
as we drove along, Near the Dalibrog School we were met by a
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THE HISTORY OF THE MACLEODS,
[BY THE EDITOR.]

( Continued.)

IT was towards the close of Tormod’s rule, in 1577, that the
massacre of the Macdonalds of Eigg, the most cold-blooded and
atrocious act in the Highland history, was perpetrated by the
Macleods. Dr. Skene publishes a document in the appendix to
the third volume of Celtic Secotland, by which the date of the
massacre of Eigg is fixed. This document is entitled a “Descrip-
tion of the Isles of Scotland,” and Dr. Skene says that it “ must
have been written between 1577 and 1595, as the former date
is mentioned in connection with the cruel slaughter of the inhabitants
of Eigg by the Macleods, and John Stewart of Appin, who died in
1595, is mentioned as alive at the time it was written. It has all the
appearance of an official report, and was probably intended for
the use of James the Sixth, who was then preparing to attempt
the improvement of the Isles, and increase the Royal revenue
from them.” This sufficiently fixes the date of the document.
The following is the reference in it to the Island of Eigg—

“Eg is an Ile verie fertile and commodious for all kind of
bestiall and corns, speciallie aittis, for eftir everie boll of aittis
sawing in the same ony yeir will grow 10 or 12 bollis agane. It
is 30 merk land, and it pertains to the Clan Rannald, and will
raise 60 men to the weiris. It is five mile lang and three mile
braid. Thair is mony coves under the earth in this Ile, quhilk
the cuntrie folks uses as strengthis, hiding thame and thair geir
thairintill; quhairthrow it hapenit that in March, anno 1577,
weiris and inmitie betwix the said Clan Renald and McCloyd
Herreik, the people, with ane callit Angus John McMudzart-
sonne,* their capitaine, fled to ane of the saidis coves, taking with
thame thair wives, bairnis, and geir, quhairof McCloyd Herreik
being advertisit landed with ane great armie in the said Ile, and
came to the cove, and pat fire thairto, and smorit [smothered] the

* This Angus was fourth son of the brave John Moydartach, Chief of Clanranald,
See Mackenzie’s History of the Macdonalds, p. 402.
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haill people thairin, to the number of 395 persones, men, wyfe,
and bairnis.”

This, we think, will finally settle the date and the authors of this
unparalleled atrocity.

The following description of it, by Professor Jameson, is
from the New Statistical Account for Inverness-shire, under
the “Parish of Small Isles,” pp. 146-148. Professor Jameson
writes :—

“ A party of the Macleods having landed upon the small
island of Eilean Chastel, behaved so outrageously to the women
who were there tending cattle, that their friends instantly pursued
and put several of them to death. This so enraged the clan of
Macleod, that they determined to take revenge, by ravaging the
Isle, and putting to death the murderers of their brothers. The
Islanders, sensible of their weakness, prepared to shelter them-
selves upon the first appearance of an enemy. Soon afterwards
a number of boats were seen approaching the Isle; when the
trembling inhabitants retired in despair to this cave, their only
refuge. The Macleods soon landed and traversed the whole
Island; but as they could discover no human being, they
concluded that the Macdonalds had made their escape to the
Mainland, or to some of the adjacent islands.  Disappointed and
enraged, they were about to leave Eigg to return to Skye, when,
unfortunately, one of the horde observed the mark of footsteps
on the snow; and thus they were enabled to discover the cave
where the wretched inhabitants had taken refuge. Shrieks of
despair were interrupted for a little by a proposal of the Macleods
that, if the murderers were given up to punishment, the other
lives should be spared. This was only a cruel aggravation of
their sufferings, as the Macleods were the aggressors. Connected,
as the Macdonalds were, by the dearest ties, they were deter-
mined to perish together rather than to give up one of their
number. The Macleods, with the most savage barbarity, instantly
kindled great fires at the mouth of the cave, which soon suffocated
the whole of the miserable inhabitants.

“One often listens even to such a tale, as to the description of
a battle, without much interest; but the view of the scene never
fails to awaken a keener sympathy—the circumstances are brought
nearer to the mind, and seem to be passing before us. We stood
on the very ground where this tragedy was acted, and felt our
sensibility increased by the sequestered and dreary place in which
the deed was done. But even this interest was faint when com-
pared to that we felt when, after creeping a considerable way

Iz
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through a low and narrow entrance, half-covered with brushwood,
we found ourselves at last within a large and gloomy cave, the
extent and height of which we could not distinguish, and perceived
the gleams of the lights we carried reflected from the bones and
skulls of the unhappy Macdonalds. The force with which the
truth and all the circumstances of this dreadful tale struck at this
moment upon our minds, and the strange variety of sensations
excited by an event so extraordinary, it is not easy to find words
to express.

“The entrance of the cave is low and narrow for about 12 feet,
the breadth 14 feet, and in length it extends inwards nearly 213
feet. The air was damp and raw. Our lights struck faintly on
the black sides of the cave, without dispelling that deep and
solemn gloom which harmonized so well with the melancholy
story. The projecting masses of rock were dimly illuminated,
while the skulls and scattered bones catched a strong light. Our
figures, too, touched with the paley flame, showed the features, or
an outstretched arm, while the parts of the body removed from
the light were lost in the gloom. The whole scene was admirably
adapted for the canvas; but it would require a very rare talent in
the painter who should attempt it.”

According to the Skye tradition of this story, it is related that
the Macleods, having shown some disrespect towards the Eigg
women, were seized by the Macdonalds, bound hand and foot,
and set adrift in their own boat, which was carried by wind and
tide to the entrance of Loch-Dunvegan, and there picked up by
Macleod himself, as he was returning in his galley from Orkney.
Then followed the expedition to Eigg, with the terrible result
already narrated.

It is said that the sanguinary engagement between the Mac-
donalds and Macleods at Waternish took place shortly after the
Eigg massacre, but it is impossible now to fix the date quite
accurately, and it is more than probable that the Battle of Water-
nish took place between the Sleat Macdonalds, who held North
Uist, and the Siol Torquil or Lewis Macleods, who occupied
Waternish, than between those who were parties to the massacre
of Eigg.

A number of the Macleods, we are told, were assembled in
the Church at Trumpan, when a party of the Macdonalds
suddenly surrounded and set fire to the building, destroying all
the unfortunate inmates except one young woman, who escaped
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through a narrow window, as the tradition states, with the loss of
one of her breasts, which was torn off as she dragged herself
through.the opening still to be seen in the old ruin of the church,
The boats of the enemy had, however, been observed by the
people in other parts of the country, and before long the
Macdonalds were attacked by a body of infuriated Macleods, who
exacted a terrible revenge for the burning of their church and
kinsfolk. The bodies of the slain Macdonalds were ranged in line
beneath a stone wall near the battle-field, and the wall was then
overturned upon them. Hence the battle was called Blar-
milleadh-garaidl,—the battle of the destruction of the dyke. The
| author of the Sratistical Account says that there are indistinct
| accounts preserved of another battle fought by these hostile clans,
known as Blar Bhatternish, the Battle of Waternish. The Mac-
leods were just about to give up the contest when the celebrated
Fairy Flag of their chief was unfurled, which immediately caused
the enemies to see triple the real number of Macleods opposed to
them. The Macdonalds, on seeing this sudden and mysterious
augmentation of their foes, became panic-stricken, and were
completely routed.

Tormod Macleod is described as “a man of remarkable fortitude
and resolution, of great integrity and honour,” and as one who
always adhered to the interest of Queen Mary.

He married, first, Giles, daughter of Hector Maclean of
Duart by his first wife, Lady Janet Campbell, daughter of
Archibald, fourth Earl of Argyll, with issue—

1. William, his heir and successor.

2. Roderick, who succeeded his brother William, was known

as Rory Mor, and was knighted by James VI.

3. Alexander of Minginish, and of whom the families of
Ferinlea, Oze, and others were descended.

4. Margaret, who, as his second wife, married Donald Gorm
Macdonald of Sleat, without issue, he having been first
married to the heiress of John MacTorquil Macleod of
Lewis, with issue.

5. A daughter, who married Torquil Macleod of Lewis, and
secondly, Ranald Macdonald, first of Benbecula, whose
descendants, on the failure in 1725 of the direct line
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in the person of Ranald, XIII. Chief of Clanranald,
succeeded as heads of that family.

Tormod Macleod married, secondly, a daughter of the Earl of
Argyll, by whom he had issue—

6. Florence, who married Lachlan Maclean of Coll, with issue.
He died in March, 1584, when he was succeeded by his eldest
son,

XII. WILLIAM MACLEOD, who was served heir to his father,
Tormod, on the 31st of July, 1585, and on a precept from
Chancery, was infeft in all the ancient estates of the
family, in November of the same year. In September he was
requested by James VI. to go and assist Lachlan Maclean of
Duart, whose lands had been invaded by Angus Macdonald of
Islay. The Macleans were also assisted on this occasion by the
Macneills of Barra, the Mackinnons of Skye, and the Mac-
Quarries ; while the Macdonalds were supported by the Macleods
of Lewis, the Macdonalds of Clanranald, the Clan Ian of Ardna-
murchan, the Macneills of Gigha, the Macallisters of Iona, and
Macfies of Colonsay. The history of this feud is already so well
known to the readers of the Celtic Magasine* that it is quite
unnecessary to write of it here at any length. The King at last
interfered—using the chiefs of the Clan Campbell, who had
charge of the seventh Earl during his minority, as intermedi-
atories—with the result that Angus Macdonald of Islay agreed to
liberate Maclean, who had become his prisoner, on being promised
a remission for his own crimes, and on eight hostages of high
rank being placed in his hands by Maclean for the performance
of conditions which the Chief of Duart had been obliged to sign
to secure his release. The hostages were given, and among them
we find Alexander Macleod of Minginish, youngest brother of
William Macleod of Dunvegan, and of his more distinguished
successor, Ruairidi Mor of that ilk.

These hostages were afterwards ordered to be given up to the
young Earl of Argyll or his guardians, for conveyance by them
to the King himself, to be kept where he should appoint, until a
final settlement was arranged of all the matters in dispute

* See also Mackenzie’s History of the Macdonalds and Lords of the Isles,
pp- 189 to 196,
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between the Macdonalds of Islay and the Macleans of Duart,
These and their followers, as well as their principal supporters—

Chief and people—were charged to keep the peace and abstain
from all gatherings and conventions, so as not to hinder or disturb

the King in his efforts to bring about a settlement of the disputes
between them.

The Earl of Huntly, then his Majesty’s Lieutenant in the
North, was addressed by the King in a letter written with his
own hand, dated at Edinburgh, 2oth of April, 1587, in which His
Majesty says:—“We have no doubt but the cruelties and
disorders in the Isles these years bygone have greatly moved
you, whereanent we intend, God willing, to take some special pains
ourself, as well there as in the Borders, where we have been lately
occupied.” After having stated that he had communicated with the
Earl in the preceding October on the same subject, the King pro-
ceeds :—*“ Always fearing that the Islesmen within the bounds of
your Lieutenancy shall press to make some rising and gathering,
before conveniently we may put order to the matters standing in
controversy in the West Isles, we desire you effectuously that
with all goodly diligence you send to Donald Gorm’s son, Macleod
of the Lewis, Macleod of the Harris, the Clan-Ranald, and others
being of power in these parts, willing and commanding them to
contain themselves in quietness, and that they forbear to make
any convention or gatherings, to the hinder and disturbance of
our good deliberation, for we have written effectuously to Angus
Macdonald, and have spoken with Maclean, being here, for the
same effect. And so, not doubting but you will do what in you
lies, that all things remain quiet and in good order within the
bounds of your charge, as you will do us special acceptable
service, commit you in the protection of Almighty God.”*

Shortly after, an Act was passed by which it was made
imperative on all landlords and chiefs of clans to find securities
for large amounts, proportionate to their wealth and the number
of their followers, for the good behaviour of all their vassals. If,
after having found the stipulated sureties, any of these chiefs
failed in making immediate reparation for all injuries inflicted by
any of their subordinates, for whom they were made to answer,

* Invernessiana, by Charles Fraser-l\[ackintosfl, M.D., pp. 245-6.
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the aggrieved persons could proceed at law against the securities
for the amount of the damage. The Superior was in that case not
only to reimburse his cautioner, but had, in addition, to pay a
large fine to the Crown. At the same time, many excellent
provisions were made by this Act, usually known as the
“General Band” for the more regular and easier administration
of justice in the Western Isles.

William Macleod entered into a bond of manrent with Lachlan
Mackintosh of Mackintosh, whose daughter he had married, in
the following terms :—

Be it kenned to all, me, William Macleod of Dunvegan, to
become bound and obliged. Like as by the tenor hereof, I bind
and oblige me, my heirs, leally and truly, by the faith and truth in
my body, to take, efauld, and true part, assist, maintain, and defend,
and concur with Lachlan Mackintosh of Dunachton, Captain and
Chief of the Clan Chattan, and his heirs, in all and sundrie their
actions, causes, quarrels, debates, and invasion of any person or
persons whatever, indirectly used or intended contrary to the said
Lachlan and his heirs in all time coming, from the day and date
hereof, so that I, the said William Macleod, and my heirs, shall
be sufficiently and duly premonished and advertised by the said
Lachlan Mackintosh and his foresaids, to the effect foresaid, and
shall give faithful and true counsel to him and his heirs, by and
attour concurrence, and take efauld part with him and his heirs
(as said is) in all their just causes and actions as said is. And
sicklike I shall not hide, obscure, nor conceal, by any colour or
engine, directly or indirectly, any skaith, displeasure, nor harm,
meant or concert, in contrar the said Lachlan Mackintosh and his
foresaids by any whatsomever person or persons, the same coming
to the knowledge and ears of me, the said William Macleod and
my heirs, but immediately after trial thereof in all our best manner,
with all expedition and haste, shall advertize, report, and make
foreseen the said Lachlan Mackintosh and his heirs thereof. As
also to concur, assist, maintain, defend, and take faithful part with
them against all mortals (the King’s Majesty excepted allenarly).
And this my bond to stand firm and stable in all time coming
after the day and date hereof. In witness of the whilk, I have
subscribed these presents with my hand, in manner under written,
at Culloden, the 15th day of January, 1588, before witness.

(Signed) WiLLiAM M‘LEOYD
offe Dunvegane.

He married Janet, daughter of Lachlan Mackintosh, XVI.
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of Mackintosh, by his wife Agnes, daughter of Kenneth
Mackenzie, X. of Kintail, without issue. He died in October,
1590, when he was succeeded by his next brother, the famous
Ruairidh Mor, afterwards knighted by James VI, and of whom
in our next.

(To be continued.)

MADUINN NA SABAID.

Nach aluinn, maiseach, tosdach, citin,
"Tha ’ghrian ag éiridh suas ;

’S na gathan tlath ’tha ’teachd bho ’gniuis
’Cur aoidh air tir, *us cuan !

Db’ fhuadaich i ’n dorchadas air chul,
*Us dhiiisg i ‘mach le buaidh ;

Sin mar a dh’ éirich Righ nan dul
Bho chumhachd bais ’us uaigh,

Air maduinn chaoimh na Sabaid naoimh
Le saorsa bhuan d’ a shluagh.

Do’n neach ’tha saoithreachadh gu cruaidh,
Fo’ jomadh cuibhreach sgith,

Tha mhaduinn so gu séimh ri luaidh
Air teachdaireachd na sith,

Mar edrlais air an fhois ’tha shuas
Nach tig gu brath gu crich,

Am measg nan sluagh a tha bith-bhuan,
Far nach tig bron g’ an claoidh,

An t-Sibaid chaomh am measg nan naomh,
Nach tig gu ceann a chaoidh.

Tha gniomh do limh an diugh, a Thriath,
A’ taisbeanadh do ruin,
Na neamhan shuas ’s an talamh shios
Ag drdachadh do chliu,
Air son do chaoimhneis shaibhir, fhial,
’S do mhaitheis do gach diil,
Gun aois, gun chaochladh ort gu sior,
’S bha thu mar sin bho this;
Bho linn gu linn bidh dran binn
Air gldir do righeachds’ lir.,
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Co thuigeas dirdhearcas do neairt,
"Thug beatha do gach cré,

’S na miltean saoghal ’tha fo’ d’ reachd
Air feadh a’ chruinne-ché.

Tha ’n gluasad uile fo’ do smachd,
’S an earbsa riut gu léir,

’S na cumhachdan a dhealbhadh leat
Gun tamh a’ cur ’an ceill

Do chlii mar Righ os cionn gach ni
A rinneadh leat gu treun.

Ge mor do chumhachd, ’s ard do ghloir,
Eisdidh Tu glacidh nan bochd ;
’S ann uat a thig gach neart ’us tredir,
’S Tu mhaitheas dhuinn ar lochd.
Do lamh a’ sgacileadh maocin do stdir,
’S gach duil a’ feitheamh ort,
Gach trath Thu ’g ullachadh dhuinn 15in,
’S do shiil gun suain, gun chlos;
'S bho d’ chdmhnuidh shuas tha ’ghnath do chluas
Ri ghlaodh do shluaigh a bhos.

Tha mhaduinn so 'n a dhearbhadh i
Dhuinn air do chaoimhneas caomh,
Tha ’n cruinne-cé le iomadh clil,
A’ seinn duit air gach taobh;
'S an dream a dh’ earbas riut an chis
Freagraidh Tu iad gu cacin,
Cha chuir Thu dochas neach air chil,
’S cha mheall Thu air a h-aon;
’S air bas ’us uaigh gu ’'n toir iad buaidh
’Us gheibh iad duais gu saor.
N. MacLEeoIp.

GAELIC SOCIETY OF INVERNESS—FOURTEENTH ANNUAL DIN-
NER.—On Tuesday evening, 12th January, 1886, the Fourteenth Annual Dinner of
the Gaelic Society of Inverness took place in the Caledonian Hotel—Allan R.
Mackenzie, Esq., younger of Kintail, Chief of the Society, in the chair. The
croupiers were Mr. Duncan Campbell, Ballifeary, and Mr. George J. Campbell,
solicitor. There was a fair attendance, but nothing like that of former years. The
speeches, with one or two exceptions, were weak, The proceedings were enlivened,
however, by the singing of several Gaelic and Scotch songs by some of those present,
and by the choice selection of Highland bagpipe music contributed by Pipe-Major
Paul Mackillop. A spirited reel was engaged in by several gentlemen during the
evening ; and, taking them all in all, the proceedings, while not nearly up to past
years as regards speaking, were of an interesting and enjoyable character.
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’

DHEMEONRICICTS OBwTHE CLANS.
( Continned)

THE TROUBLES BETWIXT THE FORBESES AND THE GORDONS
IN THE YEARS 1571 AND 1572,

THE two families of Gordon and Forbes were of great power
and authority in their country, both of them valiant, wise, and
wealthy ; both harbouring deadly feud, long rooted between them.
The Gordons then lived with great concord and unity among
themselves; and, by the tolerance of their Kings, had, for many
years, governed the people adjoining unto them, whereby they
became wealthy and of great power, and purchased strength
among themselves, together with the attendance and following of
other men towards them. When, on the contrary, the Forbeses
were at war one with another, they daily impaired their own strength,
with their own slaughters, and, in end, wrought their own harm
by pressing to strive against the Gordons. These two surnames
did live together at this time, rather in secret emulation than open
envy; because they had (in way of reconciliation) by marriage
intermingled their families together; but their hid and long-
rooted rancour did now burst forth, not only by following contrary
factions during these civil wars betwixt the King’s party and the
Queen’s, but chiefly because that John, Master of Forbes (eldest
son to the Lord Forbes), had repudiated and put away his wife,
Margaret Gordon, daughter to George, Earl of Huntly, which he
did by the instigation of his uncle, Black Arthur Forbes, who
mortally hated the Gordons. This Arthur was a man of great
courage, ambitious, and ready to undertake anything whatsoever for
the advancement and reconciliation of his family. The Forbeses,
from the first time of these civil discords in Scotland, did follow
the King’s party; the Gordons did always remain constantly
faithful to the Queen, even unto the end.
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The Forbeses, by persuasion of Black Arthur Forbes, had
appointed both day and place of meeting, where they should
assemble together, not only for their own general reconciliation
among themselves, but also to enterprise something against the
Gordons and the rest of the Queen’s favourers in these parts;
whereof Adam Gordon of Achindown having secret intelligence
(his brother, the Earl of Huntly, being then in Edinburgh), he
assembled a certain number of his kindred and followers to cross
the proceedings of the Forbeses, who were all convened at Tillie-
angus, above Druminour, in the beginning of the year of God
1572. The Forbeses perceiving the Gordons coming up towards
them, against the hill where they then were, they did intrench
themselves within their camp, which they had strongly fortified,
dividing their army into two several companies, whereof Black
Arthur Forbes commanded that which lay next unto the Gordons.
Adam Gordon (far inferior in number to his enemies), presently,
without any stay, fiercely invaded the first company; his brother,
Mr. Robert Gordon, set upon the other: so, breaking their
trenches, they ran desperately upon the spears of their enemies.
After a sharp and cruel conflict, courageously fought a long time
on either side, Black Arthur Forbes, with divers others, gentle-
men of his surname and family, were slain; the rest were all
overthrown, put to flight, and chased even to the gates of
Druminour, the Lord Forbes’s chief dwelling-place; few of the
Gordons were killed, but only John Gordon of Buckie, father to
John Gordon of Buckie, now living.

The Forbeses attempted nothing afterward in revenge of this
overthrow, until the time that John, Master of Forbes (Black
Arthur’s nephew and chief of that family), hardly escaping from
his enemies, hastened to Court, where the Earl of Mar, then
Regent, had his residence, hoping by him to be relieved. The
Regent gave him five companies of footmen and some horsemen,
with letters to such of the adjoining nobility as favoured and
followed that party, desiring them to associate and join themselves
unto the Forbeses. These then being confederated and assembled
together with certain other families of their affinity and neighbours,
so advanced the spirit of this John, Master of Forbes, that he now
thought himself sufficiently furnished against the forces of his
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adversaries, and so presently went to Aberdeen, to expel Adam
Gordon from thence, the year of God 1572, who, knowing the
preparation of the Forbeses, and understanding the approach of
the enemies so near at hand, assembled such of his friends and
followers as he could soonest find at that time, and led them out
of the town. He sent a company of musketeers, under the
conduct of Captain Thomas Carr, to a convenient place where the
Forbeses must of necessity pass, there to lie in ambush, and not
to stir till the battle did join; then he sent certain of the Suther-
land bowmen (who had retired themselves out of their country
during the Earl of Sutherland’s minority), and desired them to
draw a great compass about, and so, to set upon the back of the
Forbeses’ footmen and musketeers; he himself, and his brother,
Mr. Robert Gordon, with the residue of his company, stayed the
coming of the Forbeses at a place called Craibstane, not far from
the ports of the new town of Aberdeen. The Forbeses, being in
sight of Aberdeen, began to consult among themselves what was
best to be done; some were of opinion that the fittest and safest
course was to go to Old Aberdeen, and there seat themselves, and
from thence to molest the new town, and compel Adam Gordon
to depart from New Aberdeen, by the aid and assistance of these
experienced footmen which were sent from the Regent: but the
Master of Forbes and his kinsmen would not hearken thereto,
desiring present battle, which was then concluded; and so the
Forbeses advanced with great courage against the Gordons, who
received them with the like resolution. At the very first-encounter,
Achindown’s musketeers, who lay in ambush, killed a number of
the Forbeses; then both the armies joined with great violence.
After a cruel conflict, with incredible obstinacy on either side, the
Laird of Pitsligo (Forbes’s) two brethren, with divers other gentle-
men of the surname of Forbes, were there slain ; Captain Chisholm,
with the footmen (sent by the Regent to their support) were put
to flight by the Sutherland bowmen, who pursued them eagerly
with great slaughter. Among the rest, Captain Chisholm was
slain, with three other Captains, which the rest of the Forbeses
perceiving, they fled apace; many of the principals were taken,
with their Chief and General, John, Master of Forbes, whose
father was then very aged, lying sick at Druminour, expecting the
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sorrowful news of this overthrow. Adam Gordon used this victory
very moderately, and suffered no man to be killed after the fury
of the fight was past. When all was ended, he returned to the
Church of Aberdeen, and there gave thanks unto God for his
happy success. Alexander Forbes of Strathgarnock (author of
all the troubles betwixt these two families, and the chief stirrer-up
of Arthur Forbes against the Gordons) was taken at this battle,
and, as they were going to behead him, Achindown caused them
to stay his execution. He entertained the Master of Forbes, and
the rest of the prisoners, with great kindness and courtesy; he
carried the Master of Forbes along with him to Strathbogie; and
in end gave him and all the rest leave to depart.

The next ensuing summer after this conflict at Craibstane,
Adam Gordon of Achindown, following his victory, entered the
Mearns, and besieged the house of Glenbervie, putting all the
Regent’s party within that province into a great fear and tumult.
The Earl of Crawford, the Lords Grey, Ogilvy, and Glamis,
taking part with the Regent against the Queen, assembled all the
forces of Angus and Mearns to resist Achindown, and to stop
his passage at Brechin, where they encamped ; but Adam Gordon,
being advertised of their proceedings, left the most part of his
men at the siege of Glenbervie, from whence he parted in the
dead time of the night, with the most resolute men of his company,
to invade these lords; and being come to Brechin, he killed the
watch with divers others, surprised the town, set upon the lords,
chased them, and made himself master of the town and castle of
Brechin. The next morning, the lords understanding Achin-
down’s small forces in regard of theirs, they assembled their men
together, and came near unto Brechin to fight against him, who
met them with resolute courage; but, as they were ready to
encounter, the lords, not able to endure the first charge of their
encmies, fled apace with all their companies. There were slain of
them above 80; and divers of them were taken, amongst whom
was the Lord Glamis, who was carried to Strathbogie, and, being
detained there a while, he was set at liberty with the rest. This
conflict was called the Bourd of Brechin. Then returned Adam
Gordon back again to the siege of Glenbervie, and took it; from
thence he went to Montrose, and took that town, In his return
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from thence, he took the Castle of Dun, which appertained to the
Regent’s cousin, and so marched forward into Angus. The
inhabitants of Dundee hearing of his approach, and despairing of
their own abilities to resist him, they sent for help into Fife; but
Achindown, having done his pleasure in Angus and Mearns,
returned home into the North, being contented for that time with
what he had already done against his enemies. By this good
success of the Gordons, the Queen’s favourers in all the parts of
the kingdom were highly encouraged at that time.

(7o be coutinued.)

THE EDITOR OF THE ¢“GUELPH MERCURY” ON THE EDITOR
OF THE ¢ CELTIC MAGAZINE.”—The Guelpk Mercury, of 24th December,
says i~——*“ The crofters in the Highlands of Scotland will be well represented in the
next British Parliament. They have returned Mr. Fraser-Mackintosh for Inverness-
shire, Mr. Macfarlane for Argyleshire, Dr. Clark in Caithness, and Dr. Macdonald
in Ross and Cromarty. We regret that Mr. Angus Sutherland has been defeated in
Sutherlandshire by the Marquis of Stafford, son of the Duke of Sutherland. Mr.
Sutherland, the crofters’ candidate, made a gallant fight, and, considering the
immense influence of the Duke, he ran the Marquis pretty close. Much of the credit
for the victories achieved by the crofter candidates is due to Mr. Alex. Mackenzie,
editor of the Celtic Maguazine and Scottish Highlander, published in Inverness, Mr.
Mackenzie, both in the columns of the Higklander, and by his personal efforts, has
worked for the crofters with an ability and devotion that entitles him to the everlasting
gratitude, not only of the crofters themselves, but of all Scotsmen who have their
interests at heart. In Inverness-shire, especially, his laboursin the cause were almost
superhuman, and he has the proud satisfaction of seeing these rewarded by the
election of Mr. Fraser-Mackintosh. Mr. Mackenzie has many friends in Canada
who will recollect his visit to our country some six years ago, and who will be glad
to know that he has proved himself such an able, patriotic, and successful champion
of his oppressed fellow countrymen in the Highlands.”

[Mr. James Innes, proprietor and editor of the Guelph Mercury (daily and
weekly), is a Canadian M.P., and represents one of the divisions of County Welling-
ton, Ontario, in the Dominion Parliament. ILast summer, he and Mrs. Innes made
a tour through Great Britain, going as far North as Skye, Sutherland, and Caithness.
He attended one of the principal crofter demonstrations in Sutherlandshire, on which
occasion he delivered a stirring and able address on the Land Question, at the time
reported in the Scottish Highlander.)
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THE STATE OF THE HIGHLANDS A HUNDRED
YEARS AGO.

v,
THE ISLAND OF LEWIS,

HAVING visited most of Harris without recording anything
additional of striking interest, Mr. Knox proceeded to the Lewis,
landing on the north side of the Bay of Stornoway. He describes
this place as a comparatively low and pleasant country, fertile in
grain and excellent grass. At the time, Stornoway had no quay
worthy of the name, so that vessels had to load and unload upon
the beach, or in the Bay, by means of boats, though its shipping
amounted at the time to twenty-three decked vessels, chiefly
employed in the fishing. He informs us that, in the preceding
century, several Dutch families had settled in Stornoway, but
were driven away during the war between England and Holland.
Their example had, however, a good effect upon the people, who,
“from thenceforward, have done more in the way of fishing and
traffic than all the West Highlands put together.” Fifty hand-
some houses had been built in the place within a few years of our
author’s visit, and new ones were then being built upon a regular
plan, drawn out by the then Earl of Seaforth. The ground was
“granted on perpetual feus, in lots of fifteen to thirty feet in
front, and sixty behind, for a garden, which the inhabitants wish
to have increased to double that size, partly on account of the
room which their bulky fuel requires. If this could be complied
with, the town would increase with great rapidity, and abundantly
repay, in the improvement of the island, the concession of fifteen
or twenty acres of ground.”

Mr. Knox, who was accompanied by Captain Macleod, from
Harris, put up in the Inn on his arrival at Stornoway, but, very
soon after, they were called upon by Seaforth,* who insisted upon

* This Seaforth was Francis Humberston-Mackenzie, who succeeded his brother,
Colonel Thomas Frederick Mackenzie-Humberston, in 1783, and died, the last male
representative of his race, in 1815,
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their accompanying him to the Lodge. Seaforth, he informs us,
had then in contemplation “to rebuild the church, and erect a
gaol and town-house,” and Mr. Knox was so taken with the whole
surroundings, that he exclaims :—*“ When the church and spire
shall be built, with a small spire also upon the town-house, and
other ornaments which Seaforth’s fertile imagination may easily
conceive, this place will merit the pencil of the first landscape
painter in the kingdom, and be a considerable acquisition to the
many beautiful prints which distinguish the present age.” From
this it would appear to anyone who has visited Stornoway in our
time, that Mr. Knox was not difficult to please in the matter of
scenery.

He was anxious tovisit Loch-Roag, on the west side of the Island,
and Seaforth, with a Captain Mackenzie, whom Mr. Knox desig-
nates Seaforth’s “brother-in-law,” and Captain Macleod, at once
volunteered to accompany him. A boat, stored with all kinds of
provisions, wines, spirits, and malt liquors, was soon got in readi-
ness, and the party, in high spirits, started from Stornoway for the
Birchen Isles, from which they were to walk to the head of Loch-
Roag. Having got some distance on their way, it was agreed to
go ashore and have dinner upon one of the Islands. A fire was
soon kindled; every man taking part in the cooking arrangements,
Seaforth himself cutting up, gutting, washing, and putting into
the kettle, one of two fine lythe which they had caught on their
way. Captain Mackenzie attended to the kettle, and supplied the
fire with heather, “which, being dry, made a fine blaze, and
facilitated the business on hand.” They had also caught a salmon
on the trip, of which Captain Macleod took charge, cutting it in
slices of about half-a-pound each; and, placing it in paper, he put
it on the gridiron, cooking it to the great satisfaction of those who
partook of it. Mr. Knox’s department was pulling heather to
keep the pot boiling. When everything was nearly ready to be
served up, ‘“ Seaforth spread a large table cloth upon the ground ;
opened his hampers and canteen; laid the knives, forks, and
plates ; took out his stores of cold tongue, tame and wild fowl,
roast beef, bread, cheese, butter, pepper, salt, vinegar, pickles,
etc., also wine, spirits, ale, and porter,” upon which, it need hardly
be said, the party made an' excellent a/ fresco dinner, During
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the night the weather changed from a calm to a perfect storm of
wind and incessant rain, so that Mr. Knox and his friends were
quite unable to visit Loch-Roag, and had to find their way back
to Stornoway, over mosses and moors, rendered almost impass-
able by the drenching rain and storm.

Even at that time, the fishing industry had become pretty
extensive in the Lewis, and at Stornoway Mr. Knox found large
piles of cod and ling, well cured. Here, however, the inevitable
factor turns up, who has “long monopolized” the fishing
of the Island. He “pays the fishermen £13 per ton for the ling,
and gets, when sold upon the spot, £18. When to these advan-
tages we add the various emoluments arising from his office, and
his traffic in grain, meal, cattle, etc., his place is better than the
rent of many considerable estates in the Highlands. The father
of the present factor procured a lease of that office, with all its
appendages, for a number of years, six or seven of which are yet
unexpired ; and it is said that he retired with a fortune of £20,000,
a part of which he has laid out upon an estate where he now
resides. Of the black cattle, as well as the white fish, he seems
to have had a complete monopoly, as appears from a paper that
was put into my hands by one of the tacksmen, formerly in
Lewis, but who has since taken a large farm elsewhere. A copy
of this curious paper will convey a better idea of the condition of
those people, whose lot it is to live under the despotic sway of
certain factors, than any declamation which human feelings can
incite.” So says our author, writing, not in 1886, but in 1786.

We give the documents, which speak for themselves. They
are all given in foot-notes by Mr. Knox, and are as follows :—

¢ Copy Warrant Alex. ——, factor to Seaforth,—

‘¢ DONALD,

“You are to intimate to the whole tenants in your district, who pay rent to the
factor, that they must sell no cattle this year, until the rents are paid, to any person
who has not the factor’s orders to buy; and, if anyone attempt to buy with ready
money, you are to arrest these cattle, and not allow them to be carried out of the
country, until the whole rents are paid up. This, on your peril, T desire may
be done immediately, and any person who dares to sell after these orders are made
public, you are to acquaint me thereof. Tell John Morison, in Nether Shathu, that
it is expected he will buy up a good many stots and droving cows this year for us.
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If he does, it will be obliging, and the service will not be forgot. Write to me when
you have obeyed these orders,

(Signed) ‘¢ ALEX.

¢¢ Extracted by John Morison, late tacksman of Little Berneray.”
““Copy Receipt Alex, ——————, 24th August, 1780,

‘“ Received by me, Alex. ——————, Clerk of the Admiralty Court ot Lewis
and Harris, from John Morison, Little Berneray, twelve shillings sterling, deducting
therefrom three shillings allowed for salvage, as the value of a barrel of tar found at
sea by Murdo Cook, in the year 1768. Witness my hand.

(Signed) ¢ ALEX, ————,

¢ Extracted by John Morison, late tacksman of Berneray.”

‘“That Mr, —————, as factor to Seaforth, was to be kept in firing by the
tenants of Lewis, but, in place of this, and, in name of said peats, Mr, —————
served a good many of the inhabitants of Stornoway, to the value of forty or fifty
pounds sterling yearly*, is also certified by John Morison, late tacksman of Little
Berneray. If Mr. ————— refuse either the warrant or receipt, I shall produce
the principals; and, as to the article of the peats, if he also refuse it, I shall send
certificates from the people who have bought the peats of him. You'll please
observe that there has been no arrears of rent in the Island since the year 1752, so
that there was no proper apology for granting such warrants, as it only meant to
secure the cattle to themselves, having forbidden any other person to buy, even with
ready money.”

At the time of our author’s visit, the inhabitants of the Lewis
were reckoned at g,000. He informs us that, forty years before,
the then factor farmed the whole Island, for which he paid
Seaforth only £1000 per annum! But, at the time at which he
writes (1786) “by means of improvements in agriculture, fisheries,
and kelp, of which about 200 tons of an excellent quality is made,
chiefly on the west side of the Island, with ground-rents of houses,
and the rise in the price of cattle, the Island now pays £2500”
of rent, besides Church and other dues.

Seaforth, whose principal residence was at Brahan Castle, on
the Mainland, resided, for two or three months every summer, in
the Lewis, where he enjoyed “ more than Asiatic luxury, in the
simple produce of his forest, his heaths, and his shores, His table
is continually supplied with delicate beef, mutton, veal, lamb, pork,
venison, hare, pigeons, fowls, tame and wild ducks, tame and wild

* ¢ Mr. Morison means that, besides the peats nsed by the factor in his own
family, he had a surplus which he sold to the people of Stornoway.”
12
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geese, partridges, and great variety of moor fowl. Of the fish
kind, he is supplied by his factor with salt cod, ling, and tusk ;
and by his own boat with fresh cod, haddock, whiting, mackerel,
skate, soles, flounders, lythe,” and other kinds. “These are caught
in the bay immediately fronting his house, every day except
Sunday, and thrown in a heap upon the ground near the kitchen,
from which the cook supplies the table, and the rest are given to
the poor. In salmon and trout he is supplied from the bay called
Loch Tuath, which flows within a mile of his house on the north
side.” Fish of all kinds seem to have been remarkably plentiful in
the Lewis in Seaforth’s time. To ascertain its extent, he provided
nets, and set out, accompanied by his family and a crowd of people,
for the bay, with the following results, copied from a journal kept
by himself :—

“ August 17, 1786.—Hauled only the little pool once. Caught
salmon, 29 ; trout, 128 ; flounders, 1468.

‘“ August 18.—Hauled both great and little pool once. Great
pool, 139 salmon ; 528 trout; a few flounders. Little pool, 5
salmon, about 100 trout, and 500 flounders.

“ August 25.—Hauled both pools once. Did not count the
fish separately, but the whole were 143 salmon, 143 trout, and the
flounders I did not count, but they were a great heap, about 700
or 800. Every day an immense number of herrings, sprats, and
cuddies were caught.”

From these he supplied himself, and gave the rest away. But
these captures were made after rains that had succeeded a period
of dry weather. ““Such,” with the produce of a garden, says Mr.
Knox, “are the articles which a Highland laird or chieftain has at
his table at dinner and supper.”

He also saysthat, in the Hebrides and upon the western coasts
of the Mainland, a gentleman could entertain at dinner, “ twenty
people with thirty or forty different articles, at an expense not
exceeding fifteen or twenty shillings for eating, which in London
would cost twenty pounds,” and which only those of the first
fortunes in England could command ; while even then they
could not procure such a variety in equal perfection. ‘The
gentlemen in the Highlands have also the advantage in their
wines and spirits, owing, however, in a great measure, to a
melancholy cause. Many ships are wrecked and broke in pieces
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upon their coasts every year, and the floating part of the cargoes
is found at sea, or thrown upon the shore, where it is claimed by
the proprietor or his factor.” Of course —they would claim the
sun and the moon if they could but fall into the sea, and come
ashore on their coasts!

WEST COAST OF ROSS AND SUTHERLAND SHIRES,

Mr. Knox took passage from Stornoway to Poolewe in a
packet, which, he says, crossed once a fortnight in ordinary times,
but once a week when Seaforth was in the Lewis. The vessel
seems to have been in a very bad condition, and on this trip she
was driven by a terrific storm to Gairloch, but was not able to get
into a safe harbour there. After a good deal of knocking about,
and having more than once made up his mind that he was lost,
our author ultimately found himself the guest of Mr. Alexander
Mackenzie of Lochend, now known as Inverewe, from whom he
received much useful information respecting the country, its
waters, and fisheries. Mr. Mackenzie was famed from sea to sea
for his hospitality and good nature. At the head of Loch-Ewe,
he informs us, “are the remains of an ancient furnace, where, as
appears by a date, cannon were made in 1668. Mr. Alexander
Mackenzie’s grandfather lent 10,000 merks to the person or
persons who carried on the works, for which he got in return the
back of an old grate and some hammers, On the back of the
grate is marked, ‘S. G. Hay,’ being Sir George Hay, who was at
the head of a company here during the troubles that succeeded
the death of James V.” From this district our author found his
way, by Loch-Maree and Kinlochewe, to visit Mr. Kenneth
Mackenzie of Torridon. The latter part of the journey was
commenced under heavy rain, and in the teeth of a strong wind.
The track was composed mostly of swamps and gullies, and the
horses which Mr. Knox and his companion rode, “about double
the size of Lincolnshire sheep,” did not appear to be well adapted
for the road. Having crossed two rivers in safety, the party
found themselves in a swamp, which for a time baffled all their
efforts to pass through. “Every movement, as we adwvanced,
required the utmost exertion of the poor animals to raise them-



180 The Celtic Magasine.

selves out of the moss, and to gain another step. In this manner
we spent a great part of the day, struggling through an unin-
habited morass, without the appearance, in many places, of a
path, though, from the declivity of the ground, and the vicinity
of hills, whose sloping sides were covered with strata, an excellent
road might soon be formed by a company of soldiers.” There
is a good road there now—between Kinlochewe and the head of
Loch-Torridon. When about four miles from Mr. Mackenzie’s
house, they were met by a woman with a large wooden bowl of
milk for their refreshment. “The wind and rain,” says our author,
“were so violent, that I could scarcely look up, much less stay
to partake of the good woman’s bounty ; but my fellow-traveller
fell behind, and took a good pull at it.”

At the head of Loch Torridon Mr. Knox found a population
of some 400 in number, which, he says, “as there are many
thousand acres of unimproved sloping land, with permanent
fisheries, might be increased very considerably.” Here Mr. Mac-
kenzie had built a large, modern curing-house for fish, the
first of the kind that had been erected in Scotland. From
Torridon our author took boat to Gairloch, “along an un-
inhabited shore, which rises gradually from the water, to no
considerable height, and seems well adapted for the hand of the
improver.” Gairloch he found to be excellent for the fishing of
cod, and in greater numbers than were found elsewhere on the
West Coast.  “Of this bounty the proprietor fully avails himself.
All the fish taken by his servants are delivered to a contractor,
who, besides paying a stipulated price to the tenants, engages to
pay Sir Hector one halfpenny, or thereabouts, for each fish of a
certain size. The fish are delivered once, or at most twice, every
week; when those that have been taken first, and lain the longest
without salt, may be supposed to be nearly in a state of putrefac-
tion.” In February and March, 1786, the number of fish taken
by the natives, exclusive of those caught by strangers, was—cod,
18,000, and ling, 500. In this fishing forty-one boats were
engaged. Mr. Knox points out that all the harbours were on the
south *“and almost uninhabited side ”of the Loch. *A small harbour
for boats and fishing-vessels could be formed at the head of the
Loch, contiguous to the church, curing-house, etc,, but the
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proprietor does not seem inclinable to have a village so near his
seat, though he seldom resides there.” From Gairloch, Mr.
Knox proceeded north through Poolewe, on to Gruinard and
Dundonald, at both of which places he remained for a short time.
He speaks highly of the improvements made at the latter place,
the proprietor having, by means of planting and otherwise,
doubled the value of his estate. In this connection he says, “I
have generally observed that those families in the Highlands who
remain upon their estates during the whole year, or the greatest
part of it, enjoy a thousand comforts which are unknown to the
votaries after false pleasures elsewhere, They are also freed from
the cares and embarrassments that are the inseparable companions
of the roving gentlemen, whose dependence is solely upon the
rental of moderate Highland estate, encumbered with jointures
and numerous families, Mr. Mackenzie never wanders abroad,
and his home is a source of pleasure, the seat of ease, affluence,
and health. He has lived to see the trees of his own planting
become considerable. He is under the influence of no factor,
and he oppresses no tenant; yet his rent-roll increases with his
years, and his timber, if permitted to stand another age, will be
worth many thousand pounds.”

From Dundonald, Mr. Knox crossed to Leckmelm and
Ullapool, and from thence on to Coigach and Lochinver. At
Lochinver he says, the men complained “as usual” of the rise in
their rents.  “Our fathers,” said they, “were called out to fight our
master’s battles, and this is our reward.” They spoke with
seeming indifference of the cause in which their fathers, and
probably some of themselves, had been engaged, which they said
they did not understand. From here he proceeded through
Assynt, a parish which, he informs us, then contained a population
of 2500 souls; the shores of Loch Assynt being then “well
peopled.” Now (1886) there is not a soul in the latter district,
except a solitary gamekeeper or shepherd.  Proceeding northward,
Mr. Knox entered Sutherlandshire, passing Loch ILaxford and
Loch Inchard. The district between the Point of Assynt and
Cape Wrath contained a population of ‘“above 2000 people, or
ten for each mile.,” This number our author thinks unreasonably
few. Were he to visit it to-day, we question if he would meet
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one-fourth the number. At Tongue House he saw a book
which contained a correspondence, “from the year 1730 to 1740,
between George, Lord Reay, and certain merchants of Glasgow,
Renfrew, and Dunbar, relative to herrings caught by his Lord-
ships’s tenants upon this coast. It appears from their corres-
pondence that herrings were then plentiful, that his Lordship
sold them ready cured; and that the merchants sent vessels to
take them away at a fixed price agreed upon by contract between
the parties for a given number of years.” From Loch Inchard
to Durness, Mr. Knox informs us that he passed through a part
of what was called ‘“the Forest; but it might with greater
propriety be called the Desert. Here are no trees, no houses,
no people. We did not see a human creature till we came
within sight of Durness; and very few cattle. The whole was
rock or moss, generally covered with long heath. A few moor
fowls rose now and then from among our feet. They were
generally in pairs, and might easily have been shot. The deer
keep mostly together, probably for their common defence, as well
as to protect their young. Seven hundred and upwards appear
sometimes in one body.” He noticed that the hills were strewn
with large stones, from one to three or four tons weight. Of
these, thousands lay scattered over a tract of many miles,
Science must have been in a backward state in those days, for
our author says that the labour of raising them to such considerable
heights “must have been great.” He could not learn the use of
these stones, “but it is probable,” he says, ‘“that they served to
screen the persons who were on the watch to kill the wild boar,
the deer, the fox, the eagle, and other animals, which, in old
times, abounded in the Highlands,” In this part of the journey
(from Lochbroom), Mr. Knox was accompanied by ‘“a half-pay
officer,” named Mackenzie, introduced to him by Mr. Mackenzie
of Leckmelm. Half-pay officers do not appear to have been
quite so particular as regards their dress at that time as in the
present day, for Mr. Knox incidentally tells us that, though the
tops of the mountains were covered with snow, he himself *“was
continually in a sweat, owing to the ascent of the hills, and many
bad steps among the swamps, while Mr. Mackenzie, w/o was not
encumbered with boots, travelled with all the agility and ease for
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which his countrymen are remarkable.” Mr. Knox and his
companion soon arrived at Durness, where, we are told, there
was a parish church, a manse, and a seat of the family of Reay.
At Tongue he completes what he describes as the first part of his
Journal; and there we have to leave him.

A M.

THE LOCH-FYNE BARD.

THE friends and admirers of Mr. Evan MacColl, and their name
is legion, will be glad to learn that he is not only hale and hearty
in his old age, he being now 77, but that his popularity is as fresh
as ever. We were favoured lately with a copy of the second
Canadian edition of his collected English poems, of which we
spoke in terms of highest praise when the first edition made
its appearance. The present volume has been carefully revised
and corrected, is very well printed, and neatly got up.

It is further interesting to note that Mr. MacColl has arranged
for the issue of a completely new and revised edition of “Clarsach
nam Beann,” Mr. MacColl’s well-known and ever-popular collec-
tion of Gaelic poems. As this work has been comparatively
scarce for some years, and as the author’s muse has not by any
means been idle since the “Clarsach” was first published, High-
landers will look forward with great interest to the forthcoming
work. Few of our Gaelic minstrels have been able to give poetic
expression to their sentiments with greater fluency and musical
sweetness than Mr. Evan MacColl.
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AN OLD CHURCH PROCESS.

[BY KENNETH MACDONALD, F.S.A. SCOT.]

( Continued.)

THE Ministers, on the other hand, thought the provision too
small, and hoped their Lordships would “grant the Ministers of
Inverness stipends on which they may decently be subsisted, and
not make their livings worse than their neighbour brethren.”
Their petition begins by stating that the stipend modified in 1665
was nine chalders of victual, 400 merks of money, with the vicarage
and small teinds épsa corpora, 200 merks payable by the town of
Inverness out of their Common Good, and £40 for communion
elements, while the present stipend was 168 bolls and £59 13s.
73d. sterling, including the vicarage, but how the alteration from
the decree of 1665 happened they could not declare. The stipend
modified by the interlocutor complained of was 48 bolls, 1 firlot,
2 pecks, 2 lippies victual, half bear, half oatmeal, and £491 8s. 6d.
Scots money to each Minister, exclusive of manses and glebes.
There was in addition the decernitures against the Magistrates for
100 merks to each Minister for manse rent, and also to furnish the
Communion elements. This stipend, the Ministers contend, is
too small for such an important parish as Inverness, of which they
say that few parishes in Scotland are more extensive, “although
there was not a Royal Burgh in the heart of it,” the number of
parishioners, which in 1665 included no less than 4000 communi-
cants, being now greatly increased by “the peace and security of
the subjects, the trade and riches of the country.” The free teinds,
they allege, amount to over 35 chalders victual, and £1739 13s.
4d. Scots money, “a fund capable of bearing a suitable and com-
petent provision, without hurting the Titular or prejudicing the
Heritors.” The town of Inverness, they say, “lies in the mouth of
the Highlands, where two circuits in the year are held, and it is
consistent with many of your Lordships’ knowledge, who have
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lived six days there together, that the rates of everything are
higher and dearer than in any other town of the three districts of
Scotland, as likewise that the confluence of strangers is much
greater there than in the other three districts put together, exclu-
sive of the great number of Her Majesty’s forces quartered in that
town and in the neighbourhood ; that it is unnecessary to be
very particular, the very name of the parish of Inverness, its circum-
stances, and situation, carrying a stronger conviction thanathousand
ordinary arguments to call upon your Lordships’ attention to give
such an augmentation that the Magistrates of that town may have
it in their power at all times and on all occasions to be supplied
with the most able, faithful, and laborious Ministers that are to be
found within the peal of the Church of Scotland to support and
maintain the sacred and civil liberties of their country.” The
petition then goes on to show that the importance of the parish
was recognised by “good Queen Anne,” who obtained an erection
of another church, and doted for a stipend £881 1s. 6d. (Scots)
in perpetuum, a stipend to which the parishioners of Inverness had
added £z0 by voluntary contribution. The Magistrates of Inver-
ness had also recognised the importance of the petitioners’ charge,
and the inadequacy of their stipend, when, on 12th October,
1720, they, “upon a narrative of the smallness of the stipends,
and of their duty to provide for the comfortable living of the
Ministers, that their thoughts might be wholly taken up with the
work to which they were called, and that thereby, through the bless-
ing of God, their ministry might be more successful in this corner,
and thereby the glory of God advanced, did augment the stipend
of each Minister to 1600 merks, attour their manses, and gave
£200 by the year to a factor for uplifting the old stipend.” The
petition then goes on to show that if, when this arrangement was
made with the town, the Ministers had elected to collect the old
stipend themselves, their stipend would have amounted, with
manse rent, to 1850 merks, and having established this, they
thenceforth argue on the assumption that from 1720 their stipend
/iad been of that amount, and conclude therefore that now, thirty-five
years afterwards, however it “may be opposed from mercenary
and pecuniary considerations,” “there is convincing evidence of the
necessity of an augmentation which cannot be destroyed by the
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ingenuity of the defenders” (the landward Heritors), “by the
price they are willing to pay for a peck of meal, or the low rate
they are able to furnish a pound of beef.” A good deal of the
Ministers’ argument is directed against the Heritors’ contention
that the value of the glebes should be taken into account in modi-
fying a stipend, and in this connection it is stated that the glebe
of the First Minister has a number of huts built on it, and yields a
precarious rent of 300 merks by the year, but the rent is uncertain,
as the greatest part of it “‘depends on the standing or falling of
those huts.” The buildings on the glebe of the First Minister
must have been in a very bad state, indeed, if Mr. David Dalrymple,
who signs the petition, was not adding some colour to his clients’
story. The glebe of the Second Minister was set for 150 merks.
The Ministers state that each of them had a manse, the Second
Minister by Mortification, the first in the ordinary way, but both
of them were given up to the town of Inverness, and the Heritors
of the parish, on an agreement that £100 should be paid to each
Minister yearly in the proportion of two-thirds by the town, and
one-third by the landward Heritors, ‘It is acknowledged that the
Magistrates have punctually paid their money, but little or nothing
has been received from the landward Heritors, and yet they have
so far benefitted by their neglect or refusal to pay that by the
foresaid interlocutor they are exeemed and freed in all time
coming "—a passage which, taken in connection with the opening
sentence, already quoted, of the Magistrates’ petition, shows that,
notwithstanding the previous litigation between the Ministers and
the town, no ill-feeling remained, and that, so far as the Ministers
and the Magistrates were concerned, this suit was a friendly one.
The three petitions of the Magistrates, the Ministers, and the
landward Heritors came before the Court on 26th February,
1755, and the parties were ordered to answer each other by 1st
June following, This was intimated by Mr. Forbes to Provost
Hossack, by a letter dated 27th February, on which- there is
indorsed, probably in the handwriting of the Town Clerk, ¢6th
June. The Magistrates wrote an answer.” Business was done
in a leisurely fashion in those days, and done too in a manner
which contrasts strangely with the mode in which it is done now.
Were an important lawsuit, to which the town was a party, pending
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now, every step taken, and every step contemplated, would form
matter for discussion by the whole Council, but in 1775 things
were managed very differently. Everything was then controlled
by the Magistrates, a select body inside the select and self-elected
body which constituted the Town Council, and the Council
Record, as the minute book is called, contains no notice of these
proceedings. Indeed, it would seem as if, although the Magis-
trates are constantly spoken of in the correspondence, the whole
matter was managed by the Provost alone, for not only are all the
letters from the Edinburgh agent addressed to him, and all the
instructions of the Edinburgh agent given in letters signed by him,
but, from incidental reference in some of the pleadings in the
earlier process at the instance of Mr. Fraser and Mr. Macbean, it
would appear as if he had still greater power in his hands, and
that the fact of Mr. Murdoch Mackenzie, then the Minister of the
Third Charge, being the son-in-law of Provost Hossack, had
secured him in the continued payment, notwithstanding the
embarrassed state of the town’s finances, of the supplemental
stipend, for which his colleagues vainly sued. A copy of the
Magistrates’ letter of 6th June, 1755, has not been preserved, but
part of its contents are given in a memorandum by Mr. William
Forbes, dated 1oth July, 17535, which will be afterwards quoted.
Answers were not lodged for the Magistrates in terms of the
order of 26th February, their advisers being of opinion that it was
not necessary, but Answers were lodged for the Ministers and for
the landward Heritors. The prints are dated 7th and 8th July
respectively. Both documents are mainly argumentative, but they
contain one or two statements which may bear reproduction.
The Ministers say that the usual market price of victual does not
exceed £5 per boll, or £80 per chalder, and that even were it, as the
Heritors contend, £100 per chalder, the old stipend to be divided
between the two Ministers (laying out of the calculation glebes
and manses), was only £147 3s. 7d., which they maintain is
insufficient. The glebes, they contend, ought not to be taken
into account in fixing the stipend, “and least of all in such a case
as the present, when one of the glebes at least appears to be a
donation and mortification, the deed of which is produced.” But
if the glebes are to be computed, the Heritors’ value is too high—
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the true values being, Mr. Macbean’s glebe, £16 13s. 4d. sterling,
and Mr. Mackenzie’s, £100 Scots, or at most £9g sterling. Then
there is given a calculation showing that, taken at the true values,
the stipend of the two Ministers, including glebes, is £154 13s.
4d., or £77 6s. 8d. each. By the interlocutor complained of,
an addition of £22 4s. 5d. was made to the stipend, making that of
each Minister £88 8s. 103d. sterling. The Ministers “appeal to your
Lordships as to the dearness of all kinds of vivres in the mercats
of Inverness, as there are severals of your own number who have
had occasion to know with what truth it is asserted that beef" sells
in any season of the year at three halfpence per pound, and to
any body who knows the situation of that part of the country, as
it has been for several years past, and is likely to continue, itis no
mystery how living should be dear in the town of Inverness.”
“They hope you are sensible, as they themselves have good
reason to be, of what importance it is in many respects, and
particularly for the interest of His Majesty’s Government, that the
town of Inverness be supplied with able and sufficient Ministers,
and that there should be such provision for them as will encourage
those of the best abilities of the Church to come there, and enable
them to live amongst a numerous people, composed of such a
variety of different characters, conditions, and denominations,
with such proper dignity and independence as is necessary to the
success of their endeavours to promote either the civil or religious
interests of those under their care.”

The Answers for the landward Heritors, in referring to the
Ministers’ petition complaining of the smallness of the augmenta-
tion granted, say that “they (the Ministers) are abundantly well
satisfied with what they have already obtained, and have presented
this petition with no other view but to guard against any defalca-
tion from the stipend already modified;” and, in dealing with the
petition of the Magistrates, a neat, back-handed slap is given
when it is said that “these gentlemen appear to be extremely
well satisfied that your Lordships should give whatever augmenta-
tion the Ministers shall please to ask, providing no part thereof is
to be made a burden upon their funds.” In answering in detail
the petition of the Ministers, no new fact is brought out, and the
only thing worth quoting is the answer to an argument which
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the Ministers based upon the stipend of the Third Minister, to
which £20 had been added by voluntary contribution. On this
point the heritors say :—‘ As the charity of well-disposed Chris-
tians was the original and proper fund for the maintenance of the
Clergy, when they were sure of being rewarded according to
their labours, the respondents have no objection that the stipends
in question should in like manner be augmented out of that fund.”
In answer to the statement made by the Ministers, as to the
price of victual in the parish, the Heritors allege that the
chalder yields no less than £100 Scots, and this conversion they
offered to pay yearly to the Ministers. In answer to the petition
of the Magistrates and Town Council the Heritors say that, from
the decree of modification and locality in 1665, it appears that
the Lords Commissioners for Plantation of Kirks and Valuation
of Teinds did recommend to Murdoch, Bishop of Moray, to
endeavour to settle matters amicably between the parties as to
the augmentation and locality of that stipend, and to report ; that
at an after-calling there was produced a condescendence and
agreement, containing a special locality, both of the former stipend
and of the then augmented stipend, proportioning both upon the
different heritors, and which, snter alia, contained the following
article relative to the Town of Inverness :—

“¢Qut of the lands holding in feu by the Provost, Bailies, and
Council of Inverness, or the Kirk thereof, the sum of 100 merks, as
old Locality, payable out of the Common Good of the said Burgh;
and sicklike, the sum of another 100 merks, payable by the
Provost, Bailies, and Council of the said Burgh, out of the said
Common Good, sicklike is hereby holden and accepted of by the
said Mr. Alexander Clark, and Mr. James Sutherland (Ze., the
Ministers), for themselves and successors, serving at the said Cure
of Inverness, to be in lieu and vice of what was promised by the
said Magistrates and Council, their predecessors, to the Ministers
serving the said Cure, according to an Act of Council, of date
11th February, 1650." And which agreement concludes in these
words :—*The above-written localled stipend, augmentations, and
teind-silver, with the above-mentioned 100 merks, is hereby
condescended upon, by consent of the above and within-named
Ministers and Heritors, to be and continue as a constant stipend,
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to be paid yearly, in manner above divided, to the said Ministers
and their successors, out of the Landward Parochin, Town, and
Territory of Inverness.” And there was therewith produced a
consent from the Earl of Panmure, Titular of the Teinds of said
Parish, approbatory of said Agreement ; as also a letter from the
Bishop of Moray to the Archbishop of St. Andrews, President of
the Court, bearing—*That, conform to the recommendation of the
Commission, he had settled the stipend of the Kirk of Inverness
to the contentment of the Ministers, Burgh, and Heritors, as many
of them as were present, and desiring the Commissioners’ authority
to be interponed thereto. And, in pursuance thereof, the Lords
Commissioners decreed the foresaid stipend, as above condes-
cended upon, and agreed to, including the 200 merks payable by
the Burgh of Inverness out of their Common Good, to be the
constant, modified, and localled stipend to the said two Ministers
and their successors, with £40 for Communion elements, to be
paid in manner mentioned in the said Condescendence and
Locality.” It was further alleged that, by a former Decree of
Locality, prior to 1665, a hundred merks was payable by the
Burgh of Inverness, out of its Common Good, and that an Act of
Town Council was passed in 1650, whereby an augmentation was
to be made out of the Common Good of the Burgh. When,
therefore, the stipend came to be augmented and modified, in
1663, it was agreed that the further sum of 100 merks should be
paid by the town, out of its Common Good, in lieu of what was
claimable under the Act of Council of 1650.

The Magistrates and Council were anxious to have the part of
the interlocutor which referred to the 200 merks paid by the
Town of Inverness, out of their Common Good, explained so as
make it clear that this sum was to be in full of all stipend exigible
out of the lands which were the property of the Town in 1665.
On this point the Heritors say that the Town had no property
lands in the parish except the lands which had been gained off
the sea, although they had certain feu-duties payable by their
vassals in particular lands, but that these vassals themselves paid
their proportion of stipend corresponding to their respective pro-
perties; and they go on to suggest that the meaning of the
Magistrates is that the 200 merks, payable by the Burgh out of
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their Common Good, should be understood to be payable out of
the tithes of their vassals’ lands, and to be so far beneficial to the
vassals as to exhaust their tiends pro fanto. For this contention
the respondents say they see no good foundation. “ They observe,
indeed, from the decree of locality in 1665, that the 100 merks,
payable by the Town out of their Common Good, is said to have
been paid out of the lands holding in feu by the Town to the
Kirk, but, as this refers to a former decreet, how far back nobody
can say, and as there are no lands, to the respondents known,
belonging to the Town, that hold of the Kirk, this description
must go for nothing, as the first, as well as the second, 100 merks
has, past all memory, been paid out of the Town’s Common
Good.” On the question of manse-rent, the Heritors say that the
Ministers have manses within the Burgh which the Magistrates
and Town Council took into their own hanas, and disposed of at
pleasure, in lieu of which they agreed to pay 200 merks to the
Ministers in name of manse-rent. One of these manses had been,
while in the Magistrates’ possession, pulled down by them, but
the Town was in possession of the other. With regard to the
expense of furnishing Communion elements, the Heritors
acknowledge that the Court had, in decerning against the Magis-
trates, proceeded upon a mistake in point of fact, “which the
Ministers ought to have set right, as they could not be ignorant
by whom, and out of what funds, the elements were in use to be
furnished.” The elements, it appears, were furnished by the
Kirk Session, and the Heritors say :—* It is matter of no difficulty
to find out by what influence the elements have been in use to be
furnished out of the poor’s money, when your Lordships are
informed that the sum modified by the decreet 1665 did include
the Communion elements, so that was an ease to the Ministers
that the Session has been prevailed with to furnish these out of
the poor’s money, upon which the respondents shall make no
reflections.”

( To be continued.)
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THE HISTORY OF THE MACLEODS.
[BY THE EDITOR.]

( Continued.)

SIR RODERICK MACLEOD, known as “Ruaridh Mor,” so called,
“not so much from his size, or stature of his body—which was not
remarkably large—as from the strength of his parts,” was perhaps
the most distinguished Highland chief of his time. For the
greater part of his reign he was at feud, and fought several
engagements with the Macdonalds of Sleat. Roderick was not
infeft in the whole of the family estates until 1596, which was done
in September of that year on a precept from Chancery, though
his brother, William, died, as we have seen, in 1590. In 1504,
Roderick accompanied Donald Gorm Mor Macdonald of Sleat to
the North of Ireland to assist Red Hugh O’Donnell, at the time in
rebellion against the Government of Queen Elizabeth. The Skye
Chiefs had 500 each of their clansmen under their command on
this occasion. They crossed in their own galleys, and on their
arrival at Loch-Foyle, they were met by O'Donnell, and enter-
tained there for three days and three nights. Macleod then led
his men in person to assist the Chief of the Irish Branch of the
Siol Cuinn, but Donald Gorm returned home, leaving his men
under the command of his brother. Roderick Macleod got into
trouble with the Scottish Court in connection with this raid to
13
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Ireland against the English Government, and other acts, for next
year he was charged by the Privy Council, on the application of
Elizabeth’s ambassador in Scotland, to desist from rendering any
aid to the Irish under Red Hugh; and Gregory informs us that
about 1596 he and Donald Macdonell of Glengarry, usually styled
Donald “MacAngus,” made their submission, and were received
into favour.

This year Macleod received, on the 18th of September, a
charge from the King, commanding him to be at Islay, with all
his followers, on the 20th of the same month—only two days after
receipt of the Royal commands—under pains of treason and
forfeiture. This was clearly impossible, and “ Rodericus Macloid
of the Herrie,” as he styles himself, addressed a characteristic
letter to James VI. Macleod addresses his reply :—

“To his Hynes Maiestie Soverane Lord, King and Maister,”
from Marvak, Harris, on the 22nd of September, 1596, and
referring to the King’s charge that he should be at Islay on the
20th, he says (the orthography being modernised)—*“1 take God
and your Grace to witness if it was possible for me to have done
the same; although my force had been together, and wind and
weather had served me at every airt of the broken seas in the
countries, and my men lie far asunder; and although the charge
had been given to me the first of August, it had been little enough
to have been at the day appointed, with my force. Sir, I beseech
your Grace think not this to be an excuse. I will lay all this
aside; and although I should be borne in a horse litter, I shall do
my exact diligence to be at my Lord Crowner, where your Grace
has commanded me, in all possible haste, as I shall answer to God
and your Grace both, and whom your Grace or my Lord Crowner
will command me in your Highness’s name to pass on, either by
sword or fire, I shall do the same, or any your Grace will command
me to fight hand in hand in your Grace’s sight, I shall prove my
pith on him. Beseeching your Grace favourably to let not use me
with letters of treason or traitory, I being in mind to serve your
Grace under God as my native King and Master to the uttermost
of my life. This voyage being ended, I will rejoice to be at your
Grace, and to have your Grace’s presence, and to serve and know
your Grace as my only sovereign, king, lord, and master: looking
for your Grace’s answer, if need be, again with this bearer, to have
your Grace’s presents, and God bless your Grace.”

In the following year, 1597, an Act of Parliament was passed,
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in terms of which it was made imperative on all claiming rights to
any lands in the Isles to produce their title deeds, before the Lords
of Exchequer, upon the 15th of May, 1598. This was because
“they neglected to pay their yearly rents” and “to perform the
services due from their lands to the Crown,” and in consequence
of their having “made the Highlands and Isles, naturally so valu-
able from the fertility of the soil, and the richness of the fisheries,
altogether unprofitable- either to themselves or to their fellow-
countrymen.” The Island lords were further enjoined to find
security for the regular payment of their rents to the Crown, and
for the peaceable and orderly behaviour of themselves, and of
those for whom, by law, they were bound to answer, particularly
in regard to those desirous of trading in the Isles. Disobedience
to any of the injunctions contained in the Act, and they were
many, was made to infer absolute forfeiture of all titles, real or
pretended, which any of the recusants might possess to lands in
the Highlands and Isles. Taking into consideration both the loss
of title deeds, which, in the unsettled state of the country, must
have been a very common occurrence—and the difficulty which
many even of the most powerful chiefs could not fail to experi-
ence in finding the requisite bail for their peaceable and orderly
behaviour, as well as that of their vassals and tenants—it is evident,
. says Gregory, that this Act was prepared with a view to place at
the disposal of the Crown, in a summary manner, many large
tracts of land; affording thus an opportunity to the King to com-
mence his favourite plans for the improvement of the Highlands
and Isles.

No record has been kept of those who presented themselves
on the 15th of May, 1598, but it is known that the lands of Harris,
Dunvegan, and Glenelg, as well as those of Macleod of Lewis,
were declared to be at the disposal of the Crown, though it is un-
doubted that Roderick Macleod of Dunvegan and Harris held
unexceptionable titles to the first three named. A company of
Lowland adventurers, the principal of whom were the Duke of
Lennox; Patrick, Commendator of Lindores; William, Com-
mendator of Pittenweem ; Sir James Anstruther, younger of that
Ilk; Sir James Sandilands of Slamanno; James Leirmonth of
Balcolmly; James Spens of Wormestoun; John Forret of Fin-
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gask; David Home, younger of Wedderburn ; and Captain William
Murray, received a grant of all the lands belonging to Roderick
Macleod of Dunvegan and Harris, including those of Glenelg;
but they were never able even to occupy them.

Roderick did not go forward to present his titles in terms of
the Act of Parliament, and the forfeiture of his lands duly followed
upon his refusal to comply. At the same time Macleod of Dun-
vegan, from his assisting Macleod of Lewis against Torquil
Conanach and the Mackenzies,* was on bad terms with Sir
Roderick Mackenzie of Coigeach, Tutor of Kintail, progenitor of
the Mackenzies of Cromarty, then a member of the Scottish
Privy Council, and otherwise possessing great power and influ-
ence. Macleod appears to have presented himself before the
Council at this time, and Sir Roderick Mackenzie, knowing his
haughty and proud temper, purposely insulted him by certain
offensive remarks made to him before the other members, when,
it is said, Macleod immediately struck the Tutor of Kintail and
knocked him down in the Privy Council Chamber, an offence
which was punishable by death. He, however, managed to effect
his escape to the Isles.

In 1601 an inveterate quarrel broke out between Sir Roderick
and Donald Gorm Mor Macdonald of Sleat, who had previously
married Margaret Macleod, Sir Roderick’s eldest sister, and who
now, through jealousy or other cause, ill-treated, repudiated, and
sent her away. Sir Roderick, having learned this, sent Macdonald
a message to take the lady back, or the consequences, it was
hinted, might become unpleasant. Instead of acceding to this
request, Donald Gorm, on the contrary, set about procuring a
legal divorce for Roderick’s sister, in which he succeeded; when,
without any delay, he married Mary, daughter of Colin Cam
Mackenzie, XI. of Kintail, and sister of Macleod’s enemy, Sir
Roderick Mackenzie, Tutor of Kintail. This added insult to
injury, and Macleod at once determined to be revenged for the
injustice done to his sister, and the insult offered to himself, his
family, and clan, in her person, by Donald Gorm. He forthwith
assembled his vassals and carried fire and sword into Macdonald’s

* Full particulars of these feuds will be given when we come to write the portion
of this work applicable to the Macleods of Lewis and Assynt.
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lands of Troternish, venting his resentment upon every living
thing that he came across. The Macdonalds, according to
Gregory, in revenge, invaded Harris, which they laid waste,
killing many of the inhabitants and carrying off their cattle. This
retaliation roused the Macleods to make a foray upon Macdonald’s
estate of North Uist, and, accordingly, they sailed from Skye,
their Chief at their head, towards that island; and, on arriving
there, Rory Mor sent his kinsman, Donald Glas Macleod, with
forty men to lay waste the land, and to bring off from the church
of Kiltrynad the cattle and effects of the country people, which,
on the alarm being given, had been placed there for safety. In
the execution of these orders, Donald Glas was encountered by a
celebrated warrior of the Clandonald, nearly related to their Chief,
Donald Maclan Mhic Sheumais, who had only twelve men with him.
The Macdonalds behaved with so much gallantry that they routed
their opponents and rescued the cattle, Donald Glas and many of
his men being killed. Sir Roderick Macleod, seeing the ill
success of this detachment, and suspecting that a larger force was
at hand, returned home meditating future vengeance. These incur-
sions were carried on with so much inveteracy that both clans
were brought to the brink of ruin; and many of the natives of the
districts, thus devastated, were forced to sustain themselves by killing
and eating their horses, dogs, and cats. At length, in 1601, while
Macleod was absent seeking assistance from the Earl of Argyll,
the Macdonalds invaded his lands in Skye, in considerable num-
bers, wishing to force on a battle. The Macleods, under Alexander
of Minginish, brother of their Chief, took post on the shoulder of
the Cuchullin Hills. After a fierce and obstinate combat, in which
both parties fought with great bravery, the Macleods were over-
thrown. Their leader, with thirty of their choicest warriors, fell
into the hands of the victors; and two of the Chief’s immediate
relations and many others were slain. The Privy Council now
interfered to prevent further mischief. The Marquis of Huntly
and the Earl of Argyll, and all others, were prohibited from giving
assistance to either of the contending parties; whilst the Chiefs
themselves were ordered to disband their forces and to quit the
island in the meantime. Macleod was enjoined to give himself
up to the Earl of Argyll, and Macdonald to surrender to Huntly,
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and both were strictly charged, under the penalty of treason, to
remain with these noblemen till the controversy between them
should be settled by the King and Council. A reconciliation was
at length effected between them by the mediation of Angus Mac-
donald of Isla, Maclean of Coll, and other friends: after which the
prisoners taken at “the battle of Benquhillin” were released; and
ever after these clans refrained from open hostility, and submitted
their disputes to the decision of the law.

Alexander Cameron, in his Zyaditions of the Isle of Skye,
gives the local version, and says, that it was the Macleods, after
having succeeded in raising the creack of the island, that had
gathered their booty into the Church or Monastery of the Trinity
at Carinish, and that they were feasting there on some of their
plunder, “when Donald Maclain Mhic Sheumais arrived with his
twelve warriors, who fought with their bows, and arrows, and
swords with such effect, that only two of the Macleods escaped to
convey the news of their discomfiture to their Chief, who was with
his galleys at Portnalong. Donald Maclain Mhic Sheumais
received a severe arrow wound in the action, from which he, how-
ever, soon recovered, and continued to distinguish himself as a
warrior. The leader of the Macleods was slain by a Macdougall,
named Donald Mor MacNeil Mic Iain, at the sands named from
that circumstance, Oitiv Mic Dhomlinuil Ghlais. The slain of the
party were buried at the scene of the action, known as Feithe-
na-fola, or the morass of blood, and their skulls were placed in the
windows of the Church of the Trinity, where they were to be seen
up to a recent date. Rory Mor, seeing the bad success of his
clansmen, and suspecting that there were greater forces in the
island, retired home, intending to return shortly with greater forces
to avenge hisloss.” Cameron continues—‘“In about three weeks
Donald Maclain Mhic Sheumais was sufficiently recovered to pro-
ceed to Skye to report the affair at Carinish personally to his Chief,
Donald Gorm Mor. He accordingly set sail in his galley with a be-
fitting retinue, but when about half-way across the Minch, which
separates North Uist and the other islands of the Outer Hebrides
from Skye, a violent snow-storm with contrary wind arose, so that
Donald was driven back, and had no recourse but to make for
Rodil, in Harris, one of the seats of his enemy, Rory Mor. It
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was dark when Donald and his company landed, and their arrival
was known to no one at Rodil, with the exception of Macleod’s
page, Macrimmon, a native of Skye, to whom Donald stood in
the relation of gvistid), or godfather. Rory Mor, as usual, had a
number of the gentlemen of his clan waiting on and feasting with
him at Rodil House. The severity of the storm made the Chief
uneasy. He paced to and fro in his dining-hall, and, removing
the panel from one of the apertures that served as windows, he
peered into the darkness without, and shuddered as the blast blew
in through the window a shower of snow. Hastily closing the
aperture, he exclaimed, ‘I could not refuse shelter to my greatest
enemy, even Donald Maclain Mhic Sheumais, on such a night.’
Macrimmon immediately answers, ‘I take you at your word,
Donald Maclain Mhic Sheumais is here.” Rory Mor was rather
taken aback by the unexpected announcement, but, yielding to no
man in hospitality, he at once requested that Donald and his com-
pany be shown in. The Macdonalds entered, and, after a formal
salutation, were requested to sit down to dinner with their host
and his kinsmen. The long table groaned under its burden of
beef, venison, and salmon. The Macleods were seated on one
side, and the Macdonalds ranged themselves on the other side of
the table, the dunevassals of either clan being seated above, and
the vassals below the salt. Abundance of good old wine was
quaffed, and as it took effect, the Macleods, who did not appear
to relish the presence of the strangers, cast furtive glances across
the table. At length the murmured and listless conversation was
interrupted by the words, ‘ Remember, this day three weeks was
fought the battle of Carinish,” spoken by one of the Macleods, in
a loud and emphatic tone. The Chief gave a frowning look to
the speaker, but that did not deter him from repeating the unfor-
tunate words, which acted as a live spark on the combustible
nature of the Macleods, and in an instant they displayed a score
of daggers. A bloody scene would have inevitably followed had
not the Chief at once interfered, and with a voice of authority
commanded his hasty clansmen to sheath their weapons, and not
disgrace his hospitality and their own gallantry by such an ill-
timed act. They at once obeyed, and he apologised to Donald
for his clansmen’s rashness, and good humouredly inquired of him
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why he had unsheathed his sword. Donald replied that he did
not mean to act on the offensive, but that if any of his men had
been struck he intended to have secured first the highest bird in
the air, an t-eun as airde tha ’san ealtuinn. When the hour for
retiring came, the Macdonalds were shown to an outer house to
sleep, but Donald, as being of higher rank, was about being shown
to a bedroom in the house, when he declined to go, preferring to
accompany his men, which he did. They retired to rest, but had
scarcely slept when Macrimmon came to the door and called for
Donald Maclain Mhic Sheumais, saying that there was now fair
wind for Skye. The Macdonalds at once got up, and, finding
that the gale had subsided and the wind was favourable, they em-
barked in their galley for Skye. They had scarcely reached the
entrance of the Bay of Rodil when, on looking back, they observed
the dormitory they had left in flames, some of the Macleods
having treacherously set it on fire, suspecting that the Macdonalds
were within. The piper of the Macdonalds struck up the
piobaireachd, Tha ar dublithuil air Macleod, i.e., ‘the Macleods
are disgraced,” which galled the Macleods on perceiving that they
were outwitted. The Macdonalds were soon borne by the breeze
to their destination, Duntulm, in Troternish.”

Mr. Cameron gives the following particulars of the battle of
the Cuchullins :—

In the absence of Rory Mor in Argyle, seeking the aid
and advice of the Earl of Argyll against the Macdonalds,
Donald Gorm Mor assembled his men and made an invasion
into Macleod’s lands, desiring to force on a battle. Alexander
Macleod of Minginish, the brother of Rory Mor, collected all the
fighting men of the Siol Tormod, and some of the Siol Torquil, and
encamped by Ben-a-Chuilinn. Next day they and the Macdonalds
joined battle, “which continued all the day long, both contending
for the victory with incredible obstinacy.” The leader of the
Macleods (who was cased in armour), together with Neil Mac-
Allister Roy, and thirty of the leading men of the Macleods were
wounded and taken prisoners, and the Macdonalds succeeded in
gaining the battle. John MacTormoid and Tormod MacTormoid,
two near kinsmen of Rory Mor, and several others of the Mac-
leods, were slain, Donald Maclain Mhic Sheumais fought with
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great bravery in the action under Donald Gorm Mor. The
ravine where the battle was fought is hence named Coire na creich,
or the ravine of the spoil. The Privy Council now interfered, and
requested the chiefs to disband and quit Skye. Donald Gorm
Mor was ordered to surrender himself to the Earl of Huntly, and
Rory Mor to the Earl of Argyll, and were charged to remain
with these noblemen under the pain of treason, until the quarrel
between them should be settled by the King and Council.
Through the mediation of Angus Macdonald of Kintyre, the
Laird of Coll, and other friends, a reconciliation was effected
between them, upon which Donald Gorm Mor delivered up to
Rory Mor the prisoners taken at Ben-a-Chuilinn, including his
brother, Alexander of Minginish, after which they refrained from
open hostility, though they did have actions of law against each
other.* On the reconciliation being effected, Donald Gorm Mor
was invited by Rory Mor to a banquet in Dunvegan Castle.
When Donald Gorme Mor appeared in sight of the Castle, he
was met by Macleod’s splendid piper, Donald Mor Macrimmon,
who welcomed the Chief of the Macdonalds by playing “ The
Macdonald’s Salute,” which piobaireackd he composed for the
occasion. It was at the same banquet that he composed, Fazlte
nan Leodach, or Macleod’s Salute.

About this period the Macleods of Harris, Macneills of Barra,and
Macdonalds of Clanranald assisted Neill Macleod of Lewis against
the Fife Adventurers, whose appearance in that island, their
proceedings there, and their final discomfiture will be described
at length when we come to the History of the Macleods of Lewis.
Macleod was in great difficulty with the Court at this time, in
consequence of his feuds with the neighbouring Chiefs, but by the
assistance of the Earl of Argyll, with whom he entered into a con-
tract, dated 7th of July, 1606, to resign his Barony of Glenelg to
the King, in favour of his Lordship, who in his turn became bound
to re-grant the same to Macleod and his heirs-male, to be held of
Argyll and his heirs, by service of ward, marriage, and relief, he
managed to make terms with the King, and all his enemies, espe-
cially with Sir Roderick Mackenzie of Coigeach, Tutor of Kintail,

* It will be observed that this is substantially the account of this skirmish given
by the author of Zke Conflicts of the Clans, who was a contemporary writer,
Curiously, his version falls to be published in #%is issue.
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and Macdonald of Sleat, with the latter of whom he ultimately
entered into a bond of friendship, as also with Macdonald of Clan-
ranald and Mackinnon of Strath.

Great preparations had been made at this time for an expedi-
tion against the Chiefs of the Isles. In 1608, proclamations were
issued summoning the Militia of the Shires of Dumbarton, Argyle,
Tarbert, Ayr, Renfrew, and Galloway, to join the Royal forces,
and to rendezvous at Islay on the first of June, where the forces
then engaged in Ireland, assisting those of the Queen of England,
were to meet them. Another proclamation was issued forbidding
any of the mainland Chiefs to render any assistance or give shelter
to any of the Islesmen, under the severest penalties. Extraordi-
nary precautions were taken, and everything seems to have been
done by the Privy Council to secure the success and facilitate the
execution of their enterprise against the Islanders. Andrew
Stewart, Lord Ochiltree, and Sir James Hay were sent to the
Isles, empowered to confer and come to terms with the Island
Chiefs. He met the principal among them at Maclean’s Castle
of Aros, in Mull. Roderick Macleod of Dunvegan, and his
brother, Alexander of Minginish, were present on the occasion,
and with the rest agreed to the following humiliating conditions :
—First, Security for His Majesty’s rents; Secondly, Obedience to
the laws by the Chiefs and all their followers; Thirdly, Delivery
by the Chiefs of all houses of defence, strongholds, and erannats,
to be placed at the King’s disposal; Fourthly, Renunciation by
the Chiefs of all jurisdictions which they claimed, heritably or
otherwise, and submission to the jurisdiction of Sheriffs, Bailies.
Justices, or other officers appointed by the Crown; Fifthly, That
they should be satisfied with such lands and posssssions, and under
such conditions as the King might appoint; Sixthly, That their
whole birlings, lymphads, and galleys should be destroyed, save
those required for carrying to the mainland His Majesty’s rents
paid in kind, and other necessary purposes; Seventhly, That they,
and such of their kinsmen as could afford it, should put their
children to school, under the directions of the Privy Council; and
Lastly, That they should abstain from using guns, bows, and two-
handed swords, and should confine themselves to single-handed

swords and targes.
(7o be continued.)
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YACHTING AND ELECTIONEERING IN THE
HEBRIDES.

T

ON the morning of Wednesday, gth September, we drove from
Lochboisdale to Polochar, accompanied by the Rev. Father Mac-
donald and Mr. Patrick M. Walker, leaving our yacht at the
former place to coal. The morning was very wet and boisterous,
so that we did not see the country between Dalibrog and Polochar
to advantage. This part of South Uist was formerly known as
Kilpheder, and the singular Island and causeway in a loch near Dali-
brog were pointed out by Father Macdonald, with other objects of in-
terest. Heisan enthusiast in all Island antiquities. The southern
part of South Uist, now called Kilbride, comprehends a number of
townships, occupied by a most industrious race ; yet, sad to say, the
best part of Kilbride is in the hands of one tacksman. Aswe drove
along, cultivation in the township lands was seen straggling up
the hill-sides, abruptly closed, however, by a cross-fence, cutting
off the heights, and three-fourths of the hill. All the grazings
above the cross-fence belong to the big farmers. In the year
1837, the worthy minister of the parish, Mr. Roderick Maclean,
wrote regarding these hills :—“The whole mountain-range is still
a common for pasturing the sheep of the small tenants in the
neighbouring farms, who, but for this indulgence on the part of
the proprietor, would, in their present state of poverty and desti-
tution, be wretchedly ill-provided with clothing.” What the
indulgence of Clanranald allowed, has long been withdrawn under
the Gordon sway. The extraordinary industry of the women,
who used to knit and spin their own wool, has not now in this
important respect an outlet, for little or no wool is got from the
few worried and half-starved sheep to be found on the limited
grounds of the crofters. The evils of an accumulation of lands in
the hands of one person—an absentee—is here seen in an acute
form. Formerly there were, besides Clanranald himself, cadets
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of his house at Boisdale and Bornish. Colin Macdonald of Bois-
dale built a handsome house at Kilbride, and I was told that the
fine drawing-room, thirty feet long, and of handsome proportions,
is now used as a kitchen by the servants of the tacksman! Every-
thing seems to be decaying under a withering administration.
Fishing on the inland lochs, which used to be tolerably open, is
now so circuamscribed that anglers do not frequent, in the same
number as formerly, the commodious Hotel at Lochboisdale.

At Polochar we took boat, manned by four hardy Islanders,
and soon arrived off Eriskay, where a short walk over the sandy
hillocks brought us to the school-house. Here a large assemblage,
headed by two pipers, had gathered to meet us. Our meeting
was conducted almost entirely in Gaelic, Mr Fraser-Mackintosh’s
Gaelic speech being highly appreciated by his auditors. There
were a number of women present, fresh-coloured and robust-
looking, who seemed to feel as keenly regarding the objects of the
meeting as the men, and whose figures, wrapped in bright tartan
shawls, enlivened the scene not a little. The men of Eriskay are,
as a rule, under the middle size, but seem a strong and healthy
race. They are chiefly engaged in the fishing industry. Whilst
among them, I managed to obtain, through the good offices of
Mr. Walker, a specimen of the now almost extinct e¢rusze, or old
Highland oil-lamp. Nearly every householder in Eriskay has one
or more pigs. It was strange to see this in the Hebrides, where
the pig has so long been considered an unclean animal. The
people in Eriskay number about 500, and the Island is greatly
overcrowded. This has arisen, not merely from natural increase,
but because numbers were driven from South Uist to Eriskay,
that their old possessions might form large farms. The Island of
Lingay has also been taken away to be added to an already exten-
sive tack.

After the meeting we proceeded, led by two pipers, and
followed a considerable part of the way by nearly the whole
population of the Island—men, women, and children—to the
historic spot where Prince Charles Edward first set foot on Scottish
soil. According to Klose, “On the 2nd of August, 1745, Charles
landed off the little Island of Erisca, one of the Hebrides, and
situated between Barra and South Uist, As they neared the
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shore, an eagle came hovering round the ship, and accompanied
her for some time in her course. This was taken for a favourable
omen by those on board. ‘Here,’ said Lord Tullibardine, turning
to his young master, ‘is the King of Birds come to welcome
your Royal Highness to Scotland.”” Upon landing, Prince
Charles planted the seeds of a convolvolus on the spot, in com-
memoration of the event. The seeds flourished well in the little
Western Island, and, at the time of our visit, 140 years after they
were sown by the Prince’s hands, the place was covered with the
creeping tendrils of the plant, which, we were told, flowered
luxuriantly in the months of July and August. Indeed, late as it
was, we could still see here and there a little purple blossom,
which, surviving longer than its mates, showed its tiny form
among the green bent-grass. The flower is not met with in its
wild state anywhere else in the Hebrides, The spot where the
plant grows, and where the Prince, according to tradition, landed,
is now surrounded with a stone wall, erected many years ago by
the Stewarts of Ensay, who claim descent from the Royal House
through the Stewarts of Garth.

Seated on a green bank, we listened to the old Jacobite airs
which the pipers played, and I pondered over the various incidents
of the brilliant but ill-fated expedition which had well-nigh restored
the British Crown to the exiled Stuarts. My mind naturally
reverted to that summer’s day langsyne, when the Prince, full of
youthful ardour and zeal, first, in this little Island, set foot in a
country fraught to him with much that was glorious, but in which,
after so many remarkable vicissitudes, unfortunately, less than a
year afterwards, he was a homeless fugitive, with a price of
£30,000 set upon his head, and hunted from one hiding-place to
another. Some of the people who had followed us to the historic
spot, now danced a reel, clapping their hands in time to the
music, in true Hebridean fashion, after which we bade farewell to
the interesting occupants of this historic Isle, and we were on the
point of starting for an inlet further on, where our yacht was to
pick us up, when we were informed that a worthy widow, who
occupied a cottage near at hand, was very anxious that we should
go into her house and have some butter-milk, an offer of which
we gladly availed ourselves. And here I may remark that the
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hospitality we met with everywhere was unbounded, and special
thanks are due to the schoolmasters for their trouble and kindness.
Many a time, it is feared, these gentlemen and their households
were put to much inconvenience. The various objects of interest
in the widow’s cottage were brought out for our inspection, includ-
ing the quern or hand-mill, which is yet to be found in many
houses in the Isles. I tasted some of the meal ground by it,
which was coarse, but palatable. We then started off again, only
to be stopped almost immediately by an old man, who, despite
our remonstrances, insisted upon our entering his cottage and
taking a drink of milk. Once more we set off, and after a long
walk over every description of ground—grassy, sandy, arable,
boggy, and marshy—and having been obliged several times to
take shelter behind a peat-stack, during such showers of rain as
are only met with in the Hebrides, we reached our destination, to
find that our vessel had not yet appeared.

At length the yacht steamed into the creek, and, after parting
with our good friends, Father Macdonald and Mr. Walker, we
went aboard, and steamed for Castlebay, Barra, where we cast
anchor late in the evening after a very stormy passage. The fluke
of our main-anchor had been snapped clean off during a heavy
squall on the previous Tuesday night in Lochboisdale, so that
we had to depend entirely upon quite a small one. We had
intended to go to the rocky Island of Mingalay next day, but,
after the storm we had experienced, the voyage, we were told,
could not be attempted with safety for days to come, in conse-
quence of the heavy swell resulting from the gale.

Kissimull Castle, an ancient stronghold of the MacNeills of
Barra, is a conspicuous object in Castlebay, to which it gives its
name. It stands upon a large rock, which, at high tide, is com-
pletely covered by water. The Castle is said to be about seven
hundred years old, and, when Martin visited it nearly two hundred
years ago, he found guards posted upon the walls, on the look-
out for any foes who might appear. In the evidence taken before
the Royal Commission, Dr. Macgillivray, of Eoligary, gave some
interesting particulars as to this Castle and the family of MacNeill,
its occupants for centuries. Interrogated by Mr. Fraser-Mackin-
tosh, he stated that the MacNeill family lived at Eoligary for some
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time after they left the Castle, and that he was intimate with
them, and with General MacNeill; that the MacNeills left the
Castle of Kissimull five or six generations ago, and that herecollected
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